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FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS:

Kroger achieved another outstanding year dbpmance for shareholders in 2013.

We are a company with many strengths, among them:

e Strong and consistent returns to shareholders,
e An aggressive strategic plan that delivers religipevth and financial performance, and

e Deeply loyal customers who are the basis for oaatfrand growing market share.

Our Company’s most enduring strength is our peepleur more than 375,000 associatasho strive to make every customeday a littl
better each time they visit one of our stores.

Our foundational approach is called Customét .1t simply means that the needs and wants of astomers are at the heart of e\

decision we make—in our stores, plants, offices), fagilities. It is our associates who bring CustorhStto life. From product and technolc
innovation to improvements in the shopping expaggrwe are inspired by the ever-changing needswamds of customer€ur greatesi
strategic advantage is our Customer % culture .

We are proud to be both large and small. As onthefworld’s largest retailers, we leverage economies of doaleays that make
difference for our customers in their daily livésr example, we implemented an innovative, fadteckout approach that sauweinutes fo
each customer every time they shop. We also leeeoag size to offer great value on everyday itents @eekly specials, and then provic
personalized mobile app—one of the most popul#nanh crowded space—that highlights the deals tlatimeach shopper’s list.

In this letter, | will provide more detail behindiooutstanding results in 2013 and explain thesbaisour firm conviction thathere is muck
more to comefor shareholders, associates and customers.

Fiscal 2013 Results — Delivering Growth That Investrs Can Count On

At our October 2012 investor meeting, we annouraggressive growth planghat expand our CustomersiStrategy by accelerati
growth in our core business and improving our cotine with all customers, expanding our presenca#iew and existing markets, ¢
investing to create unique competitive positionfog today and the future. As a result, we expecadthieve a long-term, net-earnings-pel
diluted-share growth rate of 8-11% and an increpdigidend over time.

We committed to foukey performance indicatorsto measure our progress at that meeting as well:

e Positive identical supermarket sales;
e Slightly expanding FIFO operating margin on a rglfour quarters basis, excluding fuel;
e Improving return on invested capital; and

e Growing market share.

In 2013, the first full fiscal year executing oiggeessive growth plan, Kroger delivered on all fondicators. We achieved an unparallt
41 Stconsecutive quarter of positive identical superretigales; expanded FIFO operating margin on angpflbur quarters and adjusted be
excluding fuel; improved return on invested capiéalen as we increased capital investments; and gnarket share for the ninth consecu
year.

Kroger's consistent and reliable performancedelivers long-terngrowth investors can count on. And 2013 was another year of ste
growth. Total sales were $98.4 billion in fiscall3) an increase of 3.9% after adjusting for thé%58eek in fiscal 2012. Net earnings w
$1.52 billion, or $2.90 per diluted share. On ajusiegd basis, net earnings grew 13 percent ovey&s’s adjusted amount. We continut
lower Kroger’s costs of doing business — achiewingninth consecutive year of reducing operatinge@ses as a rate of saleand to reinve:
these savings in lower prices for our customers.




We are using free cash flow to reward shareholders§ince January 2000, Kroger has returned nearlyb#ilion to shareholders throu
share repurchases. Since 2006, Kroger has paidy/ r$4a® billion in dividends to shareholders, whil&intaining our investmermrade cred
rating. In 2013, we increased our annual dividesrdlie seventh consecutive year and returned rhare$928 million to shareholders thro
dividends and stock buybacks. If you had invest&80$in Kroger stock on January 31, 2000, and reiteek all dividends issued, yt
investment would have been worth $235 on Januar2@14, and Kroges' Total Shareholder Return in that same perio@%8P6. In Marc
2014, Krogers Board of Directors approved a $1 billion sharpurehase program, underscoring our commitment tivetecash t
shareholders.

Welcoming Harris Teeter to the Kroger family

One of our platforms for growth is expanding inteanmarkets. We are proud and excitedMarmly welcome Harris Teeter to the
Kroger family of stores . We completed our merger in January 2014 and riateg is well underway. This exceptional 54-yed-regiona
chain receives very high marks from their custonfierservice, selection, metitne solutions, and freshness. The 230 Harris Testoees ar
located in the highly attractive mid-Atlantic matkeand expand Kroges'national footprint. We have long respected theriblaleete
management team and their operations, and we twekafd to bringing the best of Harris Teeter anddér to our customers and shareholders

Deeply loyal customers, creating strong market shar

We have the privilege of servirgight million customers each day Every one of them has unique interests and cdamesr stores wit
the belief we will both meet their needs — theatéa, budget, and lifestyleand delight them with the unexpected.

We continue to create innovative ways that allowwauknow our customers better than anyone elsea@pérsonalize their experience v

us. We've been mining “big data” for a long timéways with the single focus on Customef!% bringing to each customer what is n
relevant to them.

We have invested in price every year for ten coumbee years, saving our customers more than $bilinnually in the process.

We have rewarded customers with fuel savings thraug popular fuel rewards program at more thad@ @nvenient supermarket f
center locations in 2013. And, customers with agéroRewards Visa credit card earned more than $Bi8mrin free groceries last year.

We have partnered with customers to support thenmamity organizations they care about most, retgr$d6 million annually to loc
organizations that customers select through ourr@onity Rewards program.

Our approach has resulted in growing both markateshnd share of loyalty.
And we are not done!

Customer 1Stinnovation is giving us new and varied ways of connecting waitidl deepening our relationship with our customafes.ar
growing our digital offering to deliver value torocustomers through the communication channels pnefer, and customers are respondin
fact, our customers have downloaded more thanlidrbilligital coupons since we began offering thenaie 2009.

We are innovating up and down our supply chainhed Kroger milk stays fresher, longer in customeedtigerators. Through proce
improvements, our dairy suppliers, milk plants,istigs operation, and stores worked together so \feacan promise our customers
Kroger's milk is among the freshest in the industry.

And we continue to build owest-in-class Corporate Brands portfolioby providing choices to our customers through atintigr offering
of price points and product experiences. We expé@tiple Truthand Simple Truth Organi¢o join our premium tierPrivate Selection as i
“Billion Dollar Brand” by the end of fiscal 2014 as those brands are asargly sought by shoppers focused on natural aganic foods. Ot
Banner Brandcontinues to provide great quality with a wide hithaof products, and owalue brand offers customers the choice of qu
products that are priced to fit their budget.




The Kroger Difference

Kroger’s culture and deepigoted values are also reflected in how we servefriends and neighbors in local communities, aod lwe
take care of each other.

We strive to be connected to and responsive téotted communities we serve by:

e Delivering the equivalent ahore than 200 million mealsto more than 100 local Feeding America food bank&0i13.

e Engaging vendors and customers to donatee than $6 million in 2013 in support of women’sealth and breast cancer awarene
programs .

e Contributing$3.3 million to the USOin 2013 to help support the military and their fhes. Since2010, Kroger has donated $
million to the USO — théargest cumulative gift to the USQin that organization’s history.

e Hiring more than 22,456 veterans since 200%nd helping the “100,000 Jobs Mission” — a camalibf more than 130 companies w
the common goal of hiring more than 100,000 tréosithg service members and military veterans by02028urpass its original goal
January, seven years early.

e Supporting more thaB0,000 schools and local organizationgith $46 million in 2013 througlour Community Rewards program t
delivers personalized, customer-driven donatiorsetd@n total purchases.

e Contributing an additional $9.1 million to localgamizations in 2013 through The Kroger Co. Foumdatin the past five years, ¢
foundation has donated nearly $40 million.

Let's remember that we make these investments becauwseustomers tell us these causes are importatiteim, and because tt
strengthen the communities we call home. When yoohine the cash, food and product we donate taiatyaf causes and progrankgoger
contributed more than $250 million to our local conmunities in 2013.

We also make a difference in the lives of our asdes, customers and communities through our comenits to safety, sustainabil
supplier diversity and job growth.

Kroger isone of the safest companies in our industry Associate engagement in innovative safety prograhas reduced accident rate
our stores and manufacturing plants by 77 perdecesl995. In 2013, 831 retail locations, three ufiacturing plants, and three distribut
centers went the entire year without a recordatxdteant.

One of Kroger's key sustainability priorities is wiiag our retail stores and facilities toward “zavaste”.Our stores are sending less w
to landfills and incinerators through a varietyeffiorts, including composting and our innovatRerishable Donations Program-a process |
rescue safe, edible fresh products and donate djugckly to local food banks. This system has beglicated by other retailers and today fi
products make up more than half of the food disted nationwide by Feeding America. Our manufantufacilities continue to lead wa
reduction. Today26 of our 38 manufacturing plants are designated dzero waste” facilities .

You can learn more about our sustainability inikie$ by reading our annual sustainability reponailable on our websi
sustainability.kroger.com.

Kroger is aleader in supplier diversity , spending nearly $2 billion annually with womemdaminority-owned businesses. We prot
remain a member of the Billion Dollar Roundtabl& &ne United States Hispanic Chamber of CommerdkokRliDollar Club.

Kroger isdoing our part to create jobs and opportunity. We employ 7,000 more associates today than wdadtdyear, and nearly
percent of those new jobs are in our supermarkésidns. Over the last six years, Kroger has crbatere than 40,000 new jobs in the I
communities we serve.




Leadership

We believe we have one of the strongest manageteamis in the retail industry. For ten years our Gany has been led by Dave Dill
who has been called “the grocers’ grocer.” Davkhowledge of the business, passion for custorards associates, and principled
disciplined approach to running a wordthss company has rewarded shareholders, assoaastsmers, and communities. We thank hin
the strong foundation he built and that we areimespto continue to expand. Dave often refers tailiag as a team sport. Every great te
including ours, needs a great coach and leadenkiyau, Dave, for ten remarkable years as ChairamahCEO.

In Memoriam and Retirements

We were saddened by the loss of our friend anceaglle, Jon C. Flora, who passed away unexpectedBeptember 2013. He v
president of Fry’s Food Stores in Arizona. Jon wa&®mpassionate and hands-on leader. We all missléeply.

We extend our appreciation to John LaMacchia, vetioad from Krogeis Board of Directors in December 2013 after 24 yeéiservice; t
Paul Heldman, executive vice president, secretad/ general counsel, who retires in May after 32ryed service; and to Robert “Pete”
Williams, senior vice president, who retires in Maffer 37 years with the Company. On behalf of entire Company, we thank each of tt
individuals for their service and leadership.

Bright Future — More to Come

Kroger's future is bright. We are differentiating our Camp in the crowded field of retailers in ways thedd to sustainable, relial
growth. And there is a lot more to come for shalééis, associates and customers.

On behalf of the entire Kroger family, we thank yfouyour continued support and trust.

" 257 s
Fobh i Vel

W. Rodney McMuller
Chief Executive Office




Congratulations to the winners of The Kroger Community Service Award for 2013:

2013 Community Service Award Winners

Division Recipient

Central Sherry Miller

City Market Adilia Asplund

Delta Dianne Scallions

Food 4 Less Marisa Roberts

Fry's Bryan Seppala

King Soopers Linda Hutsell

Michigan Rachel Mason

Nashville Bryson Higgins

Ralphs Michael Vu

Southwest Aaron Calvert / Phillip Ingram

KB Specialty Foods Laurie Foster

Rita Akers
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NoTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Cincinnati, Ohio, May 14, 20:

To All Shareholders of The Kroger Co.:

You are invited to our annual meeting of sharehslddg The Kroger Co. which will be held at the MICSHALL BALLROOM, MUSIC
HALL, 1241 Elm Street, Cincinnati, Ohio 45202, amé 26, 2014, at 11 a.m., eastern time, for tHeviahg purposes:

1.

2.

To elect thirteen directors for the ensuing y:

To consider and act upon a proposal to approv2@hd Lon-Term Incentive and Cash Bonus Pl

To consider and act upon an advisory vote to appexecutive compensatic

To consider and act upon a proposal to ratify #lection of independent registered public accousttor the year 201«
To act upon two shareholder proposals, if proppergsented at the annual meeting;

To transact such other business as may propeilycagght before the meetin

Holders of common shares of record at the clodmsiness on April 29, 2014, will be entitled toinetof and to vote at the meeting.

ATTENDANCE

Only shareholders and persons holding proxies sbhareholders may attend the meetifigou are attending the meeting, please brin
the notice of the meeting that was separately madeto you or the top portion of your proxy card, eiter of which will serve as you
admission ticket.

YOUR MANAGEMENT DESIRES TO HAVE A LARGE NUMBER OF ISAREHOLDERS REPRESENTED AT THE MEETING,
PERSON OR BY PROXY. PLEASE VOTE YOUR PROXY ELECTR@MLLY VIA THE INTERNET OR BY TELEPHONE. IF YOU
HAVE ELECTED TO RECEIVE PRINTED MATERIALS, YOU MAYSIGN AND DATE THE PROXY AND MAIL IT IN THE SELF-
ADDRESSED ENVELOPE PROVIDED. NO POSTAGE IS REQUIREBMAILED WITHIN THE UNITED STATES.

If you are unable to attend the annual meeting,ijay listen to a live webcast of the meeting, whidlh be accessible through our webs
ir.kroger.com, at 11 a.m., eastern time.

By order of the Board of Directo
Paul W. Heldman, Secreta




PROXY STATEMENT
Cincinnati, Ohio, May 14, 20:

This Combined Notice, Proxy Statement and AnnugddReis being furnished to the shareholders of Khager Co. in connection with t
solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directos fuse at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders thddd on June 26, 2014, at 11 a.m., ea
time, at the MUSIC HALL BALLROOM, MUSIC HALL, 124EIm Street, Cincinnati, Ohio 45202 and at any adjments thereof.

The principal executive offices of The Kroger Cee éocated at 1014 Vine Street, Cincinnati, Ohi@@%1100. Our telephone numbe
513-762-4000. This Proxy Statement and Annual Repad the accompanying proxy, were first furnistedhareholders on May 14, 2014.

Your proxy is solicited by the Board of DirectorsTdhe Kroger Co., and the cost of solicitation viié borne by Kroger. We will reimbui
banks, brokers, nominees, and other fiduciariepéstage and reasonable expenses incurred by théamwarding the proxy material to th
principals. Kroger has retained D.F. King & Co.¢.In48 Wall Street, New York, New York, to assisthe solicitation of proxies and will p
that firm a fee estimated at present not to exd&g000. Proxies may be solicited personally, spteone, electronically via the Internet, ol
mail.

Robert D. Beyer, W. Rodney McMullen, and RonaldShargent, all of whom are Kroger directors, havenbemed members of the Pr
Committee.

As of the close of business on April 29, 2014, réeord date, our outstanding voting securities isted of 509,553,233 common shares
holders of which will be entitled to one vote péiage at the annual meeting. The shares represbyptedch proxy will be voted unless
proxy is revoked before it is exercised. Revocatimy be in writing to Kroges Secretary, or in person at the meeting, or byiappent of
subsequent proxy. Shareholders may not cumulatsotthe election of directors.

If you hold shares in street name and do not pmyilr broker with specific voting instructions proposals 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6, your br¢
does not have the authority to vote on those prlpo3his is generally referred to as a “broker-wote.” Proposal 4 is considered a rou
matter and, therefore, your broker may vote yoare$ according to your broksrdiscretion. The vote required, including the effef broke
non-votes and abstentions for each of the mattesepted for shareholder vote, is set forth below.

Item No. 1, Election of Directors— An affirmative vote of the majority of the totalimber of votes cast “for” or “agains# directo
nominee is required for the election of a diredtoan uncontested election. Accordingly, broker-wotes and abstentions will have no ef
on this proposal. A majority of votes cast meara the number of shares voted “fa”director nominee must exceed the number of
“against” such director.

Iltem No. 2, Approval of 2014 Long-Term Incentive ad Cash Bonus Plan -Approval by shareholders of the Plan requires
affirmative vote of the majority of shares entittedvote on the matter. Accordingly, broker naotes and abstentions will have no effect on
proposal.

Iltem No. 3, Advisory Vote to Approve Executive Compnsation— Approval by shareholders of executive compensatémuires th
affirmative vote of the majority of shares entittedvote on the matter. Accordingly, broker naotes and abstentions will have no effect on
proposal.

Item No. 4, Selection of Auditors- Ratification by shareholders of the selection afeipendent public accountants requires the affine
vote of the majority of shares entitled to votetlom matter. Accordingly, abstentions will have ffieet on this proposal.

Iltem Nos. 5 and 6, Shareholder Proposals The affirmative vote of a majority of shares papiting in the voting on a sharehol
proposal is required for its adoption. Proxies Ww#l voted AGAINST these proposals unless the P@omymittee is otherwise instructed c
proxy properly executed and returned. Broker nores@nd abstentions will have no effect on theepgsals.
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Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Shareholder Meeting to be Helcbn June 26, 2014.

Under the rules adopted by the SEC, we are furmisproxy materials to our shareholders primarilytiom Internet. We believe that t
process should expedite shareholdezskipt of proxy materials, lower the cost of onnaal meeting and help to conserve natural reseu@x
or about May 14, 2014, we mailed to each of ouredt@ders (other than those who previously reqdestectronic or paper delivery), a Nof
of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials containg instructions on how to access and review thexypmaterials on the Internet ¢
instructions on how to vote your shares. The Notiténternet Availability of Proxy Materials alsmiatains instructions on how to receiv
paper or enail copy of the proxy materials. If you receivéNatice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materialgou will not receive a printe
copy of the proxy materials unless you request tfngou receive paper copies of our proxy materigitsu may also view these material
http://www.proxyvote.com. If you receive paper apiof our proxy materials and wish to receive thgnelectronic delivery in the futu
please request electronic delivery at http://wwaxgrote.com.




PROPOSALS TO SHAREHOLDERS

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
(ITem No. 1)

The Board of Directors, as now authorized, congithirteen members. All members are to be eleatettie annual meeting to serve L
the annual meeting in 2015, or until their success@ve been elected by the shareholders or biadhed of Directors pursuant to Kroger’
Regulations, and qualified. KrogserArticles of Incorporation provide that the voéguired for election of a director by the sharebdexcej
in a contested election or when cumulative votisdni effect, will be the affirmative vote of a mejg of the votes cast for or against
election of a nominee.

The experience, qualifications, attributes, andiskhat led the Corporate Governance Committee thedBoard to conclude that
following individuals should serve as directors se¢ forth opposite each individushame. The committee memberships stated belotih@se
in effect as of the date of this proxy statemeris intended that, except to the extent that aitihis withheld, proxies by the Proxy Commit
will be voted for the election of the following ens:

Professional Director

Name Occupation (1) Age Since

NOMINEES FOR DIRECTOR FOR TERMS OF OFFICE
CoNTINUING UNTIL 2015

Reuben V. Andersor Mr. Anderson is a Senior Partner in the Jacksorssisippi office of Phelps Dunbar 71 1991
regional law firm based in New Orleans. Prior tmijog this law firm, he was a justice of -
Supreme Court of Mississippi. Mr. Anderson is cotieserving as the lead director of AT
Inc., and during the past five years was a direatdrrustmark Corporation. He is a membe
the Corporate Governance and Public Responsikil@iemmittees.

Mr. Anderson has extensive litigation experience] he served as the first Africémericar
Justice on the Mississippi Supreme Court. His keolge and judgment gained through y
of legal practice are of great value to the Boémdaddition, as former Chairman of the Bc
of Trustees of Tougaloo College and a resident efsidsippi, he brings to the Board
insights into the AfricarAmerican community and the southern region of thetédl State:
Mr. Anderson has served on numerous board commjtieeluding audit, public polic
finance, executive, and nominating committees.
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Name

Professional

Occupation (1)

Age

Director

Since

Robert D. Beyer

David B. Dillon

Mr. Beyer is Chairman of Chaparal Investments LiaQprivate investment firm and hold|
company that he founded in 2009. From 2005 to 2609,Beyer served as Chief Execul
Officer of The TCW Group, Inc., a global investmeminagement firm. From 2000 to 2005
served as President and Chief Investment Officéfraét Company of the West, the princ
operating subsidiary of TCW. Mr. Beyer is a membfkthe Board of Directors of The Allst:
Corporation and Leucadia National Corporation. echair of the Corporate Governa
Committee, a member of the Financial Policy Coneeitand our Lead Director.

Mr. Beyer brings to Kroger his experience as CEQ GV, a global investment managen
firm serving many of the largest institutional isters in the U.S. He has exceptional ins
into Krogers financial strategy, and his experience qualifies to serve as a member of
Financial Policy Committee. While at TCW, he alsmceived and developed the fignrisk
management infrastructure, an experience thatetult the Kroger Board in performing
risk management oversight functions. His abilit@sl service as a director were recognize
his peers, who selected Mr. Beyer as an Outstaridiirggctor in 2008 as part of the Outstanc
Directors Program of the Financial Times. His stramsights into corporate governance f
the foundation of his leadership role as Lead Dineon the Board.

Mr. Dillon was elected Chief Executive Officer i@ and Chairman of the Board of Kra
in 2004. Mr. Dillon retired as Chief Executive Q@fr at the end of calendar year 2013 anc
continue to serve as Chairman of the Board unél éhd of calendar year 2014. Mr. DIl
served as President and Chief Operating Offic&0i@0, as President in 1999, and as Pres
and Chief Operating Officer from 1995 to 1999. Nbillon was elected Executive Vi
President of Kroger in 1990 and President of Diltmmpanies, Inc. in 1986. He is a directc
DIRECTV and Union Pacific Corporation, and durirte tpast five years was a directol
Convergys Corporation.

Mr. Dillon brings to Kroger his extensive knowledgkthe supermarket business, having
38 years of experience with Kroger and Dillon Comipa. In addition to his depth
knowledge of Kroger and the fiercely competitivelustry in which Kroger operates, he
gained a wealth of experience by serving on awimpensation, finance, and governs
committees of other boards.

10

54

63

1999

1995



Name

Professional

Occupation (1)

Age

Director

Since

Susan J. Kropf

David B. Lewis

Ms. Kropf was President and Chief Operating OffioerAvon Products Inc., a manufactt
and marketer of beauty care products, from 2001 bet retirement in January 2007. !
joined Avon in 1970. Prior to her most recent assignt, Ms. Kropf had been Executive \
President and Chief Operating Officer, Avon Nortmérica and Global Business Operat
from 1998 to 2000. From 1997 to 1998 she was PeasidAvon U.S. Ms. Kropf was a mem
of Avon’s Board of Directors from 1998 to 2006. She cutyeista member of the Board
Directors of Coach, Inc., MeadWestvaco Corporatang Sherwin Williams Company. Shi
a member of the Audit and Financial Policy Comneitte

Ms. Kropf has gained a unique consumer insightjritgaked a major beauty care company.
has extensive experience in manufacturing, margetsupply chain operations, custol
service, and product development, all of whichsidsér in her role as a member of Krog
Board. Ms. Kropf has a strong financial backgroumadd has served on compensation, &
and corporate governance committees of other bo&hbe was inducted into the YW
Academy of Women Achievers.

Mr. Lewis is a shareholder and director of LewisMunday, a Detroit based law firm w
offices in Washington, D.C. and New York City. He a director of H&R Block, Inc. ai
STERIS Corporation. He is a member of the Finane@icy Committee and vice chair of
Public Responsibilities Committee.

In addition to his background as a practicing agrand expertise in bond financing,
Lewis brings to Kroges Board his financial expertise gained while eagniis MBA in
Finance as well as his service and leadership amgéfis audit committee and the bo
committees of other publicly traded companies. Mwis has served on the Board of Direc
of Conrail, Inc., LG&E Energy Corp., M.A. Hanna, YR Inc., and Comerica, Inc. He i
former chairman of the National Association of Sé@®s Professionals.
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Name

Professional

Occupation (1)

Age

Director

Since

W. Rodney McMullen

Jorge P. Montoya

Clyde R. Moore

Mr. McMullen was elected Chief Executive Officer Kfoger in January 2014. Prior to ti
he served as President and Chief Operating Offimen August 2009 to December 20
Prior to that, Mr. McMullen was elected Vice Chaamin 2003, Executive Vice Presiden
1999, and Senior Vice President in 1997. Mr. McMnlis a director of Cincinnati Financ
Corporation.

Mr. McMullen has broad experience in the supermaligsiness, having spent his ca
spanning over 35 years with Kroger. He has a stforapcial background, having servec
our CFO, and played a major role as architect afg€r's strategic plan. His service on
compensation, executive, and investment commitie€incinnati Financial Corporation ac
depth to his extensive retail experience.

Mr. Montoya was President of The Procter & GambtenPanys Global Snacks & Bevera
division, and President of Procter & Gamble Latimeica, from 1999 until his retirement
2004. Prior to that, he was an Executive Vice Bedi of Procter & Gamble, a provider
branded consumer packaged goods, from 1995 to MOMontoya is a director of The Gi
Inc. He is chair of the Public Responsibilities Goittee and a member of the Compens:
Committee.

Mr. Montoya brings to Kroges' Board over 30 years of leadership experience @aemie
consumer products company. He has a deep knowlefdltfee Hispanic market, as well
consumer products and retail operations. Mr. Moatbgs vast experience in marketing
general management, including international businé®e was named among the 50 r
important Hispanics in Business & Technology, ltispanic Engineer & Informatic
Technology Magazine

Mr. Moore is the Chairman and Chief Executive Gifiof First Service Networks, a natia
provider of facility and maintenance repair sersidde is a director of First Service Netwo
Mr. Moore is chair of the Compensation Committeed am member of the Corpor.
Governance Committee.

Mr. Moore has over 25 years of general managemgpérgence in public and prive
companies. He has sound experience as a corpeseaterloverseeing all aspects of a facil
management firm and a manufacturing concern. Mrofd's expertise broadens the scop
the Board’s experience to provide oversight to erg facilities and manufacturi
businesses.
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Name

Professional

Occupation (1)

Age

Director

Since

Susan M. Phillips

Steven R. Rogel

James A. Runde

Dr. Phillips is Professor Emeritus of Finance aeTBeorge Washington University Schoc
Business. She joined that university as a ProfemsdiDean in 1998. She retired as Dean ¢
School of Business as of June 30, 2010, and as$3mf the following year. She was a mer
of the Board of Governors of the Federal Resen&e®y from December 1991 through J
1998. Before her Federal Reserve appointment, Billif® served as Vice President
Finance and University Services and Professor ofarte in The College of Busin
Administration at the University of lowa from 198irough 1991. She is a director of CB
Holdings, Inc., State Farm Mutual Automobile Inswwa Company, State Farm Life Insure
Company, State Farm Companies Foundation, Natfeutalres Association, the Chicago Bc
Options Exchange, and Agnes Scott College. Dr.liphikalso was a trustee of the Finar
Accounting Foundation until the end of 2010. Sha member of the Audit and Compenss
Committees.

Dr. Phillips brings to the Board strong financiauenen, along with a deep understandin
and involvement with, the relationship between oecaions and the government. |
experience in academia brings a unique and diweesepoint to the deliberations of the Bos
Dr. Phillips has been designated an Audit Commiitencial expert.

Mr. Rogel was elected Chairman of the Board of Wegeuser Company, a forest prod
company, in 1999 and was President and Chief Exec@fficer and a director thereof frc
December 1997 to January 1, 2008 when he relingdisiie role of President. He relinquis
the CEO role in April of 2008 and retired as Chainras of April 2009. Before that time |
Rogel was Chief Executive Officer, President andiractor of Willamette Industries, Inc.
served as Chief Operating Officer of Willamette ustties, Inc. until October 1995 and, be
that time, as an executive and group vice presiftantnore than five years. Mr. Rogel i
director of Union Pacific Corporation and during thast five years was a director and |
executive Chairman of the Board of EnergySolutidns, He is a member of the Corpol
Governance and Financial Policy Committees.

Mr. Rogel has extensive experience in managemeat@é corporations at all levels. He bri
to the Board a unique perspective, having led emnalt supplier of paper products prior to
retirement. Mr. Rogel previously served as Krogetead Director, and has served
compensation, finance, audit, and governance caeesipf other corporations.

Mr. Runde is a special advisor and a former Vicai®han of Morgan Stanley, a financ
services provider, where he has been employed 4i®¢4. He was a member of the Boar
Directors of Burlington Resources Inc. prior to asquisition by ConocoPhillips in 2006. |
Runde serves as a Trustee Emeritus of Marquetteelsily and the Pierpont Morgan Libre
He is a member of the Compensation Committee aait ohthe Financial Policy Committee

Mr. Runde brings to Kroges’Board a strong financial background, having ledagor financie
services provider. He has served on the compemnsatimmittee of a major corporation.
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Professional Director

Name Occupation (1) Age Since

Ronald L. Sargent  Mr. Sargent is Chairman and Chief Executive OfficérStaples, Inc., a consumer prod 58 2006
retailer, where he has been employed since 198%. trjoining Staples, Mr. Sargent spen
years with Kroger in various positions. In addititm serving as a director of Staples,
Sargent is a director of Five Below, Inc. During thast five years, he was a director of Me
Inc. and The Home Depot, Inc. Mr. Sargent is cbéithe Audit Committee and a membe
the Public Responsibilities Committee.

Mr. Sargent has over 30 years of retail experieficst, with Kroger and then with increas
levels of responsibility and leadership at Staplies, His efforts helped carve out a new me
niche for the international retailer that he lead$s understanding of retail operations
consumer insights are of particular value to thelo Mr. Sargent has been designate
Audit Committee financial expert.

Bobby S. Shackoul Until the merger of Burlington Resources Inc. areh@coPhillips, which became effective 63 1999
2006, Mr. Shackouls was Chairman of the Board ofliBgton Resources Inc., a natt
resources business, since July 1997 and its Prdsated Chief Executive Officer sir
December 1995. He had been a director of that coynpece 1995 and President and C
Executive Officer of Burlington Resources Oil andasGCompany (formerly known
Meridian Oil Inc.), a whollyewned subsidiary of Burlington Resources, since4194r.
Shackouls is a director of Plains GP Holdings, laRd Oasis Petroleum Inc. During the
five years, Mr. Shackouls was a director of Condullips and PNGS GP LLC, the gene
partner of PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. Mr. Shatkds a member of the Audit 8
Corporate Governance Committees. Mr. Shackouls iquely served as Kroges’ Leac
Director.

Mr. Shackouls brings to the Board the critical King that comes with a chemical enginee
background, as well as his experience leading ammatural resources company, coupled
his corporate governance expertise.

(1) Except as noted, each of the directors has beetogetpby his or her present employer (or a subsijlim an executive capacity for
least five years
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INFORMATION CONCERNING THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

The Board of Directors has a number of standingmitees including Audit, Compensation and Corpor@te/ernance. All standil
committees are composed exclusively of independieettors. All Board committees have charters ti@at be found on our corporate wek
at ir.kroger.com unddBuidelines on Issues of Corporate Governance

The table below provides the current membershipuofindependent directors on each of the standingnaittees of our Board of Directo

Corporate Financial Public
Audit Compensatior Governance Policy Responsibilities
Name Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee

Reuben V. Anderson X X
Robert D. Beyer Chair X
Susan J. Kropf X
David B. Lewis X X
Jorge P. Montoya X Chair
Clyde R. Moore Chair X
Susan M. Phillips X X
Steven R. Rogel X X
James A. Runde X Chair
Ronald L. Sargent Chair X
Bobby S. Shackouls X X

During 2013, the Audit Committee met five timese thompensation Committee met four times, and thgp@ate Governance Commit
met two times. The Audit Committee reviews finahegporting and accounting matters pursuant tcchtarter and selects our indepen:
accountants. The Compensation Committee recomnfendietermination by the independent members ofBnard the compensation of
Chief Executive Officer, determines the compensatibKrogers other senior management, and administers sornardhcentive program
Additional information on the Compensation Comnaiseprocesses and procedures for consideration aiéxe compensation are addres
in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis beldthie Corporate Governance Committee develops aitleni selecting and retaini
members of the Board, seeks out qualified candidfde the Board, and reviews the performance ofBbard and, along with the otl
independent board members, the CEO.

DIRECTOR NOMINATIONS

The Corporate Governance Committee will consideretiolder recommendations for nominees for memigeshthe Board of Directol
If shareholders wish to nominate a person or pargonelection to the Board of Directors at our 2@hnual meeting, written notice mus
submitted to the Compars/'Secretary, and received at our executive offiegslater than January 14, 2015. Such notice shimaldde th
name, age, business address and residence adtisesh @erson, the principal occupation or emplaynoé such person, the number of sh
of the Company owned of record or beneficially lngts person, and any other information relatingh® person that would be required tc
included in a proxy statement relating to the ébecof directors. The Secretary will forward thdommation to the Corporate Governa
Committee for its consideration. The Committee wile the same criteria in evaluating candidatesnitdd by shareholders as it use
evaluating candidates identified by the Commitigeese criteria are:

e Demonstrated ability in fields considered to bevalfie in the deliberations of the Board, includingsiness management, public sen
education, science, law, and government;

e Highest standards of personal character and conduct
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e Willingness to fulfill the obligations of directoend to make the contribution of which he or sheaisablejncluding regular attendan
and participation at Board and committee meetings, preparation for atheetings, including review of all meeting materiptevidec
in advance of the meeting; and

e Ability to understand the perspectives of Krogetstomers, taking into consideration the diversitpur customers, including regio
and geographic differences.

Racial, ethnic, and gender diversity is an impdrielement in promoting full, open, and balancedbaehtions of issues presented to
Board, and is considered by the Corporate Govem&ummmittee. Some consideration also is given ¢éogkographic location of direc
candidates in order to provide a reasonable digtab of members from the operating areas of the@my.

The Corporate Governance Committee typically résrcandidates for Board membership through its efforts and through suggestic
from other directors and shareholders. The Comeitte occasion has retained an outside search dirasgist in identifying and recruiti
Board candidates who meet the criteria establifiyettie Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors has adopt@didelines on Issues of Corporate GovernantaeseGuidelines, which include copies of the curr
charters for the Audit, Compensation, and CorpoGdegernance Committees, and the other committeésedBoard of Directors, are availa
on our corporate website at ir.kroger.com. Shaddrsl may obtain a copy of ti&uidelinesby making a written request to KrogerSecretal
at our executive offices.

I NDEPENDENCE

The Board of Directors has determined that alllaf tirectors, with the exception of Messrs. Dillamd McMullen, have no mater
relationships with Kroger and, therefore, are iratetent for purposes of the New York Stock Exchdisgeg standards. The Board made
determination based on information furnished bynaimbers regarding their relationships with Kroged its management, and other rele
information. After reviewing the information, theo8rd determined that all of the nemployee directors were independent because §)ah
satisfied the independence standards set forthuie ROA3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, (ii) thay satisfied the criteria f
independence set forth in Rule 303A.02 of the NesvkYStock Exchange Listed Company Manual, (iii) dusiness transactions betw
Kroger and entities with which the directors aréliated, the value of which falls below the thretis identified by the New York Sto
Exchange listing standards, and (iv) none had aatenal relationships with us except for thoseiagidirectly from their performance
services as a director for Kroger.

AUDIT COMMITTEE EXPERTISE

The Board of Directors has determined that Susa®hillips and Ronald L. Sargent, independent dinesctvho are members of the At
Committee, are “audit committee financial expeds”defined by applicable SEC regulations and thamembers of the Audit Committee
“financially literate” as that term is used in tR& SE listing standards.

CoDE OF ETHICS

The Board of Directors has adoptéle Kroger Co. Policy on Business Ethjapplicable to all officers, employees and memloérthe
Board of Directors, including Kroger’s principaleputive, financial, and accounting officers. Teaicy is available on our corporate websit
ir.kroger.com. Shareholders may obtain a copy effhblicy by making a written request to KrogerSecretary at our executive offices.
intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement reiggrdny amendment to, or a waiver from, a provigibthe Policy for our principal executiv
financial and accounting officers by posting thdbrmation on our website at ir.kroger.com.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE BOARD

The Board has established two separate mechan@mbdreholders and interested parties to commignigith the Board. Any shareholt
or interested party who has concerns regardinguatitwy, improper use of Kroger assets, or ethivgdroprieties may report these concern:
the toll-free hotline (800-689-4609) or email adwrghelpline@kroger.com) established by the Baakdidit Committee. The concerns
investigated by Kroges' Vice President of Auditing and reported to thedhilCommittee as deemed appropriate by the Vicei@eat o
Auditing.

Shareholders or interested parties also may conuatmivith the Board in writing directed to KrogeSecretary at our executive offic
The Secretary will consider the nature of the comication and determine whether to forward the comication to the chair of the Corpor
Governance Committee. Communications relating tegranel issues or our ordinary business operatmrseeking to do business with us,
be forwarded to the business unit of Kroger that$lecretary deems appropriate. All other commuinicatwill be forwarded to the chair of 1
Corporate Governance Committee for further consiiten. The chair of the Corporate Governance Cotemiwill take such action as he or
deems appropriate, which may include referral e&oGlorporate Governance Committee or the entiredoar

ATTENDANCE

The Board of Directors held seven meetings in 2@L8ing 2013, all incumbent directors attendedeast 75% of the aggregate numbe
meetings of the Board and committees on which divector served. Members of the Board are expetctadse their best efforts to attend
annual meetings of shareholders. All fourteen memtheen serving on the Board attended last yearsia meeting.

COMPENSATION CONSULTANTS

The Compensation Committee directly engages a cosapen consultant from Mercer Human Resource dbtinguto advise th
Committee in the design of compensation for exgeutifficers. In 2013, Kroger paid that consultaB?$,944 for work performed for t
Committee. Kroger, on managementecommendation, retained the parent and affiliampanies of Mercer Human Resource Consulti
provide other services for Kroger in 2013, for whi€roger paid $4,743,100. These other services giiynrelated to insurance claims (
which Kroger was reimbursed by insurance carrierclaims were adjusted), insurance brokerage amdlifbgp commissions, and pens
consulting. Kroger also made payments to affiliatethpanies for insurance premiums that were celteby the affiliated companies on be
of insurance carriers, but these amounts are whided in theotals referenced above, as the amounts were paidto insurance carriers
services provided by those carriers. Although meitthe Committee nor the Board expressly approwedother services, after taking i
consideration the NYSE'independence standards and the SEC rules, theniftesn determined that the consultant is indepenaed his wor
has not raised any conflict of interest becausé¢ayas first engaged by the Committee before barhe associated with Mercer; (b) he wi
exclusively for the Committee and not for our masragnt; (c) he does not benefit from the other wibet Mercers parent and affiliate
companies perform for Kroger; and (d) neither thestiltant nor the consultant’s team perform angoservices on behalf of Kroger.

No member of the Compensation Committee was acesfiir employee of the Company during fiscal ye@t3 and no member of 1
Compensation Committee was formerly an officerhef Company or was a party to any disclosable ilpgson transaction involving 1
Company. During fiscal year 2013, none of the etieewfficers of the Company served on the boardlioctors or on the compensal
committee of any other entity that has or had etreewfficers serving as a member of the Board w&&ors or Compensation Committee
the Company.
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BoARD OVERSIGHT OF ENTERPRISE RISK

While risk management is primarily the respbitisy of Kroger's management team, the Board of Directors is ressplenfor the overs
supervision of our risk management activities. Board's oversight of the material risks faced by Krogetuss at both the full Board le
and at the committee level.

The Board’s Audit Committee has oversight respdtisitnot only for financial reporting of Kroges’ major financial exposures and
steps management has taken to monitor and cohtseétexposures, but also for the effectivenessasfagemens processes that monitor :
manage key business risks facing Kroger, as wethasmajor areas of risk exposure and managemefiiorts to monitor and control tl
exposure. The Audit Committee also discusses withagement its policies with respect to risk assessiand risk management.

Management, including Kroger’Chief Ethics and Compliance Officer, providesutag updates throughout the year to the respe
committees regarding the management of the riskg diversee, and each of these committees reportsloto the full Board at each regt
meeting of the Board.

In addition to the reports from the committees, Board receives presentations throughout the yean arious department and busir
unit leaders that include discussion of significeieks as necessary. At each Board meeting, thér@aa and the CEO address matter
particular importance or concern, including anyngigant areas of risk that require Board attentiddditionally, through dedicated sessi
focusing entirely on corporate strategy, the fullaBl reviews in detail Kroger's short- and lowegm strategies, including consideratior
significant risks facing Kroger and their potentiapact. The independent directors, in executivasiems led by the Lead Director, add
matters of particular concern, including significaneas of risk, that warrant further discussiorcansideration outside the presence of Kr
employees.

We believe that our approach to risk oversightjescribed above, optimizes our ability to asse®s-irlationships among the various ris
make informed codbenefit decisions, and approach emerging risks pmoactive manner for Kroger. We also believe that risk structur
complements our current Board leadership structase,it allows our independent directors, through ftve fully independent Boa
committees, and in executive sessions of indepeandieectors led by an independent Lead Directorgtercise effective oversight of -
actions of management, led by Mr. McMullen as CEQdentifying risks and implementing effectivekimmanagement policies and controls.

BOARD LEADERSHIP STRUCTURE AND LEAD DIRECTOR

Our Board is composed of eleven independent amaployee directors, and two management directors,[IMlon, the Chairman of tt
Board and our former Chief Executive Officer, and. MicMullen, our Chief Executive Officer. In additi, as provided in ouBuidelines o
Issues of Corporate Governan, the Board has designated one of the independettals as Lead Director. The Board has estaldigive
standing committees —audit, compensation, corporate governance, finhmotcy, and public responsibilities. Each Boardnumittee i
composed solely of independent directors, each witlifferent independent director serving as cort@mitchair. The mix of experienc
independent and management directors that makempaard, along with the independent role of ouad ®irector and our independent Bc
committees, benefits Kroger and its shareholders.

The Board designates one of the independent dieata Lead Director. The Lead Director servear@ty of roles, including reviewi
and approving Board agendas, meeting materialsemeldules to confirm the appropriate topics areevead and sufficient time is allocatec
each; serving as liaison between the ChairmaneoBthard, management, and the moanagement directors; presiding at the executissice
of independent directors and at all other meetinigthe Board of Directors at which the Chairmantled Board is not present; calling
executive session of independent directors at iamy &nd serving as the Boasd'epresentative for any consultation and direatroanication
following a request, with major shareholders. Usletherwise determined by the Board, the chaihef@orporate Governance Committe
designated as the Lead Director. Robert Beyerndapendent director and the chair of the Corpdeateernance Committee, is currently
Lead Director. Mr. Beyer is an effective Lead Dtmcfor Kroger due to, among other things, his peledence, his deep strategic
operational understanding of Kroger obtained whéeving as a Kroger director, his insight into aogie governance and his experienc
other boards.
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With respect to the roles of Chairman and CtB@Guidelinesprovide that the Board will determine when it igtlie best interests of Krog
and its shareholders for the roles to be sepamtedmbined, and the Board exercises its discretoit deems appropriate in light of prevai
circumstances. As part of the succession planninggss, th&uidelinesprovide that upon the selection of a new Chief Etige Officer, thi
Board will determine whether a separation of tHece$ is appropriate. The Board believes that tirelination or separation of these posit
should continue to be considered as part of theession planning process, as was the case in 20@3again in 2014, when the roles v
separated.

Our Board and each of its committees conduct amanevaluation to determine whether they are fomitig effectively. As part of th
annual selevaluation, the Board assesses whether the cuemership structure continues to be appropriat&foger and its shareholde
Our Guidelinesprovide the flexibility for our Board to modify oleadership structure in the future as appropriate.believe that Kroger, il
many U.S. companies, has been well-served by Ithithfe leadership structure.
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EXecuTIVE COMPENSATION — OVERVIEW

As one of the largest retailers in the world, oxeaitive compensation philosophy remains to at@ack retain the best management t:
and to motivate these employees to achieve ounbssiand financial goals. We believe our strateggtes value for shareholders in a ma
consistent with our focus on our core values: hgnéstegrity, respect, inclusion, diversity, arafety.

To achieve our objectives, our Compensation Coresitteeks to ensure that compensation is competitidethat there is a direct |i
between pay and performance. To do so, it is guigetthe following principles:

e A significant portion of pay should be performarizsed, increasing proportionally with an execusvevel of responsibility;

e Compensation should include incentive-based palyite@ performance, providing superior pay $operior performance, including b
a short- and long-term focus;

e Compensation policies should include an opportuioityand a requirement of, equity ownership; and

e Components of compensation should be tied to aluatian of business and individual performameeasured against metrics that a
with our business strategy.

The compensation of our senior executives in figear 2013 reflects these principles. Total comatas for the year is an indicator
how well Kroger performed compared to our busirgas, reflecting how our compensation program raegsdo business challenges anc
marketplace. We continue to deliver sales growth @usitive earnings results.

e A key metric, identical supermarket sales, exclgdie 53%9week in 2012 and fuel, increased 3.6% fr2@12. Through fiscal 2013, \
have achieved 41 consecutive quarters of positigetical sales growth.

e Net earnings per diluted share were $2.90, and aften taking into account several items thatheéeve are necessary to make tl
results comparable to fiscal 2012, our resultsestiteeded our guidance range.

e In September 2013, the Board of Directors raisedjtharterly cash dividend by 10%, to $0.165 peresha

e Kroger's stock price increased 29.4% in fiscal y2@it3.

The Committee believes our management producedaodisg results in 2013, measured against incrggseggressive business p
objectives for sales, earnings, and our stratelgio. prhe compensation paid to our named execufffieecs reflected this fact as the anr
performancebased cash bonus paid out at 104.949% of bonusitfdée The strong link between pay and performaiscéiustrated by
comparison of the 2012 annual cash bonus, with5a888% payout. In 2012, we performed well but did achieve all of our business p
objectives. In 2013, all of our business plan goase exceeded (with the exception of our sale§ gddch fell slightly short), resulting in i
annual bonus payout that exceeded 100% of potential

In keeping with our overall compensation philosoplvg endeavor to ensure that our compensationipeactonform to best practices
particular, over the past several years we have:

e put in place significant stock ownership guidellegels to reinforce the link between the interedteur named executive officers ¢
those of our shareholders;

e adopted claw-back policies under which the repayraéhonuses may be required in certain circumssnc
e eliminated tax gross-ups;

e adopted the recommendation of shareholders thgthibgermitted annually, on an advisory basisidt® on executive compensati
and

e adopted a policy prohibiting hedging and shortsad@d restricting pledging, of Kroger common skdmg our officers and directors.
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In addition, beginning in 2010, fifty percesftthe timebased equity awards that otherwise would have besmted to the named execu
officers as restricted stock have been replaceld patformance units that are earned only to therathat performance objectives are achie
Equity compensation awards continue to play an itapb role in rewarding named executive officenstfe achievement of lontgrm busines
objectives and providing incentives for the creatid shareholder value.

The following discussion and analysis addressesctimpensation of the named executive officers, tadfactors considered by
Committee in setting compensation for the namedtutikee officers and making recommendations to tidependent Board members in
case of the CE@®' compensation. Additional detail is provided ir ttompensation tables and the accompanying nardisclosures th
follow this discussion and analysis.

ExecuTiVE COMPENSATION — OBJECTIVES

The Committee has several related objectives ragammpensation. First, the Committee believes ¢hanpensation must be designe
attract and retain those best suited to fulfill thallenging roles that executive officers playatger. Second, some elements of compens
should help align the interests of the officershwibur interests as shareholders. Third, compeansatiould create strong incentives for
officers (a) to achieve the annual business plegeta established by the Board, and (b) to achi@eger’s longterm strategic objectives.
developing compensation programs and amounts ta these objectives, the Committee exercises judgreeansure that executive offi
compensation is appropriate and competitive intlaftKroger's performance and the needs of thertass.

SHARE OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES

To more closely align the interests of the officesith your interests as shareholders, the BoarDit#ctors has adopted stock owner:
guidelines. These guidelines require reanployee directors, officers and some other keg@tkees to acquire and hold a minimum dollar v
of Kroger common shares. The guidelines requireGE® to acquire and maintain ownership of Krogearsh equal to five times his b
salary; the Chief Operating Officer at four timés base salary; Executive Vice Presidents, Senioe Yresidents and na@mployee directo
at three times their base salaries or annual basle retainers; and other officers and key execsitatewo times their base salaries. Cov
individuals are expected to achieve the targetl lenthin five years of appointment to their positiokKroger shares, including equity awe
from Kroger, may not be sold by covered individuad®r to achieving holdings required by the guiide$ (other than to pay for the exer
price of options and the taxes associated withtgguvards), without the approval of Kroger's CEO.

REsuLTSs oF 2013 AbVISORY VOTE TO APPROVE EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

At the 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, we loeldthird annual advisory vote on executive conspdon. Over 97% of the votes ¢
were in favor of the advisory proposal in 2013. Twmmmittee considered this overwhelmingly favorataiécome and believes it conveys
shareholders’ support of the Commit®elecisions and the existing executive compensagiograms. As a result, the Committee mad
material changes in the structure of our compemsagirograms or pay for performance philosophy. A& £014 Annual Meeting
Shareholders, in keeping with our shareholdeesjuest for an annual advisory vote, we will aghold a vote to approve execut
compensation (see page 55). The Committee willicoatto consider the results from this ysaand future advisory votes on exect
compensation.

RoLE oF COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

The Compensation Committee of the Board has theawyi responsibility for establishing the compermabf Krogers executive officer
including the named executive officers, with theception of the Chief Executive Officer. The Commss role regarding the CE®’
compensation is to make recommendations to theparent members of the Board; those independentdBoambers establish the CEO’
compensation.
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ESTABLISHING EXEcuTIVE COMPENSATION

The independent members of the Board havexbkisive authority to determine the amount of @0’s salary; the bonus potential for
CEO; the nature and amount of any equity awardsenbtadhe CEO; and any other compensation questelated to the CEO. In setting
annual bonus potential for the CEO, the independeettors determine the dollar amount that willrbeltiplied by the percentage pay
under the annual bonus plan generally applicablalltaorporate management, including the named wkex officers. The independt
directors retain discretion to reduce the percentaayout the CEO would otherwise receive. The iaddpnt directors thus make a sep:
determination annually concerning both the CEO'susopotential and the percentage of bonus paid.

The Committee performs the same function and esescithe same authority as to the other named exeaifficers. The Committeg’
annual review of compensation for the named exeeutficers includes the following:

e Conducts an annual review of all components of camption, quantifying total compensation for tlaened executive officers on te
sheets. The review includes a summary for each dawecutive officer of salary; annual performanesddl cash bonus; lorgnr
performance-based cash and performangi# compensation; equity; accumulated realized anckalized stock option gains
restricted stock and performance unit values; tleesof any perquisites; retirement benefits; savee benefit@vailable under Tt
Kroger Co. Employee Protection Plan; and earnimglspayouts available under Kroger’s nonqualifieteded compensation program.

e Considers internal pay equity at Kroger to ensheg the CEO is not compensated disproportionaldlg. Committee has assured it
that the compensation of Kroger's CEO and that hif bther namedxecutive officers bears a reasonable relationshighe
compensation levels of other executive positiort§rager taking into consideration performance aifi¢ggbnces in responsibilities.

e Reviews a report from the Committee’s compensatarsultants (described below) comparing naeseztutive officer and other ser
executive compensation with that of other companpimarily our competitors, to ensure that the @uttee’s objectives ¢
competitiveness are met.

e Takes into account a recommendation from the CEQefat in the case of his own compensation)sfdary, bonus potential, and eq;
awards for each of the senior officers including tither named executive officers. The CE@commendation takes into consider
the objectives established lapnd the reports received by the Committee as veehia assessment of individual job performance
contribution to our management team.

e Looks at historical information regarding salargnbs, and equity compensation for a 3-year period.

In considering each of the factors above, the Cdtemidoes not make use of a formula, but rathejestitely reviews each in setti
compensation.

THE COMMITTEE 'S COMPENSATION CONSULTANTS AND BENCHMARKING

As referenced earlier in this compensation discumsand analysis, the Committee directly engagesngpensation consultant from Mer
Human Resource Consulting to advise the Committéled design of compensation for executive officers

The Mercer consultant conducts an annual compet#ésessment of executive positions at Krogeh®Qommittee. The assessment is
of several bases, as described above, on whicBdhenittee determines compensation. The consultmaisses:

e Base salary;
e Target annual performance-based bonus;
e Target annual cash compensation (the sum of satayannual bonus);

e Annualized long-term incentive awards, such askstmations, restricted shares, and performance-blsegterm cash bonuses ¢
performance-based equity awards; and

e Total direct compensation (the sum of all thesenelas).
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The consultant compares these elements aghosst of other companies in a group of publichded food and drug retailers. For 2013
group consisted of:

Costco Wholesale Supervalu
CVS/Caremark Target

Rite Aid Wal-Mart
Safeway Walgreens

This peer group is the same group as was usedlia. Zhe makeatp of the compensation peer group is reviewed dhynaad modified a
circumstances warrant. Industry consolidation atiterocompetitive forces will change the peer groged over time. The consultant ¢
provides the Committee data from companies in “ganidustry,” a representation of major publittpded companies. These data
reference points, particularly for senior staffitioas where competition for talent extends beytmretail sector.

In 2009, the Committee directly engaged an addifimempensation consultant to conduct a review mafgkr's executive compensati
This consultant, from Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inexamined the compensation philosophy, peer grompposition, annual cash bonus,
long-term incentive compensation including equityaeds. The consultant concluded that Krogexkecutive compensation program me
Committee$ objectives, and that it provides a strong linkbgewveen pay and performance. The Committee expeasgage an additior
compensation consultant from time to time as inggadvisable.

Considering the size of Kroger in relation to otpheer group companies, the Committee believesstilaties paid to our executive offic
should be at or above the median paid by compstitorcomparable positions. The committee also ampovide an annual bonus potenti
our executive officers that, if the increasingly maochallenging annual business plan objectives amft@ieved, would cause total ¢
compensation to be meaningfully above the median.

COMPONENTS OF EXEcCUTIVE COMPENSATION AT KROGER

Compensation for our named executive officers immused of the following:

e Salary;

e Performance-Based Annual Cash Bonus (annual, noityegcentive pay);

e Performance-Based Long-Term Compensation (longsteash and performance unit incentive compensation)
e Other Equity (non-qualified stock options and riesdd stock);

e Retirement and other benefits; and

e Perquisites.

SALARY

We provide our named executive officers and otmepleyees a fixed amount of cash compensation +ysaltor their work. Salaries fi
named executive officers (with the exception of @€0) are established each year by the Committezgnisultation with the CEO. The CED’
salary is established by the independent direc8akaries for the named executive officers wergresd in June 2013.

The amount of each executive’s salary is influenmgdumerous factors including:

e An assessment of individual contribution in thegoeent of the CEO and the Committee (or, in the cdigbe CEO, of the Committ
and the rest of the independent directors);

e Benchmarking with comparable positions at peer grmmpanies;
e Tenure; and

e Relationship with the salaries of other executaeKroger.
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The assessment of individual contribution is based subjective determination, without the use effgrmance targets, in the followi
areas:

e Leadership;

e Contribution to the officer group;

e Achievement of established objectives, to the ebdpplicable;

e Decision-making abilities;

e Performance of the areas or groups directly repgiti the officer;
e Increased responsibilities;

e Strategic thinking; and

e Furtherance of Kroger’s core values.

The amounts shown below reflect the salaries ohtmaed executive officers in effect following thenaal review of their compensatior
June.

Salaries
2011 2012 2013
David B. Dillon $1,290,000 $1,330,000 $1,370,00
W. Rodney McMullen* $ 910,00 $ 939,60( $ 968,60(
J. Michael Schlotman $ 650,000 $ 671,10( $ 704,65!
Kathleen S. Barclay** — $ 677,30C $ 700,00(
Paul W. Heldman $ 739,00 $ 763,000 $ 786,00(
Michael L. Ellis*** — — $ 527,36(

* Mr. McMullen’s salary increased to $1,100,000 effective wittphisnotion to CEO on January 1, 20
** Ms. Barclay became a named executive officer ir22

*rk Mr. Ellis became a named executive officer in 2(H13. salary increased to $775,000 effective withgriomotion to President and C
on January 1, 201.

PERFORMANCE -BASED ANNUAL CASH BoNus

A large percentage of our employees at all levetduding the named executive officers, are eligitd receive a performanbased annu
cash bonus based on the performance of Krogehéircase of the named executive officers) or busineg (in the case of employees in
business units). The Committee establishes bonienipals for each executive officer, other than @e0O whose bonus potential is establis
by the independent directors. Actual payouts, whiah exceed 100% of the potential amounts but nudyerceed 200% of the poten
amounts, represent the extent to which performaraets or exceeds the thresholds established ydhenittee.

The Committee considers several factors in makmgeétermination or recommendation as to bonusnpiate. First, the individuas leve
within the organization is a factor in that the Quoittee believes that more senior executives shdwade a substantial part of tF
compensation dependent upon Kroger's performaneeor®l, the individuad salary is a factor so that a substantial portbra name
executive officer’'s total cash compensation is dejeat upon Kroges performance. Finally, the Committee considers réqgorts of it
compensation consultants to assess the bonus ijpbtehthe named executive officers in light of @btompensation paid to compare
executive positions in the industry.
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The annual cash bonus potential in effect followihg annual review of compensation in June for e@ahed executive officer is sho
below. Actual bonus payouts are prorated to refthanges, if any, to bonus potentials during ther.ye

Annual Bonus Potential

2011 2012 2013
David B. Dillon $1,500,000 $1,500,000 $1,500,00!
W. Rodney McMullen* $1,000,000  $1,000,001 $1,000,00t
J. Michael Schlotman $ 525,000 $ 550,000 $ 550,00(
Kathleen S. Barclay** — $ 550,00 $ 550,00(
Paul W. Heldman $ 550,000 $ 550,000 $ 550,00(
Michael L. Ellis*** —  $ — $ 375,00(
* Mr. McMullen’s annual bonus potential increased to $1,500,0@8tefe with his promotion to CEO on January 1, £(

** Ms. Barclay became a named executive officer ir22

*rk Mr. Ellis became a named executive officer in 20H& annual bonus potential increased to $750,0f&@tese with his promotion 1
President and COO on January 1, 2(

Over time the Committee and our independent dirsdtave placed an increased emphasis on our str@leg by making the target m
difficult to achieve. The bonus plan allows for imial bonus to be earned at relatively low levelgpefformance to provide incentive
achieving even higher levels of performance.

The amount of bonus that the named executive offiearn each year is determined by Kroggserformance compared to tar
established by the Committee and our independeattdis based on the business plan adopted bydhslB®f Directors. In 2013, ortbird of
the bonus was based on a target for identical seitbeut fuel;, one-third was based on a targetHBITDA without fuel; and onehird wa:
based on implementation and results of a set oSurea under our strategic plan. An additional 5%ildide earned if Kroger achieved tr
goals with respect to its supermarket fuel openati@achievement of the targeted fuel EBITDA, inseeaf at least 3% in total gallons scdah¢
achievement of the planned number of fuel centiarsepl in service.

Following the close of the year, the Committee eexdd Krogers performance against the identical sales withoet, fEBITDA withou
fuel, and strategic plan objectives and determthedcextent to which Kroger achieved those objestieogers EBITDA without fuel for 201
was $4.245 billion and Kroger's identical saleshwitt fuel for 2013 were 3.5%. In 2013, Krogesupermarket fuel EBITDA was $232.¢
million, which exceeded the goal of $184.875 millioecessary to earn a bonus for the fuel componéwiger’s fuel gallon sales
supermarket fuel centers were 4.431 billion gall@rs6.6% over the prior year. We operated 1,24tesuarket fuel centers as of the en
2013, exceeding our goal of 1,235 centers. As altrethe payout percentage included the additi®@dalfuel bonus. Due to our performa
when compared to the targets established by then@bee, and based on the business plan adoptetiebaard of Directors, the nan
executive officers earned 104.949% of their boriemtials. This is the same bonus percentage pagoaived by all other participants in
annual corporate bonus plan.
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The 2013 targets established by the Committee faual bonus amounts based on identical sales wifinelland EBITDA without fue
results, the actual 2013 results, and the bonu=ptage earned in each of the components of naresditeve officer bonus, were as follows:

Targets
Component Minimum 100% Result Amount Earned
Identical Sales without fuel 1.6% 3.6% 3.5% 31.67%%
EBITDA without fuel $3.583 Billior $4.216 Billion* $4.245 Billior 34.47%
Strategic Plan ** ** *x 33.79¢%
Fuel Bonus [as described in the text above] 5.00(%
Total Earned 104.94%

* Payout is at 125% if identical sales goal is ackie

** The Strategic Plan component also was establishéldebCommittee, but is not disclosed as it is cetitipely sensitive

In 2013, as in all years, the Committee retainextrdtion to reduce the bonus payout for all exgeutfficers, including the nam
executive officers, if the Committee determineddoy reason that the bonus payouts were not apptepi he independent directors reta
that discretion for the CE®’bonus. Those bodies also retained discretiodjtsthe targets under the plan should unantieghdevelopmen
arise during the year. No adjustments were madketdargets in 2013. The Committee, and the indggreindirectors in the case of the C
determined that the bonus payouts for the namecuéixe officers should remain the same as othdigiaants.

The percentage paid for 2013 represented excetlerformance that exceeded our business plan olgsctiA comparison of bon
percentages for the named executive officers ior pears demonstrates the variability of annuah dsmus incentive compensation:

Annual Cash Bonus

Fiscal Yeat Percentage
2013 104.94%
2012 85.88%
2011 138.66(%
2010 53.86%
2009 38.45(%
2008 104.940%
2007 128.1026
2006 141.11%%
2005 132.09%
2004 55.17%%

The actual amounts of annual performalba@ged cash bonuses paid to the named executieersffior 2013 are reported in the Sumr
Compensation Table under the heading “Non-Equitsemtive Plan Compensatiordnd footnote 4. These amounts represent the
potentials for each named executive officer mukghlby the 104.949% payout percentage earned i3.201no event can any particip
receive a performandeased annual cash bonus in excess of $5,000,0690.nEximum amount that a participant, including eaeme:
executive officer, can earn is further limited 0% of the participant’s bonus potential amount.

The performance-based annual cash bonus for 201 %evietermined based on Krogeperformance against the identical sales wi
fuel, EBITDA without fuel, strategic plan, and op#ng costs as a percentage of sales objectivablissted by the Committee. The first tt
metrics will be weighted at 30% each and the finatric will be weighted at 10%. The underlying tgy metrics have been revised from |
years to focus on shor-term measures, as the long-term bonus emphasinggdrm performance. The 2014 plan also provides fi
additional 5% payout if our goals for supermarketl EBITDA, supermarket fuel gallons sold, and ¢étegl number of fuel centers in opera
at the fiscal year end are achieved.
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L ONG-TERM INCENTIVES

The Committee believes in the importance of prawgdan incentive to the named executive officersad¢bieve the longerm goal
established by the Board of Directors by conditigna significant portion of compensation on thei@atment of those goals.

In 2006, the Committee adopted the first in a sevidlongterm performance based compensation plans destgrrewvard participants f
their contribution to the longerm performance of Kroger. These earlier plansigesl for overlapping four year performance peritiois
allowed for the earning of a long-term cash bomu010, Kroger's londerm incentive program was redesigned to combieddtal value ¢
our longterm cash bonus and equity programs into a cohesixategic reward for eligible executives at theé/President level and abao
Approximately fifty percent of the plan value isrfmgmancebased, delivered in cash and performance unitgjngent on the achievement
certain strategic performance measures. The otftiepercent of the value is timieased and delivered in stock options and restriskeate:
Each component is described in more detail below.

PERFORMANCE BASED LONG-TERM COMPENSATION

The longterm incentive plan adopted in 2010 (and earne2Dit?) provides the model for our combined planctne. Subsequent ple
have been adopted each year thereafter. Eachsa fiens has the following characteristics:

e Performance is measured over a three year period.
e Between 130 and 170 executives, including the naemedutive officers, participate in each plan.
e Awards include both cash and performance units.

»  The cash bonus base equals the execstisalary at the end of the fiscal year precedimgplan adoption date (or for the
participants entering the plan after the commencemate, as of the date of commencing participatidhe plan)

»  Afixed number of performance units is awardedaoheparticipant. The awards are paid out in Kragenmon shares, along w
a cash amount equal to the dividends paid duriago#irformance period on the number of issued conshares

e Compensation under the plans is earned based gpediarmance against metrics established by themitiee at the beginning of t
performance period.

e The payout percentage, based on the extent to wheclperformance metrics are achieved, is appbeoth the bonus base and
number of performance units awarded.

e Actual payouts cannot exceed 100% of the cash bloases or 100% of the number of performance unierded.
e In no event can a cash bonus award exceed $5,@0,00
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The following table summarizes each of the longatperformance based plans for the years shown:

Performance Period
Payout Date

Cash Bonus Base

Performance Metrics

Strategic Plan

Reduction in
Operating Cost as
a Percentage of
Sales, Excluding
Fuel

Improvement
in Associate
Engagement

Return on
Invested Capital

*  Or date of plan entry, if late

At the time of adopting new long-term plaie Committee has made adjustments to the peraptaguts for the components of the long

2011 Plan

2012 Plan

2013 Plan

2014 Plan

2011 to 2013
March 2014

Salary at end of
fiscal year 2010*

2% payout per unit
improvement

0.50% payout per
0.01% reduction in
operating costs
Baseline: 27.60%

2% payout per unit
improvement

N/A

2012 to 2014
March 2015

Salary at end of
fiscal year 2011*

2% payout per unit
improvement

0.50% payout per
0.01% reduction in
operating costs
Baseline: 27.09%

4% payout per unit
improvement

N/A

2013 to 2015
March 2016

Salary at end of fiscal
year 2012*

2% payout per unit
improvement

0.50% payout per
0.01% reduction in
operating costs
Baseline: 26.69%

4% payout per unit
improvement

1% payout per 0.01%
improvement in ROIC
Baseline: 13.41%

term plans to account for the increasing difficudfyachieving compounded improvement.

2014 to 2016
March 2017

Salary at end of fiscal
year 2013*

2% payout per unit
improvement

0.50% payout per
0.01% reduction in
operating costs
Baseline: 26.61%

4% payout per unit
improvement

1% payout per 0.01%
improvement in ROIC
Baseline: 13.43%

The Committee anticipates adopting a new plan gaah, measuring improvement over successive theaeferiods.

The longterm performance based plan adopted in 2011, whiehsured improvements through fiscal year 2013} pai in March 201

and was calculated as follows:

Component

Baseline Result

Improvement

Strategic Plan

Associate Engagement

Operating Costs, as a Percentage of

Sales, Excluding Fuel

Total Earned

*

*

27.60% 26.76% 84 basis point improveme

6 units of improvement
8 units of improvement

Percentage
Multiplier Earned
2% 12.00%
2% 6.00%

0.50% 42.00%
70.00%

*  The Strategic Plan and Associate Engagement compongere established by the Committee but are istlated as they &

competitively sensitive

Accordingly, each named executive officer receigadh in an amount equal to 70.00% of that execstieagterm cash bonus base, .
was issued the number of Kroger common shares équd.00% of the number of performance units agand that executive, along witl
cash amount equal to the dividends paid on thatbeurnf common shares during the three year perfocsgeriod. Payout for the ci
components of the 2011 plan are reported in“Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensat” and“All Other Compensatic’ columns of th



Summary Compensation Table and footnotes 4 andtBatotable, and the common shares issued undepldineare reported in the Optic
Exercised and Stock Vested Table and footnotet@abtable.
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Equity Awards

Awards based on Krogertommon shares are granted periodically to theedagmecutive officers and a large number of othepleyees
Equity participation aligns the interests of emgey with your interest as shareholders, and Krbigorically has distributed equity awa
widely. In 2013, Kroger granted 4,211,102 stockian to approximatel$,151 employees, including the named executive@f§i. The optior
permit the holder to purchase Kroger common shatres option price equal to the closing price obdlear common shares on the date o
grant. Options are granted only on one of the ftates of Compensation Committee meetings condwdted Krogers public release of |
guarterly earnings results.

Kroger's long-term incentive plans also provide &her equitypbased awards, including restricted stock and pexdoce units. Durir
2013, Kroger awarded 3,116,214 shares of restristeck to approximately 20,214 employees, includimg named executive officers; i
413,588 performance units to approximately 167 ewyg®s. Performance units provide for the issuarfcé&roger common shares
participants, after the completion of the threerymaxformance period, based on the extent to wiliehperformance goals established a
beginning of the performance period have been aetie

The Committee considers several factors in detengithe amount of options, restricted shares, agrfopnance units awarded to
named executive officers or, in the case of the Off€ommending to the independent directors theuat@warded. These factors include:

e The compensation consultant's benchmarking repeganding equity-based and other Idegn compensation awarded by
competitors;

e The officer’s level in the organization and thesimial relationship of equity-based awards withiodéar;
e Individual performance; and

e The recommendation of the CEO, for all named exeewfficers other than the CEO.

The Committee has long recognized that the amaducdmpensation provided to the named executiveefé through equitirased pay
often below the amount paid by our competitors. Epwquitybased awards for the named executive officers @ner ®enior managemt
permit a broader base of Kroger employees to jaatie in equity awards.

Amounts of equity awards issued and outstandingii®emamed executive officers are set forth int#ides that follow this discussion ¢
analysis.

RETIREMENT AND OTHER BENEFITS

Kroger maintains a defined benefit and severalngelficontribution retirement plans for its employeése named executive offic
participate in one or more of these plans, as aglbne or more excess plans designed to make ghadiniall in retirement benefits createc
limitations under the Internal Revenue Code on fien® highly compensated individuals under quedifplans. Additional details regard
retirement benefits available to the named exeeutiificers can be found in the 2013 Pension Benddible and the accompanying narre
description that follows this discussion and analys

Kroger also maintains an executive deferred congi@ns plan in which some of the named executivicef participate. This plan i
nonqualified plan under which participants can etecdefer up to 100% of their cash compensatiah geear. Compensation deferred b
interest, until paid out, at the rate representingger’s cost of ten-year debt in the year the iateet, as determined by KrogeICEO, an
reviewed with the Committee, prior to the beginnafgeach deferral year. In 2013, that rate was 3.B#&ferred amounts are paid out onl
cash, in accordance with a deferral option seleljetthe participant at the time the deferral etetis made.

We adopted The Kroger Co. Employee Protection RIaiKEPP, during fiscal year 1988. That plan wasaded and restated in 2007.
of our management employees and administrativestpersonnel whose employment is not covered byliective bargaining agreeme
with at least one year of service, are covered. Kpovides for severance benefits and extended éfqmajd health care, as well as
continuation of other benefits as described inplla@, when an employee is actually or construcfitetminated without
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cause within two years following a change in contrfoKroger (as defined in the plan). Participaate entitled to severance pay of up t
months’salary and bonus. The actual amount is dependent pay level and years of service. KEPP can be detkor terminated by t
Board at any time prior to a change in control.

Stock option, restricted stock and perforneannit agreements with participants in Kroger'sga@erm incentive plans provide that th
awards “vest,'with options becoming immediately exercisable,rietsons on restricted stock lapsing, and commaeras equal to 50% of t
performance units being awarded, upon a changeritia as described in the agreements.

None of the named executive officers is party t@maployment agreement.

PERQUISITES

The Committee does not believe that it is neceskaryhe attraction or retention of managementrtate provide the named execut
officers a substantial amount of compensation éftrm of perquisites. In 2013, the only perquisiwailable to our named executive offic
were:

e premiums paid on life insurance policies,
e premiums paid on accidental death and dismemberim&mtance; and

e premiums paid on long-term disability insurancei@es.

The life insurance benefit was offered beginningesal years ago to replace a splitHar life insurance benefit that was substantiadbore
costly to Kroger. Currently, 159 active executiviesjuding the named executive officers, and 8ifedtexecutives, receive this benefit.

In addition, the named executive officers are ktito the following benefit that does not conséta perquisite as defined by SEC rt
personal use of Kroger aircraft, which officers nhegse from Kroger and pay the average variableafagperating the aircraft, making offic:
more available and allowing for a more efficien¢ wé their time.

The total amount of perquisites furnished to theea executive officers is shown in the Summary Cemsption Table and describe«
more detail in footnote 6 to that table.

ExecuTiIVE COMPENSATION RECOUPMENT PoLicy

If a material error of facts results in the paymienan executive officer at the level of Group VReesident or higher of an annual bont
a longterm bonus in an amount higher than otherwise wbalk been paid, as determined by the Committee, tthe officer, upon dema
from the Committee, will reimburse Kroger for thm@unts that would not have been paid if the ereat hot occurred. This recoupment pa
applies to those amounts paid by Kroger within 3fhths prior to the detection and public disclosafréhe error. In enforcing the policy, 1
Committee will take into consideration all factéinsit it deems appropriate, including:

e The materiality of the amount of payment involved;

e The extent to which other benefits were reduceatlier years as a result of the achievement of paeoce levels based on the error;
e Individual officer culpability, if any; and

e Other factors that should offset the amount of pagment.
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HEDGING PoLicy

After considering best practices related to owniprsh company shares, the Board adopted a poliggrding hedging, pledging, and st
sales of Kroger securities. Kroger directors arfitefs are prohibited from engaging, directly odinectly, in hedging transactions in, or sl
sales of, Kroger securities. In addition, they puecluded from pledging Kroger securities as cetlltfor a loan, except to the extent that st
so pledged are in excess of the number of shaeemdiividual is required to maintain in accordamdth Kroger's share ownership guidelir
more particularly described earlier in this compeiosn discussion and analysis.

SeCTION 162(M) oF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE

Tax laws place a deductibility limit of $1,000,008 some types of compensation for the CEO and elxefour most highly compensa
officers reported in this proxy because they ar@mgnthe four highest compensated officers (“covesetbloyees”). In Kroges' case, th
group of individuals is not identical to the groop named executive officers. Compensation thatesnaed to be “performance-basdd”
excluded for purposes of the calculation and is dexluctible. Awards under Kroger’'s lotgrn incentive plans, when payable u
achievement of stated performance criteria, shbaldonsidered performanbased and the compensation paid under those fHanfise ta
deductible. Generally, compensation expense relatetock options awarded to the CEO and the rmxt fnost highly compensated offic
should be deductible. On the other hand, Krogexards of restricted stock that vest solely uponpgsage of time are not performahesec
As a result, compensation expense for those awardse covered employees is not deductible, toetktent that the related compensa
expense, plus any other expense for compensatibisthot performance-based, exceeds $1,000,000.

Kroger's bonus plans rely on performance criteria, anc liaen approved by shareholders. As a result, bsmad under the plans to
covered employees will be deductible by Kroger.

Kroger's policy is, primarily, to design and adnsiter compensation plans that support the achievieafdongterm strategic objectiv
and enhance shareholder value. Where it is mataridl supports Kroges’ compensation philosophy, the Committee also atiémpt ti
maximize the amount of compensation expense tlitdsictible by Kroger.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and disdusgh management of the Company the Compensaltistussion and Analys
contained in this proxy statement. Based on iteerewand discussions with management, the Compems@ommittee has recommended tc
Company'’s Board of Directors that the Compensab@tussion and Analysis be included in the Compsupybxy statement and incorpore
by reference into its annual report on Form 10-K.

Compensation Committee:
Clyde R. Moore, Chair
Jorge P. Montoya
Susan M. Phillips
James A. Runde
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ExecuTivE COMPENSATION
SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The following table shows the compensation of thienier Chief Executive Officer, Chief Executive @#r, Chief Financial Officer a
each of the Company’s three most highly compensetedutive officers other than the former CEO, C&@ CFO (the rlamed executi
officers”) during the fiscal years presented:

SuMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Change in
Pension

Value and

Nonqualified
Non-Equity Deferred

Stock Option Incentive Plan ~ Compensation All Other
Name and Principal Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation Total
Position Year ($) %) %) %) $ %) $) %)
(1) 2 3) (O] ®) (6)

David B. Dillon 201: $1,346,16: —  $5,709,42!  $2,781,91 $2,456,23! $ 15,37t $459,58: $12,768,69
Chairman and Forme 201z $1,328,32 — $3,332,85.  $1,342,08i $1,600,06! $3,380,52 $301,98! $11,285,83
Chief Executive Offict 2011 $1,273,87. — $3,130,54  $1,716,69: $2,699,15: $3,088,68! $232,82( $12,141,76

W. Rodney McMuller 201F  $962,731 — $5,062,43' $ 907,86: $1,722,941 $ 63,51¢ $166,32! $ 8,885,821
Chief Executive Offict 201z $937,732 — $1,087,65] $ 437,98 $1,079,08! $1,415,00: $124,99¢ $5,082,45¢€

2011 $899,113 — $1,009,360 $ 553,50t $1,821,90: $1,768,79: $104,57: $6,157,25¢

J. Michael Schlotman 201° $688,599 — $1,564,68 $ 509,08t $1,004,22( $ — $ 85,17¢ $3,851,772
Senior Vice Presiden 201z $669,787 — $ 609,90 $ 245,60: $ 602,14t $ 822,66¢ $ 60,131 $3,010,24¢
and Chief Financial 2011 $631,371 — $ 503,80 $ 276,26¢ $1,002,31! $ 990,52 $ 45,26¢ $ 3,449,544
Officer

Kathleen S. Barclay 201: $686,702 —  $1,436,931 $ 307,83¢ $1,026,62! $ — $144,95! $ 3,603,045
Senior Vice Presiden 201z $675,972 — $ 491,99¢ $ 148,51 $ 628,27: $ = $ 96,05¢ $2,040,807

Paul W. Heldman 201:  $772,298 — $ 944,62 $ 460,26 $1,084,02! $ 11,64¢ $156,18: $3,429,03¢
Executive Vice 201z $761,501 — $ 551,41t $ 222,04¢ $ 648,07: $1,266,46! $115,71! $3,565,21¢
President, Secretary 2011 $730,682 — $ 479,07t $ 262,71( $1,110,12! $1,374,30! $ 96,977 $4,053,87¢
and General Counsel

Michael L. Ellis 201t $539,576 — $1,484,68 $ 236,28 $ 755,57: $ 1,94« $ 64,33: $ 3,082,387

President and

Chief Operating Offic

(1) Mr. McMullen was promoted to Chief Executive Officen January 1, 2014 when Mr. Dillon retired frons Iposition as Chi
Executive Officer. Mr. Dillon remains as Chairmahtbe Board. Ms. Barclay became a named executifreeo in 2012. Mr. Elli
became a named executive officer in 2013 and beéarmdent and Chief Operating Officer on Janua3014.

(2)  The stock awards reflected in the table comdisibth time-based and performance-based awasasgegt under the Company’s lotegr
incentive plans. With respect to tinhased awards, or restricted stock, the aggregate date fair value computed in accordance
FASB ASC Topic 718 is as follows: Mr. Dillon: $4,2312; Mr. McMullen: $4,578,950; Mr. Schlotman: $33,572; Ms. Barcla
$1,272,990; Mr. Heldman: $699,504; and Mr. Elli%; 358,848

The value of the performand®sed awards, or performance units, reflected éntdble is as follows: Mr. Dillon: $1,481,517; |
McMullen: $483,485; Mr. Schlotman: $271,117; Msr@&ay: $163,940; Mr. Heldman: $245,117; and Mri€l$125,833. The report
amounts reflect the aggregate fair value at thatgtate based on the probable outcome of the pe#foce conditions. These amot
are consistent with the estimate of aggregate cosgimn cost to be recognized by the Company deethre-year performance peri



of the award determined as of the grant date uRA&B ASC Topic 718, excluding the effect of estiathforfeitures
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Assuming that the highest level of performance @@t is achieved, the value of the performanci awards at the grant date is
follows: Mr. Dillon $2,963,033; Mr. McMullen: $96870; Mr. Schlotman: $542,234; Ms. Barclay: $327,;88t. Heldman: $490,23
and Mr. Ellis: $251,666. These amounts are requodik reported in a footnote and are not refleatete table

The assumptions used in calculating the valuatiensat forth in Note 12 to the consolidated finahstatements in Kroger's 10-for
fiscal year 2013 ended February 1, 2(

(3) These amounts represent the aggregate grant dateafae of awards computed in accordance with FASBC Topic 718. Th
assumptions used in calculating the valuation atéosth in Note 12 to the consolidated financiatesments in Kroger's 1B-for fiscal
year 2013 ended February 1, 20

(4)  Non-equity incentive plan compensation earned for 2&ists of the following two amounts for each ndrerecutive officer

In accordance with the terms of the 2013 perforradrased annual cash bonus program, Kroger paid 19% @5 bonus potentials f
the executive officers including the named exeeutificers. Payments were made in the following ants: Mr. Dillon: $1,574,23!
Mr. McMullen: $1,099,946; Mr. Schlotman: $577,220s. Barclay: $577,220; Mr. Heldman: $577,220; and Ellis: $431,401. The:
amounts were earned with respect to performan2813, and paid in March 201

The 2011 Long-Term Bonus Plan is a performanceébdsmus plan designed to reward participants fgorawing the longermn
performance of the Company. The plan covered padace during fiscal years 2011, 2012 and 2013,amounts earned under
plan were paid in March 2014. The cash bonus paleatount equaled the executisesalary in effect on the last day of fiscal
2010. The following amounts represent payouts & 0 bonus potentials that were earned under tae: piir. Dillon: $882,000; M
McMullen: $623,000; Mr. Schlotman: $427,000; Msr@&ay: $449,400; Mr. Heldman: $506,800; and Mri€E$324,170

(5) Amounts in the table for 2011 and 2012 are chang@nsion value and preferential earnings on nalified deferred compensatic
For 2013, the amounts only include preferentialniegys on nonqualified deferred compensation. Untier Companys deferre
compensation plan, deferred compensation earnesgttat the rate representing Kroger’s cost ofyear-debt as determined by Kroger’
CEO, and reviewed by the Compensation Committeiey po the beginning of each deferral year. Forheparticipant, a separ:
deferral account is created each year, and theestteate established under the plan for that igeapplied to that deferral account u
the deferred compensation is paid out. If the @derate established by the Company for a partig@ar exceeds 120% of the applic:
federal longterm interest rate that corresponds most closetiigadCompany rate, the amount by which the Compateyexceeds 12(C
of the corresponding federal rate is deemed tdoloeeamarket or preferential. In twelve of the twenty g which at least one nan
executive officer deferred compensation, the Compate set under the plan for that year exceed$801@0the corresponding fede
rate. For each of the deferral accounts in whiehGompany rate is deemed to be abmarket, the Company calculates the amoui
which the actual annual earnings on the accourgezkavhat the annual earnings would have been #dheunt earned interest at 12
of the corresponding federal rate, and disclosesettamounts as preferential earnings. Amountsdefém 2013 earned interest at a
higher than 120% of the corresponding federal mteordingly there are preferential earnings osdtamounts

In accordance with SEC rules, negative amountsregaired to be disclosed in the footnotes, but nefiected in the sum of to
compensation reported in the table. Mr. Dillon’sigien value decreased by $1,863,504; Mr. McMuigménsion value decreasec
$450,556; Mr. Schlotman’s pension value decreasefidd,636; Mr. Heldman'’s pension value decrease@149,721; and Mr. Ellis’
pension values decreased by $6,080. During 201&i@e values decreased primarily due to an incr@agke discount rate for t
plans, as determined by the plan actuary and desdeslightly due to annuity election assumptions. Barclay does not participate i
Company defined benefit pension plan or the defiecmmpensation pla
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(6)  The following table provides the items and amoumttuded in All Other Compensation for 20!

Long-Term Dividend Dividends
Accidental Death Disability Equivalent on Unvested
Life Insurance  and Dismembermen Insurance Payments on Restricted
Premium Insurance Premium Premium Performance Units Stock

Mr. McMullen $ 48,221 $228 $2,77¢ $24,64: $ 90,45

Ms. Barclay $112,15° $228 — $ 8,90¢ $ 23,66«

Mr. Ellis $ 33,98: $228 $2,22¢ $ 5,92¢ $ 21,96¢

GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

The following table provides information about égund non-equity awards granted to the named ¢ixecofficers in 2013:

All Other All Other

Stock Option
Estimated Future Estimated Future Awards: Awards: Exercise Grant
Payouts Under Payouts Under Number Number of or Bas Date Fair
Non-Equity Equity Incentive of Shares Securities  Price of Value of
Incentive Plan Awards Plan Awards of Stock Underlying Option Stock and
Grant Target Maximum Target Maximum or Units Options Awards Option
Name Date (%) ($) #) #) #) #) ($/Sh) Awards
3 4
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All Other All Other

Stock Option
Estimated Future Estimated Future Awards: Awards: Exercise Grant
Payouts Under Payouts Under Number Number of or Base Date Fair
Non-Equity Equity Incentive of Shares Securities Price of Value of
Incentive Plan Awards Plan Awards of Stock Underlying Option Stock and
Grant Target Maximum Target Maximum or Units Options Awards Option
Name Date (%) (%) #) #) #) #) ($/sh) Awards
®) @
Paul W. Heldman $ 550,00((1) $1,100,00(1)
$381,50(2) $ 763,00(2)
7/15/201: 18,52t $ 699,50:
7/15/201: 49,400 $37.76 $ 460,26
7/15/201: 6,175(5) 12,35((5) $ 245,11°(5)
Michael L. Ellis $ 375,00(1) $ 750,00(1)
$ 256,00(2) $ 512,00(2)
7/15/201: 9,51( $ 359,09¢
12/12/201: 25,00( $ 999,75(
7/15/201: 25,360 $37.76 $ 236,28:
7/15/201: 3,17((5) 6,34((5) $ 125,83!(5)

(1)

(@)

(3)
(4)

()

The amount listed under “Targefdr each named executive officer represents thaibqotential of the named executive officer u
the Company’s 2013 performanbased annual cash bonus program. By the termgsgblém, payouts are limited to no more than 2
of a participant’'s bonus potential; accordinglye tamount listed under “Maximum” equals two timeattbfficer's bonus potenti
amount. In connection with his promotion on Janugr2014, Mr. McMullen was eligible for a bonus &dn a proration of his bor
potential of $1,000,000 and of his revised bonugmital of $1,500,000. In connection with his prdmao on January 1, 2014, Mr. El
was eligible for a bonus based on a proration sefdunus potential of $375,000 and of his revisedubgpotential of $750,000. T
amount actually earned under this plan is showthénSummary Compensation Table for 2013 and isribestin footnote 4 to that tab

This amount represents the bonus potential of themeud executive officer under the cash bonus compoof the Companyg
performance-based 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plaraxikhum” amount equals the annual base salary of the narsetitéve officers ¢
of the last day of fiscal year 2012. Bonuses aterdeéned upon completion of the performance pededf fiscal year ending 20:
Because the target amount is not determinableartin@unt listed under “Targetéflects a representative amount based on the bie
outcome of the performance conditio

This amount represents the number of restrictetestavarded under one of the Comy’s lon¢-term incentive plans

This amount represents the number of stock optioasted under one of the Company’s ldags incentive plans. Options are grante
fair market value of Kroger common shares on the dathe grant. Fair market value is defined a&sdlosing price of Kroger shares
the date of the grar

Performance units were awarded under the Compaerormance-based 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plare "Maximum” amoun
represents the maximum number of common sharesdhdbe earned by the named executive officer uh@eaward. Because the tal
amount of common shares is not determinable, theuatristed under “Targetfeflects a representative amount based on the pie
outcome of the performance conditions. The dolfaoant listed in the grant date fair value columthis value at the grant date base
the probable outcome of these conditions. This arniuconsistent with the estimate of aggregatepmmation cost to be recognizec
the Company over the thrgear performance period determined as of the gtat® under FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the eftd
estimated forfeitures, along with estimated caghmmts equal to projected dividend equivalent paym
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The Compensation Committee, and the independentbesnof the Board in the case of the CEO, estadlidionus potentials, showr
this table as “target” amounts, for the performabaeed annual and lorigkm cash bonus awards for the named executiveeodfi Amount
were payable to the extent that performance metifspebjectives established at the beginning & grerformance period. As described in
Compensation Discussion and Analysis, actual egsnimder the annual cash bonus can exceed thé temgeints if performance exceeds
thresholds. The Compensation Committee, and thepierdent members of the Board in the case of th@, @Bo determined the numbe
performance units to be awarded to each named txeaifficer, under which common shares are eamoethe extent performance me
objectives established at the beginning of theguerdnce period. The performance units are moraécpéatly described in the Compensai
Discussion and Analysis.

Restrictions on restricted stock awards made to#tmeed executive officers normally lapse, so losigha officer is then in our employ,
equal amounts on each of the five anniversari¢bentlate the award is made, except that: 70,00@slaavarded to Mr. McMullen in 2009 v
as follows: 15,000 shares on 6/25/2012, 20,000eshan 6/25/2013, and 35,000 shares on 6/25/2014988 shares awarded to Mr. Dillor
2012 vest in equal amounts on each of the fourvensaries of the date the award was made; 13,0@@skawarded to Mr. Schlotman in 2
vest as follows: 3,250 shares on each of 12/12/201#12/12/2015 and 6,500 shares on 12/12/16; @&hbares awarded to Ms. Barcla'
2012 vest in equal amounts on each of the threwensaries of the date the award was made; 20,086es awarded to Ms. Barclay in 2
vest in equal amounts on each of the two anniviesaf the date the award was made; 13,000 awaodits. Barclay in 2013 vest as folloy
3,250 shares on each of 12/17/2014 and 12/17/ 26d%,500 shares on 12/17/2016; 10,000 shares esvéwdVir. Ellis in 2012 vest in eqt
amounts on each of the three anniversaries ofdlettie award was made; and 6,667 shares awardéd Ellis in 2013 vest in equal amou
on each of the two anniversaries of the date thardwas made. For grants made to the named execofficers in 2013, the restrictic
continue to lapse following retirement if the fallimg criteria are met: the officer is employed fair least one year after the grant of
restricted stock, has at least 5 years of serfias attained the age of 62, and does not providéces to a competitor of ours. Any divide!
declared on Kroger common shares are payable tmcted stock. Nonqualified stock options grantedtte named executive officers ves
equal amounts on each of the five anniversari¢senflate of grant.
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OUTSTANDING EQuITY AWARDS AT FiscaL YEAR-END

The following table discloses outstanding equiised incentive compensation awards for the namecdugve officers as of the end
fiscal year 2013. Each outstanding award is shospamately. The vesting schedule for each awar@ssribed in the footnotes to this ta
Market value of unvested shares is based on Kre@wsing stock price of $36.10 on January 31, 2€iel last trading day of the 2013 fis
year.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity Equity
Equity Incentive Incentive
Incentive Plan Plan
Plan Awards: Awards:
Awards: Market Number of Market or
Number of Number of Number of Value of Unearned Payout Value
Securities Securities Securities Number of Shares or Shares, of Unearned
Underlying Underlying Underlying Shares or Units of Units or Shares,
Unexercised  Unexercised Unexercisec  Option Units of Stock  Stock That Other Units or
Options Options Unearned  Exercise Option That Have Have Not Rights That Other Rights
(#) (#) Options Price Expiration Not Vested Vested Have That Have
Name Exercisable  Unexercisable #) (6] Date #) ($) Not Vested Not Vested
David B. Dillon 300,00( $16.3¢ 5/5/201! 23,00((6) $ 830,30(
240,00( $19.9¢ 5/4/201¢ 34,50((7) $1,245,45!
220,00( $28.21 6/28/201° 63,81((8) $2,303,54.
225,00( $28.61 6/26/201! 83,97¢(9) $3,031,53-
180,00( 45,00((1) $22.3¢ 6/25/201! 111,96¢(10) $4,042,04!
138,00( 92,00((2) $20.1¢ 6/24/202! 52,99{(18) $2,007,03:
113,44(
170,16((3) $24.7¢ 6/23/202: 37,32%(19) $1,419,56
59,71¢ 238,86¢4) $21.9¢ 7/12/202:
298,58((5) $37.7¢ 7/15/202:
W. Rodney McMuller 75,00( $17.31 5/6/201: 35,00((6) $1,263,501
75,00( $16.3¢ 5/5/201! 7,00((6) $ 252,70(
60,00( $19.9¢ 5/4/201¢ 10,50((7) $ 379,05(
60,00( $28.21 6/28/201° 20,5748) $ 742,72:
65,00( $28.61 6/26/201! 29,23/(11) $1,055,27!
52,00( 13,00((1) $22.3¢ 6/25/201! 36,54((10) $1,319,09
42,00( 28,00((2) $20.1¢ 6/24/202( 80,00((13) $2,888,00!
36,57¢ 54,8643) $24.7¢ 6/23/202: 17,29¢(18) $ 654,98
19,48¢ 77,9544) $21.9¢ 7112/202: 12,18((19) $ 463,26t
97,44((5) $37.7¢ 7/15/202:
J. Michael Schlotman 20,00( $19.9¢ 5/4/201¢ 2,00((6) $ 72,200
20,00( $28.21 6/28/201° 3,75((7) $ 135,37
20,00( $28.61 6/26/201 10,2648) $ 370,71:
16,00( 4,00((1) $22.3¢ 6/25/201 16,39(11) $ 591,75:
15,00( 10,00((2) $20.1¢ 6/24/202( 20,49((10) $ 739,68¢
18,25¢ 27,38¢3) $24.7¢ 6/23/202: 13,00((12) $ 469,30(
10,92¢ 43,7144) $21.9¢ 7/12/202: 9,694(18) $ 367,28t
54,64((5) $37.7¢ 7/15/202: 6,83((19) $ 259,77¢
Kathleen S. Barclay 25,00( $20.0¢ 12/10/201! 3,75((7) $ 135,37
15,00( 10,00((2) $20.1¢ 6/24/202( 7,4348) $ 268,36

13,21¢ 19,8243) $247¢  6/23/202.  12,00(14)  $ 433,20



6,60¢ 26,4344) $21.9¢  7/12/202; 20,0015  $ 722,00

5,865(18) $ 222,00
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Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity Equity
Equity Incentive Incentive
Incentive Plan Plan
Plan Awards: Awards:
Awards: Market Number of Market or
Number of Number of Number of Value of  Unearned Payout Value
Securities Securities Securities Number of Shares or Shares, of Unearned
Underlying Underlying Underlying Shares or Units of Units or Shares,
Unexercisec  Unexercised Unexercisec Option Units of Stock Stock That Other Units or
Options Options Unearned Exercise  Option That Have Have Not Rights That Other Rights
#) #) Options Price  Expiration Not Vested Vested Have That Have
Name Exercisable Unexercisable #) %) Date #) (%) Not Vested  Not Vested
Paul W. Heldman 25,00( $19.9¢ 5/4/201¢ 2,50((6) $  90,25(
25,00( $28.27  6/28/201 4,50((7) $ 162,45(
25,00( $28.61  6/26/201¢ 9,76%(8) $ 352,51
20,00( 5,00((1) $22.3¢ 6/25/201! 14,82((11) $ 535,00:
18,00( 12,00((2) $20.1€  6/24/202( 18,52{(10) $ 668,75!
17,36( 26,04((3) $24.7¢  6/23/202: 8,76¢(18) $ 332,06
9,88( 39,52((4) $21.9¢ 7112/202: 6,175(19) $ 234,86¢
49,40((5) $37.7¢  7/15/202:
Michael L. Ellis 15,00( $19.9¢ 5/4/201¢ 2,00((6) $  72,20(
20,00( $28.27  6/28/201 3,00((7) $ 108,30(
20,00( $28.61  6/26/201¢ 4,95((8) $ 178,69
16,00( 4,00((1) $22.3¢ 6/25/201! 6,60((11) $ 238,26(
12,00( 8,00((2) $20.1¢ 6/24/202( 6,661(17) $ 240,67¢
8,80( 13,20((3) $24.7¢  6/23/202: 9,51((10) $ 343,31
4,40( 17,60((4) $21.9¢ 7112/202: 25,00((13) $ 902,50(
25,36((5) $37.7¢ 7/15/202:
3,905(18) $ 147,88:
3,17((19) $ 120,57:
(1) Stock options vest on 6/25/201
(2) Stock options vest in equal amounts on 6/24/20146424/2015
3) Stock options vest in equal amounts on 6/23/20/28/8015 and 6/23/201
4) Stock options vest in equal amounts on 7/12/2044/2015, 7/12/2016 and 7/12/20:
(5) Stock options vest in equal amounts on 7/15/20/4/2015, 7/15/2016, 7/15/2017 and 7/15/2(
(6) Restricted stock vests on 6/25/20
@) Restricted stock vests in equal amounts on 6/24/201 6/24/201¢
(8) Restricted stock vests in equal amounts on 6/23/26¥23/2015 and 6/23/201
(9) Restricted stock vests in equal amounts on 7/12/20/12/2015 and 7/12/201
(10) Restricted stock vests in equal amounts on 7/1%/20/5/2015, 7/15/2016, 7/15/2017 and 7/15/2!
(11) Restricted stock vests in equal amounts on 7/12/2p/12/2015, 7/12/2016 and 7/12/20

(12)

Restricted stock vests as follows: 3,250 sharek2dh?2/2014, 3,250 shares on 12/12/2015 and 6,58@slon 12/12/201



(13) Restricted stock vests in equal amounts on 12/12/202/12/2015, 12/12/2016, 12/12/2017 and 12/118z
(14) Restricted stock vests in equal amounts on 7/1Z/20M 7/12/201¢
(15) Restricted stock vests in equal amounts on 7/1%/20t 7/15/201¢
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(16)
(17)

(18)

(19)

Restricted stock vests as follows: 3,250 sharek26t7/2014, 3,250 shares on 12/17/2015 and 6,50@ston 12/17/2011
Restricted stock vests as follows: 3,333 sharek2é®/2014 and 3,334 shares on 12/6/2(

Performance units granted under the 2012 Long Tleoentive Plan are earned as of the last day oblfigear 2014, to the ext
performance goals are achieved. Because the aaezdsot currently determinable, the number of uaitd value as of fiscal yeanc
in the table reflect the probable outcome of sumhddions. The maximum number of units achievalrld the value of the maximt
number of units as of fiscal yeand if such maximum would be achieved are as falowr. Dillon: 74,645 units; $2,826,806; |
McMullen: 24,360 units; $922,513; Mr. Schlotman:;860 units; $517,304; Ms. Barclay: 8,260 units; £806; Mr. Heldman: 12,3!
units; $467,695; and Mr. Ellis: 5,500 units; $2@5z

Performance units granted under the 2013 Long Tlegentive Plan are earned as of the last day oflffigear 2015, to the extt
performance goals are achieved. Because the aaegdsot currently determinable, the number of uaitd value as of fiscal yeanc
in the table reflect the probable outcome of sumhddions. The maximum number of units achievalrld the value of the maximt
number of units as of fiscal yeand if such maximum would be achieved are as falowr. Dillon: 74,645 units; $2,839,123; |
McMullen: 24,360 units; $926,533; Mr. Schlotman;860 units; $519,558; Ms. Barclay: 8,260 units; 4369; Mr. Heldman: 12,3!
units; $469,732; and Mr. Ellis: 6,340 units; $2421

OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

The following table provides the stock options ex®d and restricted stock vested during 2013, elsas common shares issued to
named executive officers pursuant to performandts amwarded under the 2011 Long Term Incentive Plan

2013 OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

Option Awards(1) Stock Awards(2)
Number of Number of
Shares Acquired Value Realized Shares Acquired Value Realized
on Exercise on Exercise on Vesting on Vesting
Name # ®) # (%)
David B. Dillon — — 162,14. $ 6,103,13
W. Rodney McMullen — — 69,41¢ $ 2,554,101
J. Michael Schlotman 57,25( $1,370,56° 21,38: $ 818,86¢
Kathleen S. Barclay — — 16,13t $ 624,65.
Paul W. Heldman 80,00( $1,940,20! 33,80¢ $ 1,242,36!
Michael L. Ellis 42,00( $ 890,22 15,98 $ 609,00(

1)
(2)

Options granted under our various I-term incentive plans have a -year life and expire if not exercised within that-year period
The Stock Awards columns of the table include tiliing two components

In 2011, executives were awarded performance uhiés are earned based on performance criteria lis$tatd by the Compensati
Committee at the beginning of the three year peréorce period. Actual payouts are based on the ddgravhich improvements ¢
achieved and are earned in Kroger common sharesntiimber of common shares issued and the valueaédlased on the closi
share price on March 13, 2014, the date of deeratidedy of the shares, are as follows: Mr. Dillgt®,630 common shares, $2,158,
value realized; Mr. McMullen: 16,002 common shaf&895,927 value realized; Mr. Schlotman: 7,987 camrshares, $347,355 va
realized; Ms. Barclay: 5,782 common shares, $2%1y#ue realized; Mr. Heldman: 7,595 common sh&$830,307 value realized; ¢
Mr. Ellis: 3,850 common shares; $167,437 valueizedl

The table also includes the number of shares aafjwin vesting and the value realized on the vestingstricted shares as follows: |
Dillon: 112,512 common shares, $3,944,725 valudizesy Mr. McMullen: 53,416 common shares, $1,838 Value realized; M
Schlotman: 13,396 common shares, $471,514 valuéeda Ms. Barclay: 10,353 common shares, $373,288ue realized; M
Heldman: 26,210 common shares, $912,053 valueeshland Mr. Ellis: 12,133 common shares, $441\&63e realized

39




PENSION BENEFITS
The following table provides information on penslmmnefits as of 2013 year-end for the named exexofficers.

2013 PENSION BENEFITS

Number Present Payments
of Years Value of During

Credited Accumulated Last Fiscal

Service Benefit Year

Name Plan Name #) (%) (%)

David B. Dillon The Kroger Consolidated Retirement Benefit Plan 18 $ 753,26¢ $0
The Kroger Co. Excess Benefit Plan 18 $9,736,25! $0

Dillon Companies, Inc. Excess Benefit Pension Plan 20 $8,211,30! $0

W. Rodney McMullel  The Kroger Consolidated Retirement Benefit Plan 28 $ 802,52¢ $0
The Kroger Co. Excess Benefit Plan 28 $6,579,95: $0

J. Michael Schlotma:  The Kroger Consolidated Retirement Benefit Plan 28 $ 899,19 $0
The Kroger Co. Excess Benefit Plan 28 $3,760,65' $0

Paul W. Heldman The Kroger Consolidated Retirement Benefit Plan 31 $1,346,41 $0
The Kroger Co. Excess Benefit Plan 31 $6,867,11 $0

Michael L. Ellis The Kroger Consolidated Retirement Benefit Plan 39 $ 90,30: $0
The Kroger Co. Excess Benefit Plan 39 $ 71,31 $0

Messrs. Dillon, McMullen, Schlotman, Heldman andisElparticipate in The Kroger Consolidated Retiraemdéenefit Plan (th
“Consolidated Plan™)which is a qualified defined benefit pension plahe Consolidated Plan generally determines accbee@fits using
cash balance formula, but retains benefit formalaglicable under prior plans for certain “grandéatid participantsivho were employed |
Kroger on December 31, 2000. Each of the abovedistamed executive officers, except for Mr. Elisseligible for these grandfathe:
benefits under the Consolidated Plan. Their bendfierefore, are determined using formulas applkcander prior plans, including the Kro
formula covering service to The Kroger Co. and Elidon Companies, Inc. Pension Plan formula cowgréervice to Dillon Companies, li
While Mr. Ellis is also a participant in the Consalted Plan, he is not a grandfathered participlaut,is a participant in the cash bale
formula.

Messrs. Dillon, McMullen, Schlotman, Heldman ands=hiso are eligible to receive benefits under Kineger Co. Excess Benefit Plan (
“Kroger Excess Plan)and Mr. Dillon is also eligible to receive benefitsder the Dillon Companies, Inc. Excess Benefitdtm Plan (th
“Dillon Excess Plan”). These plans are collectivedyerred to as the “Excess Plan§iie Excess Plans are each considered to be nofied
deferred compensation plans as defined in Sectd®f4f the Internal Revenue Code. The purpose efBkcess Plans is to make up
shortfall in retirement benefits caused by the tiitions on benefits to highly compensated indivisuander qualified plans in accordance \
the Internal Revenue Code.

Each of the above listed named executive officexsept for Mr. Ellis, will receive benefits undédretConsolidated Plan and the Exc
Plans, determined as follows:

o 1Y% times years of credited service multiplied ly &verage of the highest five years of total egs(base salary and annual bor
during the last ten calendar years of employmesduced by 1%9% timegears of credited service multiplied by the primancia
security benefit;

e normal retirement age is 65;

e unreduced benefits are payable beginning at agargé?;

e benefits payable between ages 55 and 62 will becestiby's of one percent for each of the figt months and by % of one percen
each of the next 60 months by which the commencenfdrenefits precedes age 62.
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Although participants generally receive credited/iee beginning at age 21, those participants wdraroenced employment prior to 19
including the above listed named executive officékesgan to accrue credited service after attainigg 25. In the event of a terminatior
employment, Mr. Schlotman currently is eligible foreduced early retirement benefit, as he hamattaage 55. Mr. Ellis, as a cash balz
participant in the Consolidated Plan, will recebanefits as an annual pay credit equal to 5% gitédi earnings with interest accruing daily
rate equal to the 30-year Treasury rate.

Mr. Dillon also participates in the Dillon Employ&eProfit Sharing Plan (the “Dillon Plan”)The Dillon Plan is a qualified defin
contribution plan under which Dillon Companies, .land its participating subsidiaries may choosenike discretionary contributions e
year that are then allocated to each partic’s account. Participation in the Dillon Plan was&o effective January 1, 2001. Benefits u
the Dillon Plan do not continue to accrue for Milld. Participants in the Dillon Plan elect frormang a number of investment options
the amounts in their accounts are invested anditeceavith investment earnings in accordance withirtlelections. Prior to July 1, 20!
participants could elect to make voluntary conttidms under the Dillon Plan, but that option wascdntinued effective as of July 1, 2C
Participants can elect to receive their Dillon Pi@mefit in the form of either a lump sum paymeaninstallment payments.

Due to offset formulas contained in the Consolidaé®an and the Dillon Excess Plan, Mr. Dillsrdccrued benefits under the Dillon F
offset a portion of the benefit that would othemveccrue for them under those plans for their seniith Dillon Companies, Inc. Althou
benefits that accrue under defined contributiomplare not reportable under the accompanying talddiave added narrative disclosure o
Dillon Plan because of the offsetting effect thahéfits under that plan has on benefits accruirdguthe Consolidated Plan and the Di
Excess Plan.

The assumptions used in calculating the presentesare set forth in Note 15 to the consolidatednitial statements in Kroger’s Form 10
K for fiscal year 2013 ended February 1, 2014. diseount rate used to determine the present vadu€99%, which is the same rate use
the measurement date for financial reporting pupos

NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION
The following table provides information on nongftiatl deferred compensation for the named execuffieers for 2013.

2013 NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Executive Registrant Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate

Contributions Contributions Earnings Withdrawals/ Balance at

in Last FY in Last FY in Last FY Distributions Last FYE

Name (%) (%) (%) (%) (%)

David B. Dillon $ 60,00((1) $0 $ 76,36 $0 $1,173,73,
W. Rodney McMullen $215,817(2) $0 $452,38¢ $0 $6,998,18:
J. Michael Schlotman $ 0 $0 $ 0 $0 $ 0
Paul W. Heldman $ 0 $0 $ 80,71: $0 $1,449,41.
Kathleen S. Barclay $ 0 $0 $ 0 $0 $ 0
Michael L. Ellis $ 0 $0 $ 33,80¢ $0 $ 584,76(

(1) This amount represents the deferral of performdrased annual bonus earned in fiscal year 2012 aiaddipp March 2013. This amot
is included in the Summary Compensation Table €dr22in footnote 4

(2) This amount represents the deferral of performdased annual bonus earned in fiscal year 2012 aiddipMarch 2013 in the amot
of $171,762 and deferral of lortgrm cash bonus earned during the 2010 through géd@rmance period and paid in March 2013 ir
amount of $44,055. These amounts are includedeistimmary Compensation Table for 2012 in footno

Eligible participants may elect to defer up to 1006%4he amount of their salary that exceeds the efithe FICA wage base and piee«
insurance and other Internal Revenue Code Secfiénplan deductions, as well as 100% of their anandl longterm bonus compensatit
Deferral account amounts are credited with
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interest at the rate representing Kroger's cogenfyear debt as determined by Kroge€EO and reviewed by the Compensation Comn
prior to the beginning of each deferral year. Thierest rate established for deferral amounts &ch edeferral year will be applied to th
deferral amounts for all subsequent years untildéferred compensation is paid out. Participantsetact to receive lump sum distribution:
quarterly installments for periods up to ten ye&atticipants also can elect between lump sumilgiigions and quarterly installments to
received by designated beneficiaries if the pandiot dies before distribution of deferred compéanrds completed.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The following table describes the fiscal year 2@b&hpensation for noamployee directors. Employee directors receive grapensatio

for their Board service.

2013 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Change in
Pension Value
and
Fees Nonqualified

Earned Non-Equity Deferred All

or Paid Stock Option Incentive Plan Compensatior Other

in Cash Awards Awards Compensatior Earnings Compensatior Total

Name %) %) $) $) ($) $) ($)
@ @ (12

Reuben V. Anderson $ 79,82¢ $165,01: $—(4) — $ 833(10) $ 18¢ $245,85¢
Robert D. Beyer $ 99,93t  $16501(3)  $—(4) — $6,664(11) $ 18¢ $271,79¢
Susan J. Kropf $ 89,79t  $16501(3)  $—(5) — N/A $ 18¢ $254,99¢
John T. LaMacchia (1) $ 72,51: $ 67,81 $—(7) — $ 45511) $3,55€(13) $144,34(
David B. Lewis $ 79,82: $165,01: $—(6) — N/A $ 18¢ $245,02!
Jorge P. Montoya $ 93,29¢  $165,01: $—(5) = N/A $ 18¢ $258,49¢
Clyde R. Moore $ 95,81 $165,01(3) $—(7) — $2,90((10) $ 18¢ $263,91!
Susan M. Phillips $89,79¢  $165,01: $—(8) — $2,217(11) $ 18¢ $257,20¢
Steven R. Rogel $ 79,82: $165,01: $—(4) — N/A $ 18¢ $245,02!
James A. Runde $ 93,29¢ $165,01: $—(6) — N/A $ 18¢ $258,49¢
Ronald L. Sargent $105,78: $165,01(3) $—(6) — $2,27¢(11) $ 18¢ $273,26:
Bobby S. Shackouls $105,62(  $165,01(3)  $—(9) = N/A $ 18¢ $270,82¢

(1) Mr. LaMacchia retired as a member of the Board ioé8ors on 12/12/1:

(2) These amounts represent the aggregate grant datalfee of awards computed in accordance with FASE Topic 718

3) Aggregate number of stock awards outstanding edlffigear end was 2,750 shat

4) Aggregate number of stock options outstandingsagafiyear end was 57,500 sha

(5) Aggregate number of stock options outstandingsagafiyear end was 37,500 sha

(6) Aggregate number of stock options outstandingsagafiyear end was 42,500 sha

@) Aggregate number of stock options outstandingsagafiyear end was 47,500 sha

(8) Aggregate number of stock options outstandingsaafiyear end was 46,500 sha

(9) Aggregate number of stock options outstandingsagafiyear end was 32,500 sha

(10) This amount reflects the change in pension valuehi® applicable directors. Only those directoectdd to the Board prior to July

1997 are eligible to participate in the outsidedior retirement plat

(11) This amount reflects preferential earnings on natifjed deferred compensation. For a complete exqilan of preferential earning

please refer to footnote 5 to the Summary Compemsaable.
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(12) This amount reflects the value of gift cards in #ineount of $75 and the cost to the Company pectiréor providing accidental de:
and dismemberment insurance coverage foreraptoyee directors in the amount of $114. Thesmjpnmas are paid on an annual b
in July.

(13) In connection with his retirement, Mr. LaMacchize®ed a gift valued at $867 and a charitable donatas given in his name in 1
amount of $2,50C

Effective August 1, 2013, each nemployee director receives an annual retainer 6f3E®. The chairs of each of the Audit Committed
the Compensation Committee receive an additionalianretainer of $20,000. The chair of each ofdtier committees receives an additit
annual retainer of $15,000. Each member of the tADdmmittee receives an additional annual retarie$10,000. The director designatet
the Lead Director receives an additional annuaimet of $25,000. Beginning in 2013, incentive slsarere issued to n@mployee directo
in lieu of options and restricted stock, as a portf the directors’ overall compensation. On Jily 2013, each noamployee director, exce
for Mr. LaMacchia, received 4,370 common shares. MMacchia received 1,796 common shares, as hascawas prorated as a result of
planned retirement.

Non-employee directors first elected prior to July 1997 receive a major medical plan benefit as wela unfunded retirement bene
The retirement benefit equals the average cash ensapion for the five calendar years precedingenient. Participants who retire from
Board prior to age 70 will be credited with 50% tueg after five years of service, and 10% for eadtitional year up to a maximum of 10(
Benefits for participants who retire prior to adgebegin at the later of actual retirement or age 65

We also maintain a deferred compensation plan,hitlwall nonemployee members of the Board are eligible to gigate. Participan
may defer up to 100% of their cash compensatioeyThay elect from either or both of the followirvgat alternative methods of determin
benefits:

e interest accrues until paid out at the rate ofregedetermined prior to the beginning of the delerear to represent Kroger’s cost of
ten-year debt; and

e amounts are credited in “phantom” stock accountsthe amounts in those accounts fluctuate wittptie of Kroger common shares.

In both cases, deferred amounts are paid out onbagsh, based on deferral options selected by dhticipants at the time the defe
elections are made. Participants can elect to lstebutions made in a lump sum or in quarterlgtaiments, and may make compar.
elections for designated beneficiaries who recbmemefits in the event that deferred compensatiorissompletely paid out upon the deat
the participant.

The Board has determined that compensation of ngiayee directors must be competitive on angomg basis to attract and ret
directors who meet the qualifications for servicekooger’'s Board. Noremployee director compensation will be reviewedrfitime to time &
the Corporate Governance Committee deems apprepriat

POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL

Kroger has no employment agreements with its naexedutive officers and no contracts, agreemensspbr arrangements that proy
for payments to the named executive officers inneation with resignation, severance, retirememtitgation, or change in control, except
those available generally to salaried employees. Ritoger Co. Employee Protection Plan, or KEPPJieppo all management employees
administrative support personnel who are not calidre a collective bargaining agreement, with aseane year of service, and provi
severance benefits when a participar@mployment is terminated actually or construtyiwveithin two years following a change in contrd
Kroger. The actual amount is dependent on pay lewvelyears of service. For purposes of KEPP, agehamcontrol occurs if:

e any person or entity (excluding Kroger's employeedfit plans) acquires 20% or more of the voting/@oof Kroger;

e a merger, consolidation, share exchange, divigionther reorganization or transaction with Krogesults in Kroger’s voting securities
existing prior to that event representing less #@¥% of the combined voting power immediately after event;
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e Kroger's shareholders approve a plan of completgdiation or winding up of Kroger or an agreemientthe sale or disposition of all
substantially all of Kroger's assets; or

e during any period of 24 consecutive months, indigid at the beginning of the period who constitutedger’s Board of Directol
cease for any reason to constitute at least a ityagrthe Board of Directors.

Assuming that a change in control occurredtlon last day of Kroges' fiscal year 2013, and the named executive offitexd the
employment terminated, they would receive a maxinp@yment, or, in the case of group term life inaaea a benefit having a cost to Kroi
in the amounts shown below:

Accrued
Additional and Group

Severance Vacation and Banked Term Life Tuition Outplacement
Name Benefit Bonus Vacation Insurance Reimbursemen Reimbursemen

David B. Dillon $4,958,44 $107,36¢  $776,64!( $32 $5,000 $10,000
W. Rodney McMullen $3,458,46 $ 73,13.  $592,44¢ $32 $5,000 $10,000

J. Michael Schlotman $2,187,02 $ 40,36¢  $423,74 $32 $5,000 $10,000
Kathleen S. Barclay $2,204,31 $ 41,22 $ 66,03( $32 $5,000 $10,000

Paul W. Heldman $2,375,51 $ 42,047  $222,78( $32 $5,000 $10,000
Michael L. Ellis $1,654,63 $ 29,16¢ $ 93,38¢ $32 $5,000 $10,000

Each of the named executive officers also is eutitb continuation of health care coverage foraup4 months at the same contribution
as existed prior to the change in control. The t@3$troger cannot be calculated, as Kroger selfines the health care benefit and the cc
based on the health care services utilized by dinecfpant and eligible dependents.

Under the KEPP benefits will be reduced, to themrixhecessary, so that payments to an executiiepffill in no event exceed 2.99 tin
the officer's average W-2 earnings over the preagflive years.

Kroger's change in control benefits under KEPP and undeiitye compensation awards are discussed furthethén Compensatic
Discussion and Analysis section under the “Retiretra@d Other Benefits” heading.

COMPENSATION POLICIES AS THEY RELATE TO RISK MANAGEMENT

Kroger's compensation policies and practices for its eygde are designed to attract and retain highlyifiprchland engaged employe
and to minimize risks that would have a materialeaise effect on Kroger. One of these policiesekecutive compensation recoupment po
is more particularly described in the Compensafiiscussion and Analysis. Kroger does not beliewva its compensation policies ¢
practices create risks that are reasonably likelyalve a material adverse effect on Kroger.
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BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF COMMON STOCK

The following table sets forth the common elsabbeneficially owned as of February 14, 2014 bydér's directors, the named execu
officers, and the directors and executive officegssa group. The percentage of ownership is baseésll »©53,904 of the Company comr
shares outstanding on February 14, 2014. Exceptheswise noted, each beneficial owner listed & tible has sole voting and investn

power with regard to the common shares benefic@alymed by such owner.

Amount and Nature

of

Name Beneficial Ownership

Reuben V. Anderson 109,49((1)
Kathleen S. Barclay 119,81((2)
Robert D. Beyer 151,63°(1)
David B. Dillon 2,587,84/(2)(3)(4)(5
Michael L. Ellis 240,00(2)(3)
Paul W. Heldman 365,78{(2)(3)(6)
Susan J. Kropf 54,12((7)
David B. Lewis 70,6248)
W. Rodney McMullen 1,440,73(2)(3)
Jorge P. Montoya 44,7247)
Clyde R. Moore 88,12((9)
Susan M. Phillips 85,21((10)
Steven R. Rogel 98,85(1)
James A. Runde 62,62((8)
Ronald L. Sargent 61,62((8)
J. Michael Schlotman 290,01:(2)(3)(5)
Bobby S. Shackouls 59,12((11)
Directors and Executive Officers as a group (2%pes,

including those named above) 7,322,24(2)(3)

No director or officer owned as much as 1% of themmon shares of Kroger. The directors and execuiifieers as a group beneficia

owned 1% of the common shares of Kroger.

(1)

(2)

3)

(4)
()

(6)
(7)

This amount includes 44,500 shares that represiung that are or become exercisable on or be&Spré 15, 2014.

This amount includes shares that represent optiaisare or become exercisable on or before April2D14, in the following amoun
Ms. Barclay, 59,824; Mr. Dillon, 1,476,156; Mr. Bl196,200; Mr. Heldman, 140,240; Mr. McMullen, 4864; Mr. Schlotman, 120,1¢
and all directors and executive officers as a gr8u3,321

The fractional interest resulting from allocais under Kroges' defined contribution plans has been rounded ¢ontarest who
number.

This amount includes 307,392 shares held in timstglr. Dillon’s wife. Mr. Dillon disclaims beneficial ownershipthese share:

This amount includes Kroger common shares thapladged as security in the following amounts: Mitldd, 206,020 shares pledgec
security for bank loans; and Mr. Schlotman, 25,808res pledged as security for bank lo

This amount includes 41,842 shares held in Mr. kel s family trust. Mr. Heldman disclaims beneficial mavship of these share
This amount includes 24,500 shares that represiung that are or become exercisable on or be&Spré 15, 2014.
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(8) This amount includes 29,500 shares that repreggians that are or become exercisable on or be&fpré 15, 2014.
(9) This amount includes 34,500 shares that repressians that are or become exercisable on or be&fpré 15, 2014.
(10) This amount includes 33,500 shares that repreggians that are or become exercisable on or be&fpré 15, 2014.
(11) This amount includes 19,500 shares that repressians that are or become exercisable on or be&Spré 15, 2014.

As of February 14, 2014, the following reported éfeial ownership of Kroger common shares basedeports on Schedule 13G filed w
the Securities and Exchange Commission or othehlelinformation as follows:

Amount and

Nature of Percentag¢

Name Address of Beneficial Owne Ownership of Class

BlackRock, Inc. (1) 40 East 529 Street 38,359,17 7.40%
New York, NY 1002z

FMR LLC (2) 245 Summer Street 37,604,84 7.28%

Boston, MA 02210
The Kroger Co. Savings Plan 1014 Vine Street 26,231,41(3) 5.12%

Cincinnati, OH 45202

(1) Reflects beneficial ownership by BlackRock Inc..ca®ecember 31, 2013, as reported on Amendmen#No.the Schedule 13G fil
with the SEC on January 29, 2014, and reports\satiag power with respect to 31,511,599 common ehand sole dispositive pov
with respect to 38,359,173 common sha

(2) Reflects beneficial ownership by FMR LLC, as of BPeber 31, 2013, as reported on Schedule 13G filédthhe SEC on February :
2014 (the “FMR 13G")and reports sole voting power with respect to 1,33F common shares and sole dispositive power ieipec
to 37,604,848 common shares. The FMR 13G repomeflogal ownership of common shares by Fidelity Mgement & Resear
Company, Edward C. Johnson 3d, FMR LLC, FidelityeSio, LLC, SelectCo Funds, Fidelity ManagemenistiCompany, Strate(
Advisors, Inc., Pyramis Global Advisors, LLC, Pyian&lobal Advisors Trust Company and FIL LimitecheTvoting and investme
power of the various holders with respect to themgamon shares is set forth in the FMR 1

(3) Shares beneficially owned by plan trustees foibigreefit of participants in employee benefit pl

SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of41@Rjuires our officers and directors, and persdms own more than 10% of a registe
class of our equity securities, to file reportsosfnership and changes in ownership with the Seesrand Exchange Commission. Tt
officers, directors and shareholders are requise8BC regulation to furnish us with copies of atc8on 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely on our review of the copies of Forman8 4 received by Kroger, and any written repriegems from certain reportii
persons that no Forms 5 were required for thossoper we believe that during fiscal year 2013kl requirements applicable to our office
directors and 10% beneficial owners were timelyséat, with the following exceptions. In March Z)XKathleen S. Barclay, Robert W. Clz
Geoffrey J. Covert, David B. Dillon, Michael J. Dally, Kevin M. Dougherty, Michael L. Ellis, Paul WHeldman, Scott M. Henders:
Christopher T. Hjelm, Calvin J. Kaufman, Lynn Mamné/. Rodney McMullen, M. Marnette Perry, J. Mich&ehlotman, Mary Elizabeth V.
Oflen, and R. Pete Williams were 2 days late
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in the filing of Forms 4 to report (i) share awardsder Company performance unit agreements, andi(h the exception of Mr. McMulle
share dispositions for tax liability related tocsahare awards; due to an administrative errohmbyGompany. Also, in March 2013, Mark
Tuffin filed a Form 5 to report 4,000 shares heieddtly that inadvertently were not reported on lRegm 3 filing and a subsequent Form
and Form 4 filing.

RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Under ourStatement of Policy with Respect to Related Pelsansactionsand the rules of the SEC, the Audit Committee apgaothe
following related party transaction:

e During fiscal year 2013, Kroger made purchases fi®mples, Inc., totaling approximately $10 milliohhis amount represel
substantially less than 2% of Staples’ annual clistestied gross revenue. Krogeeriodically employs a bidding process or negatiz
following a benchmarking of costs of produfitsm various vendors for the items purchased fraap®s and awards the business b
on the results of that process. Ronald L. Sargentember of Kroger's Board of Directors, is Chaimaand ChiefExecutive Officer ¢
Staples.

Director independence is discussed above undenghding “Information Concerning the Board of Dimrst” Krogers policy on relate
person transactions is as follows:

STATEMENT OF PoLicy
WITH RESPECTTO
RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

A. INTRODUCTION

It is the policy of Kroges Board of Directors that any Related Person Tisamay be consummated or may continue only &
Committee approves or ratifies the transactioncitoedance with the guidelines set forth in thisiggolThe Board of Directors has determi
that the Audit Committee of the Board is best suitereview and approve Related Person Transactions

For the purposes of this policy, a “Related Perssn”

1. any person who is, or at any time since the beg@oif Krogers last fiscal year was, a director or executivéceffof Kroger or
nominee to become a director of Krog

2. any person who is known to be the beneficial ovafenore than 5% of any class of Kro’s voting securities; ar

3. any immediate family member of any of the foregopsgsons, which means any child, stepchild, pastapparent, spouse, sibli
mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughteflaw, brother-in-law, or sister-itaw of the director, executive officer, nominet
more than 5% beneficial owner, and any person fdtien a tenant or employee) sharing the housetfofdich director, executi
officer, nominee or more than 5% beneficial owi

For the purposes of this policy, a “Related Per$omnsaction”is a transaction, arrangement or relationship (or series of simil
transactions, arrangements or relationships) dimedeginning of Kroges' last fiscal year in which Kroger (including anfyits subsidiaries
was, is or will be a participant and the amounbiwed exceeds $120,000, and in which any RelatesoRenad, has or will have a direc
indirect material interest (other than solely asslt of being a director or a less than 10 pdrbeneficial owner of another entity).
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Audit Committess reviewed the following types of transactiond has determined that each typ
transaction is deemed to be pre-approved, evése ifinount involved exceeds $120,000.

1. Certain Transactions with Other Companie&ny transaction for property or services in thdioary course of business involv
payments to or from another company at which atBdlRersors only relationship is as an employee (includingrecutive officer
director, or beneficial owner of less than 10%tadttcompanys shares, if the aggregate amount involved in &uoalf year does n
exceed the greater of $1,000,000 or 2 percentadfctbmpan’s annual consolidated gross reven

2. Certain Company Charitable Contributiony charitable contribution, grant or endowmewytdsoger (or one of its foundations) t
charitable organization, foundation, universityotiner not for profit organization at which a Rethigersors only relationship is as
employee (including an executive officer) or asireator, if the aggregate amount involved doeseaateed $250,000 or 5 perct
whichever is lesser, of the charitable organizis latest publicly available annual consolidatedsgn@venues

3. Transactions where all Shareholders Receivedtiopal Benefits Any transaction where the Related Persdnterest arises sol¢
from the ownership of Kroger common stock and altlers of Kroger common stock received the samefiteon a pro rata basi

4. Executive Officer and Director Compensatiofa) Any employment by Kroger of an executive a#fi if the executive offices’
compensation is required to be reported in Krageroxy statement, (b) any employment by Krogeamwfexecutive officer if tt
executive officer is not an immediate family memhbsr a Related Person and the Compensation Commépgeoved (c
recommended that the Board approve) the execufifieeds compensation, and (c) any compensation paid diregtor if the
compensation is required to be reported in Kr's proxy statemen

5. Other Transactionga) Any transaction involving a Related Persorergtthe rates or charges involved are determinembhbypetitive
bids, (b) any transaction with a Related Persoolinng the rendering of services as a common otrashcarrier, or public utility, .
rates or charges fixed in conformity with law ovgmental authority, or (c) any transaction witRelated Person involving servii
as a bank depositary of funds, transfer agentstragj trustee under a trust indenture or simeavises.

B. AubitT COMMITTEE APPROVAL

In the event management becomes aware of afatd® Person Transactions that are not deemedppreved under paragraph A of
policy, those transactions will be presented toGleenmittee for approval at the next regular Conemittneeting, or where it is not practici
or desirable to wait until the next regular Comegttmeeting, to the Chair of the Committee (who widksess delegated authority to
between Committee meetings) subject to ratificatignthe Committee at its next regular meeting.d¥ance approval of a Related Pel
Transaction is not feasible, then the Related Pefsansaction will be presented to the Committeedtfication at the next regular Commit
meeting, or where it is not practicable or desiatdl wait until the next regular Committee meetitg,the Chair of the Committee
ratification, subject to further ratification byelfCommittee at its next regular meeting.

In connection with each regular Committee meetsngummary of each new Related Person Transactemett preapproved pursuant
paragraphs A(1) and A(2) above will be providedht® Committee for its review.

If a Related Person Transaction will be ongoing, @ommittee may establish guidelines for manageneefatiow in its ongoing dealin
with the Related Person. Thereafter, the Committeeat least an annual basis, will review and aseaegoing relationships with the Rele
Person to see that they are in compliance wittfCitiamittee’s guidelines and that the Related Pefsansaction remains appropriate.
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The Committee (or the Chair) will approve only tedelated Person Transactions that are in, or@ranconsistent with, the best intere
of Kroger and its shareholders, as the Committe¢h@Chair) determines in good faith in accordanitk its business judgment.

No director will participate in any discussion grpaoval of a Related Person Transaction for whiehoh she, or an immediate fan
member (as defined above), is a Related Personpexiat the director will provide all material imfoation about the Related Per
Transaction to the Committee.

C. DISCLOSURE

Kroger will disclose all Related Person TransadionKrogers applicable filings as required by the Securifies of 1933, the Securiti
Exchange Act of 1934 and related rules.

AuUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The primary function of the Audit Committee is tepresent and assist the Board of Directors inlliali its oversight responsibiliti
regarding the Company’s financial reporting andoacting practices including the integrity of the Mjmanys financial statements; 1
Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory remuents; the independent public accountanigalifications and independence;
performance of the Companyinternal audit function and independent publiccantants; and the preparation of this report 8&€ rule
require be included in the Compasynnual proxy statement. The Audit Committee paréothis work pursuant to a written charter appd
by the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee deamost recently was revised during fiscal 201@ isravailable on the Compasywebsit
at ir.kroger.com. The Audit Committee has impleneerrocedures to assist it during the course df éacal year in devoting the attention 1
is necessary and appropriate to each of the matssigned to it under the Committeeharter. The Audit Committee held five meetingsrty
fiscal year 2013. The Audit Committee meets sepfratith the Company’s internal auditor and PriceavaouseCoopers LLP, the Company’
independent public accountants, without managempragent, to discuss the results of their auditsy #avaluations of the Compasyinterna
controls over financial reporting, and the ovecplhlity of the Company financial reporting. The Audit Committee also tsegeparately wii
the Companys Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel wheaded. Following these separate discussions, tldé& £ommittee meets
executive session.

Management of the Company is responsible for tlepamation and presentation of the Company’s firdrstatements, the Compasy’
accounting and financial reporting principles antkiinal controls, and procedures that are desitmgdovide reasonable assurance rega
compliance with accounting standards and applicktvs and regulations. The independent public ati@mis are responsible for auditing
Company’s financial statements and expressing opias to the financial statemerdshformity with generally accepted accounting piples
and the effectiveness of the Company’s internatrebover financial reporting.

In the performance of its oversight function, theudk Committee has reviewed and discussed with gemant an
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP the audited financiatestents for the year ended February 1, 2014, reamagts assessment of 1
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlrdugancial reporting as of February 1, 2014, amddé®vaterhouseCoopersvaluation of th
Companys internal control over financial reporting as bat date. The Audit Committee has also discusseld thie independent pub
accountants the matters that the independent patdicuntants must communicate to the Audit Committeder applicable requirements of
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board.

With respect to the Comparsy’ independent public accountants, the Audit Conemjttamong other things, discussed
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP matters relating tindependence and has received the written dis@ssamd the letter from the indepent
public accountants required by applicable requirgsef the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bogrgarding the independent pu
accountantstommunications with the Audit Committee concernimgependence. The Audit Committee has reviewedappdoved in advan
all services provided to the Company by PricewateskCoopers LLP.

The Audit Committee annually reviews Pricewaterilsopers LLPS independence and performance in connection iigh Audi
Committee’s responsibility for the appointment aonersight of the Company’ independent public accountants. The Audit Conea
considers, among other things, PricewaterhouseCsdpd>’s historical and recent performance on tleen@anys audit, including an interr
survey of their service
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quality by members of management and the Audit Citeen The Audit Committee reviews recent Publiaany Accounting Oversig
Board reports on PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP angea&s firms, and considers PricewaterhouseCoopkeRssLtenure as the Company’
independent public accountants and their familiasitth our operations, businesses, accounting j{gsliand practices and internal control «
financial reporting. Further, in conjunction wittet mandated rotation of the public accountae@d engagement partner, the Audit Comm
is directly involved in the selection of PricewdtteuseCoopers LLB’lead engagement partner every five years. Thét Qammittee believe
that the continued retention of Pricewaterhouse@mopLP to serve as the Compamindependent public accountants is in the bestests ¢
the Company and its shareowners.

Based upon the review and discussions describ#tsimeport, the Audit Committee recommended toBbard of Directors that the audi
consolidated financial statements be included énGbmpany’s Annual Report on Form K(fer the year ended February 1, 2014, as filedh
the SEC.

This report is submitted by the Audit Committee.

Ronald L. Sargent, Chair
Susan J. Kropf

Susan M. Phillips

Bobby S. Shackouls

APPROVAL OF THE 2014 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE AND CASH BoNus PLAN
(ITem No. 2)

The Board of Directors has adopted, subject toediwdder approval, The Kroger Co. 2014 Lohgrm Incentive and Cash Bonus F
(“Plan”) for which a maximum of 25,000,000 shares are reskrVhe purpose of the Plan is to assist in attrg@tnd retaining employees ¢
directors of outstanding ability and to align thieiterests with those of the shareholders of Krofeapproved, the Plan will be effective a:
June 26, 2014.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN

General.The Plan consists of two separate equity-based@mug the Insider Program and the Nosider Program. Officers and direct
of Kroger subject to Section 16(a) of the Secuwsifiexchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Acite eligible for grants or awards under
Insider Program while all other employees of Krogeg eligible for grants or awards under the Nusider Program. As of the date of !
proxy statement, 29 employees and directors aggbkdi to participate in the Insider Program and thmaining approximately 375,0
employees of Kroger are eligible to participatetia Non-Insider Program. In addition, the Plan pdes for a performanceased Cash Bon
Program in which all 375,000 employees are eligioleparticipate. Shareholders last approved a ainglan, providing for issuance o
maximum of 25,000,000 shares, at the annual meefirghareholders held in June 2011. Kroger intdodshares under these plans tc
sufficient for grants and awards made in the omjim@urse for a period of three to four years. @mtimay not be issued below the fair me
value of a Kroger common share on the date of thetgOptions and stock appreciation rights mayb®otepriced.

Administration.The Insider Program will be administered by a cotteniof the Board of Directors that meets the stetwlof Rule 16b-3
(d)(2) under the Exchange Act and initially will tee Compensation Committee of the Board of Dine;tmade up exclusively of indepenc
directors. The Nornsider Program will be administered by a committdethree officers appointed by the Chief ExecutWéficer, the
members of which are ineligible to receive gramtsawards under the Ndmsider Program. The administering committee inheaase i
referred to as the “CommitteeThe Cash Bonus Program will be administered byGbmmittee under the Insider Program. The Planaftet
to maintain the maximum amount of flexibility withe Committee determining the ultimate provisiofisach grant or award.

The Committee is authorized to award or grant radogiry stock options, stock appreciation rightsfgrmance units, restricted stock
incentive shares to participants under the Indttegram and the Non-Insider Program, and to awarbpnancebased cash bonuses undel
Cash Bonus Program. The Committee will determireetfipes and amounts of awards or grants, the estipiof awards or grants, ves!
schedules, restrictions, performance criteria, @her provisions of the grants or awards. All ofgé provisions will be set forth in a writ
instrument.
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In addition to other rights of indemnification theyay have as directors or employees of Kroger, neesbf the Committee will |
indemnified by Kroger for reasonable expenses imcliin connection with defense of any action brawgainst them by reason of action te
or failure to act under or in connection with tHarPor any grant or award thereunder, if the membeted in good faith and in a manner
they believed to be in the best interest of Kroger.

The Board of Directors may terminate or amend tla@ Rt any time without shareholder approval, ekteat it may not amend the P
without shareholder approval if required by apglealaw, regulations, or rules of the principal leange or interdealer quotation systen
which Krogers common shares are listed or quoted. Unless eteliminated by the Board of Directors, the Plafl terminate on March 1
2024. Termination of the Plan will have no effenttbe validity of any options, stock appreciatiaghts, performance units, restricted stoc
incentive shares outstanding on the date of teitioima

Unless otherwise provided in the agreement, awards grants will not be transferable other than bl ov the laws of descent a
distribution.

Shares Subject to Grartinder the Plan, up to 25,000,000 authorized butsugid or reacquired common shares may be issuedtig
exercise of stock options, stock appreciation ggperformance units, or awarded as restrictedkstoéncentive shares. In no event may
participant receive awards and grants totaling ntlbae 3,750,000 common shares in the aggregate tineld’lan. The maximum numbel
shares that may be issued as restricted stockytiveeshares, or performance units under the Rld®j000,000 in the aggregate. However
Committee under the Insider Program may increasentimber, but for each share issued for such parpoexcess of 10,000,000, the nur
of shares that may be issued under the Plan wilkeced by four shares.

If an option, stock appreciation right, or performa unit expires or terminates without having beély issued, or if restricted stock
incentive shares are not issued or are forfeitéar po the payment of a dividend on those sharea participant, the shares not exerci
unissued or forfeited, as the case may be, wilegaly become available for other grants or awarrter the Plan.

Stock OptionsNonstatutory stock options granted under the Pldinhave exercise prices not less than the greaftéine fair market valt
per common share or the par value of a common shasgm of not more than 10 years after the daggant, and may not be exercised be
six months from the date of grant. The Plan prakilihe “repricing”of stock options. Subject to the terms of the Pliwe, Committe
determines the vesting schedule and other term&amditions applicable to stock options grante@rntloyees. In recent years, option gr
generally have not become exercisable earlier tmenyear from the date of grant. An eligible p@pant may receive more than one grar
options.

The Committee may in its discretion provide for fh@yment of the option exercise price otherwisa timacash, including by delivery
common shares, valued at their fair market valutherdate of exercise, or by a combination of watsh and common shares.

Stock Appreciation Right&tock appreciation rights may be granted in conoeatith the grant of a nonstatutory option undss Pla
(“related rights”). In the Committeg’sole discretion, a related right may apply tooala portion of the common shares subject to éfeter
option. Stock appreciation rights may also be gramtdependently of any option granted under tla@ PA stock appreciation right entitles
grantee upon exercise to elect to receive in casmmon shares or a combination thereof, the excke#ise fair market value of a specif
number of common shares at the time of exercise tineefair market value of such number of sharethattime of grant, or, in the case «
related right, the exercise price provided in thiated option. To the extent required to complyhvifte requirements of Rule 1@bunder th
Exchange Act or otherwise provided in an agreemeder the Plan, the Committee will have sole dismneto consent to or disapprove
election of any grantee to receive cash in fulpartial settlement of a right. A stock appreciatiht generally will not be exercisable unti
least six months from the date of grant and wiltdha term of not more than ten years from the datgant (or, in the case of a related ri
not beyond the expiration of the related optiorije Plan prohibits the “repricing” of stock appréidia rights.
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Performance UnitsPerformance units may be granted in connection thighgrant of a nonstatutory stock option underRlan (‘telatec
performance unit”). In the CommitteeSole discretion, a related performance unit npgofyeto all or a portion of the common shares scibje
the related option. Performance units may alsorbatgd independently of any option granted underRlan. In connection with the gran
performance units, the Committee will establishféranance Goals (as defined below) for a specifiexioal.

Upon the exercise of performance units, or autaralyi upon satisfaction of the performance goalsetsforth in an agreement for
performance units, a grantee will be entitled teiee the payment of such units in accordance thighterms of the award in common she
cash, or a combination thereof, as the Committeg dedermine. The values generally will depend ugfnextent to which the performai
goals for the specified period have been satistisddetermined by the Committee. Performance guoals be particular to a grantee or
department, branch, subsidiary or other unit inclwtthe grantee works, or may be based on the peafce of Kroger generally and may cc
such periods as may be specified by the Commieepurposes of the Plan, “Performance Goalsans performance goals established b
Committee which may be based on (i) earnings ariegs per share of Kroger, a unit of Kroger, origiested projects; (ii) total sales, ident
sales, or comparable sales of Kroger, a unit ofgrpor designated projects; (iii) cash flow; (@gsh flow from operations; (v) operating pr
or income; (vi) net income; (vii) operating marg{miii) net income margin; (ix) return on net assgix) economic value added; (xi) return
total assets; (xii) return on common equity; (xigturnon total or invested capital; (xiv) total shareleldeturn; (xv) revenue; (xvi) rever
growth; (xvii) earnings before interest, taxes, efation and amortization (“EBITDA”);x{iii) EBITDA growth; (xix) funds from operatiot
per share and per share growth; (xx) cash avaifabldistribution; (xxi) cash available for disttition per share and per share growth; (:
share price performance on an absolute basis &til/ecto an index of earnings per share or impnosets in Kroges attainment of expen
levels; (xxiii) reduction in operating costs asexqentage of sales; (xxiv) performance in key aateg; (xxv) implementing or completion
strategic initiatives or critical projects; and YXxkey category performance as measured by thétsesf surveys of customers or associate
any other objective goals established by the Cotemitand may be absolute in their terms or measagethst or in relationship to otl
companies similarly or otherwise situated. Perfaroeaunits may be exercised only upon the achievemweminimum Performance Goi
during the period as determined by the Committée. Committee will determine the period during whiehformance units are exercisable
specifically set forth such period in any agreengganting performance units to a participant inBthen, provided, however, that a perform
unit generally may not be exercised until the eaqoin of at least six months from the date of gr&etrformance units will expire no later tl
ten years from the date of grant (or in the case reflated performance unit, the expiration ofrédated option). Any performance units pai
the form of cash are deemed to be paid in commareshwith the number of shares being deemed paidl ¢o the amount of cash paid to
employee divided by the fair market value of a camrahare on the date of payment.

Restricted StockThe Committee may award restricted stock to paicis. The stock will be subject to forfeiture, triefons or
transferability, and other restrictions as spedifie the agreement. The Committee has authoritsnpmse other terms and conditions as it
determine in its discretion including making thestueg of awards contingent on the achievement diobReance Goals. During the period th
restricted stock award is subject to restricti@msemployee has the right to vote the shares amiveedividends.

Incentive SharesThe Committee may grant incentive shares to ppgits. Incentive share awards will consist of comrslaares issued
to be issued at such times, subject to achieveofesuch Performance Goals or other goals, or witlsondition, and on such other terms
conditions as the Committee deems appropriate p@&cifees in an agreement relating thereto.

Cash Bonusestwo types of bonuses can be awarded under the Baishs Program; an annual bonus award for eachl fygza, and
long-term bonus award for measurement periods gesxof one year. Bonus payments are based on iKsquerformance measured agé
Performance Goals established by the Committee Cidmmittee establishes a bonus “potentiat’each bonus payable under the Cash B
Program for each participant, based on the paattip level within Kroger, and actual payouts camesd that amount when Kroger’
performance exceeds the mstablished thresholds. Initially the Performan@al for annual bonuses will include the followicmmponent:
(i) EBITDA,; (i) identical sales; (iii) achievement
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of strategic initiatives; and (iv) achievement apermarket fuel center goals for EBITDA, gallon&dsand number of fuel centers. Initially
Performance Goals for long-term bonuses will ineldle following components: (i) performance in féwey categories in Kroges'strategi
plan, (ii) reduction in operating costs as a petag® of sales, (iii) performance in categoriesglesil to measure associate engagement, ai
return on invested capital. No single Cash Bonus participant may exceed $5,000,000.

CERTAIN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

Nonstatutory Stock Options, Stock Appreciation ®ighnd Performance Unit#\ grantee will not recognize income on the grants
nonstatutory stock option, stock appreciation righperformance unit, but generally will recogn@elinary income upon the exercise thet
The amount of income recognized upon the exerdisenmnstatutory stock option generally will be s@e@d by the excess, if any, of the
market value of the shares at the time of exemiss the exercise price, provided the shares isaveceither transferable or not subject
substantial risk of forfeiture. The amount of inanecognized upon the exercise of a stock appreciagght or a performance unit, in gene
will be equal to the amount of cash received ardfélir market value of any shares received atithe bf exercise, provided the shares is:
are either transferable or not subject to a subiatatisk of forfeiture, plus the amount of any éaxwithheld. Under certain circumstan
income on the exercise of a performance unit velldeferred if the grantee makes a proper electiasefer such income. In some case:
recognition of income by a grantee from the exerciba performance unit may be delayed for uptansdnths if a sale of the shares wc
subject the grantee to suit under Section 16(lih@fExchange Act unless the grantee elects to riem®dcome at the time of receipt of s
shares. In either case, the amount of income rézedns measured with respect to the fair mark&tesaf the common stock at the time
income is recognized.

In the case of ordinary income recognized by atgeas described above in connection with the eseenf a nonstatutory stock optior
stock appreciation right, or a performance unitod@r will be entitled to a deduction in the amoahbrdinary income so recognized by
grantee. Kroger will report the income to be redpgd by grantee and will withhold the appropriatess.

Incentive Shares and Restricted Staklgrantee of incentive shares or restricted stgakat required to include the value of such shan
ordinary income until the first time the granteeights in the shares are transferable or aresubject to a substantial risk of forfeitt
whichever occurs earlier, unless the grantee etedis taxed on receipt of the shares. In eithse,céhe amount of such income will be equ
the excess of the fair market value of the stodkatime the income is recognized over the ampait for the stock. Kroger will be entitled
a deduction in the amount of the ordinary incomeogmized by the grantee for Krogertaxable year which includes the last day o
grantees$ taxable year in which such grantee recognizemtiane. Kroger will report the income to be redagd by grantee and will withhc
the appropriate taxes.

General.The rules governing the tax treatment of optiotslsappreciation rights, performance units, incenshares and restricted st
and stock acquired upon the exercise of optionsksappreciation rights and performance units aredechnical, so that the above descrif
of tax consequences is necessarily general in@atnuo does not purport to be complete. Moreovattry provisions are, of course, subje:
change, as are their interpretations, and theiliggiipn may vary in individual circumstances. Hipathe tax consequences under applic
state law may not be the same as under the fedemhe tax laws.

Tax Deductibility CapSection 162(m) of the Code provides that certaimmensation received in any year by a “covered eyegbin
excess of $1,000,000 is ndeductible by Kroger for federal income tax purmos8ection 162(m) provides an exception, howeva
“performance-based compensatiomd the extent practicable under the circumstartbesCommittee currently intends to structure graami
awards made under the Plan to “covered employeepedormance-based compensation that is exempt $ection 162(m).

This summary of the 2014 Lonferm Incentive and Cash Bonus Plan is qualifiedsirentirety by the complete text of the Plan tisade
forth in Appendix 1 of this Proxy Statement.
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EXISTING PLANS

As of our fiscal year ended February 1, 2014, theeee 16,171,099 shares remaining for future isseiamder existing equity compensa
plans. Of these shares, 5,103,640 were availablavi@rds other than options or stock appreciatights. Under some of these plans,
sublimit on full value shares can be increased dégrehsing by four the total number of shares idsuatder the plan for each such incre:i
share.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR THIS PROPOSAL.

NEw PLAN BENEFITS

2014 Long-Term Incentive

and Cash Bonus Plan

Name and Position (1) Dollar value ($) Number of Units

All Groups Q) Q)

(1)

T

Awards under the 2014 Lonferm Incentive and Cash Bonus Plan are subjedtealiscretion of the Compensation Committee
committee of officers, as applicable. It is not §ible to determine the benefits that will be reedi\by executive officers and otl
employees if the plan is approved by shareholddease refer to the Grants of PRased Awards table for disclosure of equity aw
made to our named executive officers in fiscal 2!

EQuiTy COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

he following table provides information rediang shares outstanding and available for issuamzer the Companyg’ existing equit

compensation plans.

(@)
Number of
securities
to be issued

upon exercise of

outstanding options,

warrants and rights

(c)
Number of securities
(b) remaining for future
Weightedaverage issuance under equity
exercise price of compensation pl&
outstanding (excluding securigs

options, warrants reflected in column

1) and rights @)(2)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 22,863,44 $25.6¢ 16,171,09
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders — $ — —
Total 22,863,44 $25.6¢ 16,171,09
(1) The total number of securities reported includes thaximum number of common shares, 1,189,345, it be issued unc

(2)

performance units granted under one or more teng- incentive plans. The nature of the awards ésenparticularly described in t
Equity section of the Compensation Discussion amalysis. The weightedverage exercise price in column (b) does not thkst
performance unit awards into account. Based omiiiistl data, or in the case of the award made Il2dnhd earned in 2013, the ac
payout percentage, the Companpest estimate of the number of securities thktheiissued under the performance unit agreenis
approximately 752,13¢

The plans include initial limitations on the numlzérshares that can be issued as incentive shamestoicted stock. The Company n
increase this amount by decreasing the total nurabsecurities that can be issued by four for estokk share issued in excess of
stated initial limitation
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ADVISORY VOTE ON ExXeEcuTivE COMPENSATION
(ITem No. 3)

The Dodd-rank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protectiofy é&macted in July 2010, requires that we giveshareholders the right
approve, on a nonbinding, advisory basis, the cosgton of our named executive officers as disclosarlier in this proxy statement
accordance with the SEC’s rules.

As discussed earlier in o@ompensation Discussion and Analysiair compensation philosophy is to:

e make total compensation competitive;
e include opportunities for equity ownership as pdirtompensation; and

e use incentive compensation to help drive perforradncproviding superior pay for superior results.

Furthermore, as previously disclosed, an increpseckentage of total potential compensation is perémce-based as opposed to tipaese:
as half of the compensation previously awardedhéonamed executive officers as restricted stocll Garned based on the passage of tin
now only earned to the extent that performancesgagd achieved. In addition, annual and long-teashdonuses are performarizesed an
earned only to the extent that performance goasehnieved. In addition, annual and long-term d¢msiuses are performanbased and earn
only to the extent that performance goals are aekieln tying a large portion of executive compe¢iosato achievement of shotérm an
longterm strategic and operational goals, we seek dsety align the interests of our named executiicas with the interests of ¢
shareholders.

The vote on this resolution is not intended to addrany specific element of compensation. Ratherytte relates to the compensatio
our named executive officers as described in thigypstatement. The vote is advisory. This meaas tthe vote is not binding on Kroger. -
Compensation Committee of our Board of Directorseisponsible for establishing executive compensatio so doing that Committee v
consider, along with all other relevant factorg tasults of this vote.

We ask our shareholders to vote on the followirsphgion:

“RESOLVED, that the compensation paid to the Congfsanamed executive officers, as disclosed purst@item 402 of Regulation &;
including the Compensation Discussion and Analygisypensation tables, and the related narrativaisisson, is hereby APPROVED.”

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR THIS PROPOSAL.

SELECTION OF AUDITORS
(ITem No. 4)

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors ispensible for the appointment, compensation anehtiein of Krogers independe
auditor, as required by law and by applicable N¥8IEs. On March 12, 2014, the Audit Committee apteud PricewaterhouseCoopers LLI
Kroger's independent auditor for the fiscal year endinquuday 31, 2015. While shareholder ratification dfet selection «
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Kroger's indepenaiaditor is not required by KrogerRegulations or otherwise, the Board of Directs
submitting the selection of PricewaterhouseCoop&rs to shareholders for ratification, as it hagpast years, as a good corporate goverr
practice. If the shareholders fail to ratify théesion, the Audit Committee may, but is not reqdirto, reconsider whether to retain that f
Even if the selection is ratified, the Audit Comiad in its discretion may direct the appointmenadifferent auditor at any time during
year if it determines that such a change woulchlibé best interests of Kroger and its shareholi

A representative of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLRp&eted to be present at the meeting to respoaggoopriate questions and to mal
statement if he or she desires to do so.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR THIS PROPOSAL.
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DiscLOSURE OF AUDITOR FEES

The following describes the fees billed to KroggrRricewaterhouseCoopers LLP related to the figears ended February 1, 2014
February 2, 2013:

Fiscal Year 2013 Fiscal Year 2012

Audit Fees $5,151,39 $4,428,20.
Audit-Related Fees 151,87¢ 45,99
Tax Fees 188,02: —
All Other Fees — —
Total $5,491,28 $4,474,19

Audit Feedor the years ended February 1, 2014 and Febrya2Q13, respectively, were for professional sewi@ndered for the audits
Kroger's consolidated financial statements, the issuariceomfort letters to underwriters, consents, andiséance with the review
documents filed with the SEC.

Audit-Related FeesAudit related services for the year ended Februarp014 were for assurance and related servicdsipiag tc
accounting consultation in connection with atteswviEes that are not required by statute or regulatind consultations concerning finan
accounting and reporting standards. These seraieesonsidered approved under the Company’s egigtirdit and Non-Audit Service Pre-
Approval Policy. These fees also included serviedsted to acquisition related due diligence whigdre approved by the Audit Committee
June 2013.

Tax Feedor the year ended February 1, 2014 were for tatawpport and debt restructuring. We did not gregRricewaterhouseCoop
LLP for any tax services for the year ended Felyr@aP013.

All Other Fees We did not engage PricewaterhouseCoopers LLPtfaar services for the years ended February 1, 2084February
2013.

The Audit Committee requires that it approve inatbe all audit and noaddit work performed by PricewaterhouseCoopers LDF
March 12, 2014, the Audit Committee approved sesim be performed by PricewaterhouseCoopers Lt Ehéoremainder of fiscal year 2(
that are related to the audit of Kroger or invothie audit itself. In 2007, the Audit Committee atbmpan audit and non-audit service pre
approval policy. Pursuant to the terms of that@glthe Committee will annually pasprove certain defined services that are expeotdd
provided by the independent auditors. If it becommgsropriate during the year to engage the indegr@ratcountant for additional services,
Audit Committee must first approve the specificvimas before the independent accountant may perfioeradditional work.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has advised the Audiir@itiee that neither the firm, nor any member ef finm, has any financial intere
direct or indirect, in any capacity in Kroger & gubsidiaries.

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSAL
(ITem No. 5)

We have been natified by five shareholders, theasaand shareholdings of which will be furnishednpptly to any shareholder up
written or oral request to Kroger's Secretary abdg@r's executive offices, that they intend to propose ftillowing resolution at the anni
meeting:

“T HE KROGER COMPANY
HumAN RIGHTS Risk ASSESSMENT 2014

RESOLVED, that shareholders of The Kroger Compd&HKyager”) urge the Board of Directors to report to sharehsldat reasonable c
and omitting proprietary information, on Kroger'sopess for identifying and analyzing potential awadual human rights risks of Kroger’
operations and supply chain (referred to hereia ‘dsiman rights risk assessment”) addressing thesfing:

e Human rights principles used to frame the assessmen

e Frequency of assessment
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¢ Methodology used to track and measure performance
e Nature and extent of consultation with relevanksktmlders in connection with the assessment

e How the results of the assessment are incorpomated¢ompany policies and decision making

The report should be made available to sharehotletéroger’s website no later than October 31, 2014
SUPPORTING STATEMENT

As longterm shareholders, we favor policies and practibas protect and enhance the value of our invedsnédrhere is increasil
recognition that company risks related to humahtsigiolations, such as litigation, reputationaindge, and project delays and disruptions
adversely affect shareholder value.

Kroger, like many other companies, has adoptepl&r code of conduct (See The Kroger CompanydgahVendor Agreement) but t
yet to publish a compa-wide Human Rights Policy, addressing human rightsies and a separate human rights code that applits
suppliers. Adoption of these principles would baraportant first step in effectively managing hurmaghts risks. Companies must then as
risks to shareholder value of human rights prastingheir operations and supply chains to traagbainciples into protective practices.

The importance of human rights risk assessmerdfiected in the United Nations Guiding Principles Business and Human Rights |
“Ruggie Principles”) approved by the UN Human RgBouncil in 2011. The Ruggie Principles urge thatsiness enterprises should carry
human rights due diligenceaccessing actual and potential human rights impadtgrating and acting upon the findings, tragkiesponse
and communicating how impacts are addressed.”:{fvtipw.business-humanrights.org/media/documentgirigiggie-guiding-principles-21-
mar-201l.pd:D

Kroger's business exposes it to significant hunights risks. As of yeaend 2012, Kroger operations, including supermarlasvenienc
and jewelry stores, are located in over 40 statgty suppliers in countries around the world, imthg Iran, China and Malaysia. T
companys supply chain is complex and global. The compaknewledges that work stoppages, supply chainnmpéions and civil unre
(The Kroger Company Form 10-K, Feb. 2, 2013, p&f84) could adversely affect the company’s apilitexecute its strategic plan.

We urge shareholders to vote for this proposal.”

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE AGAINST THIS PROPOSAL FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS:

Kroger recognizes the importance of ensuring basiman rights are recognized by those seeking tohudmess with us. As such, Kro
has in place a comprehensive code of conduct shapplicable to those that furnish goods or sesvioeus, as well as their contractors. -
code of conduct has been published and is avaitableur website at www.kroger.com. Our existingeofl conduct requires compliance v
all applicable labor laws, regulations, and orderduding the Fair Labor Standards Act. In additithe code of conduct:

e Prohibits child, indentured, involuntary, or prisaivor;

e Prohibits exposing workers to unreasonably hazadausafe, or unhealthy conditions;
e Prohibits unlawful discrimination;

e Requires the workplace to be free from harassment;

e Requires workers to be treated fairly, with digratyd respect;

e Requires that wages meet or exceed legal and iydstsindards;

e Requires that U.S. workers be eligible for emplogtria the U.S.;
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e Prohibits bribes and conduct that appears improparay result in a conflict of interest;
e Requires compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupcices Act; and

e Requires maintenance of records (that must bedhewi to us upon request) evidencing compliancetivélttode.

Krogers code of conduct does more than simply reportméuuman rights risks in its supply chain; it pratglthose that do business v
us from engaging in the type of conduct of conderthe proponents. Those that violate our code matlbe permitted to do business witt
until they comply with our code. As such, we do hetieve that human rights violations in our supghain pose a substantial risk, that
requested report would serve little benefit to shalders, and preparation of a report would divesburces that otherwise could be n
appropriately used in the best interests of shéddehs

This proposal covers the same subject matter asumaitted to a vote at the last three yearsiual meetings and was soundly defeate
shareholders.

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSAL
(ITem No. 6)

We have been notified by two shareholders, the reamdeshareholdings of which will be furnished préimpmp any shareholder upon writ
or oral request to Kroger’s Secretary at Krogexscaitive offices, that it intends to propose théfeing resolution at the annual meeting:

“WHEREAS, posteonsumer packaging and printed paper comprisesyneaf of U.S. landfill waste and is a significacdnsumer of natur
resources, energy and source of greenhouse gasi@msisHalf of printed paper and packaging is ldledf or burned rather than recycl
Plastic packaging debris migrates to oceans wheatamages fisheries, tourism and marine life. Thera growing link between ineffecti
waste management and plastic debris piling up mhEaoceans and waterways, where it -injures andrkidlsne animals, transports invas
species and poses a threat to human health. Gedifspends nearly $500 million annually to prewessh, much of it packaging, from pollut
beaches, rivers and ocean frontage.

The estimated market value of wasted packaging dbald be recycled is $11.4 billion. Increased ofiag provides more efficient use
valuable resources. It generates less pollutiod, raquires less energy than using virgin raw malrin the U.S., taxpayers pay to rec
packaging, but poor infrastructure and strappedicipel budgets have yielded lagging recycling rag89 for aluminum; 34% for glass, ¢
only 12% for plastic. Further, Kroger's house brsndmong other products, are recertigreasinguse of norrecyclable flexible plast
packaging, such as pouches.

More than 40 countries have shifted some or alfscoEpackaging recycling onto producers. U.S. poeds of packagingitensive brands ci
expect to be asked to take more responsibilitydoycling of packaging in the future. We believensomeasure of responsibility for packag
is a key component of a corporate environmentabguebility policy.

Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR), a corpogaig public policy that shifts accountability fdndncing recycling of materials frc
taxpayers to producers, is a promising potentiaitem. Two major brands, Codaela Co. and Nestle Waters NA, have called for poeds ti
adopt EPR programs in the U.S. Legislation is peydh several states. Taking an active role in mitagp for mandated producer responsib
for packaging will reduce risk, ensure continuedhhguality packaging, reduce wasted resources,imer@ase program efficiencies. T
company has not moved decisively to lead or padiei in such an effort nor addressed its respditgifor post-consumer packaging for
brands.

BE IT RESOLVED THAT shareowners of Kroger requdstttthe board of directors issue a report, at regde cost and omitting confiden
information, developing a policy position on themgquany’s responsibility for postensumer product packaging recycling of its priviatee
brands, and assessing whether alternative appreachid lead to substantially increased packagagaling.
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Supporting Statement: Options reviewed in the repbould include analyses of comparmgsed actions that will increase recyclabilit
packaging materials, and participation in policyl dachnical development of EPR or other producspaasibility strategies in collaborat
with sector peers, policymakers and suppliers witjval of greatly increased U.S. recycling ratasraduced energy use and pollution.”

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE AGAINST THIS PROPOSAL FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS:

Kroger shares the proponentoncerns regarding waste reduction and recogimesmportant role it plays as a good stewardha
environment. We have numerous sustainability ittées in place to preserve our natural resourcestarconserve energy. For instance,
company recycled more than 35 million pounds osfitawaste, from bags and plastic film, in 2013eTompany also recycles more thi
billion pounds of cardboard each year. Most imptiya we've pioneered the Perishable Donations Partnerahijgh enables the donation
more than 49 million pounds of safe, wholesome fmBeeding America food banks to fight hungerdcal communities. That which can
be donated is composted or converted to energydghran innovative waste to energy system. By sgalmthese innovative solutions, Kro
is reducing the amount of waste being sent to IiadKroger also works to reduce waste in thetfptace by designing optimized packag
and is participating in national efforts to expaamd scale infrastructure. For each of the pastrabyears we have published on-lifiae
Kroger Co. Public Responsibilities Repand our annugbustainability Reportthat highlight the compang’sustainability initiatives and wa
reduction efforts in greater detail.

This proposal requests that Kroger take additiostebs to report on the feasibility of adopting digyoof “Extended Produc
Responsibility,” or EPR. The resolution provides guidance regarding proponent’s view of the requaets of a compangdopted EP

policy.

Kroger supports efforts to reduce waste in the uppain, as described above and in our variousasability reports. It would k
inappropriate, however, to support a policy thatas clearly defined. We believe our support fosteareduction efforts in our supply chain
significant and meaningful.

Kroger is familiar with various EPR proposals iates and laws in other countries that requirelegsaand manufacturers to pay substa
taxes and fees related to waste disposal. The patpoary in detail and implementation, and whike do assess new laws and regulation
their feasibility, cost and requirements, to dof@oeach individual EPR proposal at the federatestand international level would req
significant resources that could be allocated masely in the best interests of shareholders.

Kroger often is asked to take a position on legjimtaor regulatory proposals. While occasionally wi# communicate to federal, state «
local officials our positions on specific policysiges, we believe it is premature to offer an daffigiosition statement on EPR legislative
regulatory proposals without first carefully examipthe specifics of each individual law or regigdatand how it would affect our custom
and our business.

This proposal covers the same subject matter aswomitted to a vote at the last two yeanshual meetings and was soundly defeate
shareholders.

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS 2015 ANNUAL MEETING. Shareholder proposals intendedinclusion in our proxy material relati
to Kroger's annual meeting in June 2015 should be addressbeé tSecretary of Kroger and must be receivediaerecutive offices not lal
than January 14, 2015. These proposals must cowigty Rule 14a-8 and the SEC’s proxy rules. The Canys Regulations contain
advance notice of shareholder business and nomitsatiequirement, which generally prescribes thecgmores that a shareholder of
Company must follow if the shareholder intendsarainnual meeting, to nominate a person for ele¢tiaghe Companyg Board of Directors
to propose other business to be considered by tstlders. These procedures include, among othegshithat the shareholder give tirr
notice to the Secretary of the Company of the nation or other proposed business, that the notieéain specified information, and that
shareholder comply with certain other requireme@emerally, in the case of an

59




annual meeting, a shareholderiotice in order to be timely must be deliveredwiriting to the Secretary of the Company, at it;gpal
executive office, not later 45 calendar days ptiothe date on which the Company’s proxy statenfienthe prior yeais annual meeting

shareholders was mailed to shareholders. If a Bbltter's nomination or proposal is not in compliance whk procedures set forth in

Regulations, the Company may disregard such nomimatr proposal. Accordingly, if a shareholder irds, at the 2015 annual meeting
nominate a person for election to the Board of @oes or to propose other business, the sharehoidst deliver a notice of such nomina
or proposal to the ComparsySecretary not later March 30, 2015, and comptij thie requirements of the Regulations. If a shaldshr submit
a proposal outside of Rule 14a-8 for the Compard015 annual meeting of shareholder and such pabp® not delivered within the tir
frame specified in the Regulations, the Compamyroxy may confer discretionary authority on passbeing appointed as proxies on behe
the Company to vote on such proposal. Notices shiogiladdressed in writing to: Secretary, The Krder 1014 Vine Street, Cincinnati, O
45202-1100.

Attached to this Proxy Statement is Kroget®8.2 Annual Report which includes a brief descript@f Krogers business, including t
general scope and nature thereof during 2013, hegstith the audited financial information contairie our 2013 report to the SEC on F
10-K. A copy of that report is available to shareholderon request without charge by writing to: Todd A. Fdey, Treasurer, The Krogel
Co., 1014 Vine Street, Cincinnati, Ohio 45202-1106r by calling 1-513-762-122Q Our SEC filings are available to the public frahe
SEC’s web site at www.sec.gov.

HOUSEHOLDING OF PROXY MATERIALS

We have adopted a procedure approved by tid2cBlted “householding.Under this procedure, shareholders of record wive lilae sanm
address and last name will receive only one copthefNotice of Internet Availability of Proxy Matals (or proxy materials in the case
shareholders who receive paper copies of such masleunless one or more of these shareholderdiemtis that they wish to contir
receiving individual copies. This procedure wildtee our printing costs and postage fees. Housklgoldill not in any way affect divider
check mailings.

If you are eligible for householding, but you anties shareholders of record with whom you sharaddress currently receive multi
copies of our Notice of Internet Availability of &y Materials (or proxy materials in the case adrefolders who receive paper copies of
materials), or if you hold in more than one accoant in either case you wish to receive only glsicopy for your household or if you pre
to receive separate copies of our documents ifiutioiee, please contact your bank or broker, or &cinKrogers Secretary at 1014 Vine Stre
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202-1100 or via telephone at-362-4000.

Beneficial shareholders can request infornmagibout householding from their banks, brokerstibeioholders of record.

The management knows of no other matters thatoabe tpresented at the meeting but, if any shoulgrbsented, the Proxy Commit
expects to vote thereon according to its best juefgm

By order of the Board of Directors,
Paul W. Heldman, Secretary
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APPENDIX 1

THE KROGER CO.
2014 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE AND CASH BONUS PLAN

1. Definitions

In this Plan the following definitions will aty:

1.1 “Agreement’'means a written instrument implementing a grararoOption, Right or Performance Unit, an award e$tRcted Stock «
Incentive Shares, or setting forth the terms ohahCBonus.

1.2 “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Qamy.

1.3 “Cash Bonus” means an annual or léegn bonus awarded to a participant under the @astus Program and determined by
Committee based on performance measured agairistiRance Goals established by the Committee.

1.4 “Cash Bonus Program” means that portion ofttae under which a participant is awarded a CastuBo
1.5 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 188@&mended.

1.6 “Committee’means the committee appointed to administer eacheoPrograms under the Plan. For purposes ofrisiddr Progral
and the Cash Bonus Program the Committee will beramittee of the Board meeting the standards oé R6b3(d)(1) under the Exchan
Act, or any similar successor rule, appointed leyBloard to administer the Insider Program and theh@onus Program, which initially will
composed of those members of the Compensation Civeenaif the Board who qualify as “outside directarader Section 162(m) of the Co
For purposes of the Non-Insider Program, the Cotemiwill be the Stock Option Committee.

1.7 “Company” means THE KROGER CO.

1.8 “Date of Exercisetneans the date on which the Company receives notitiee exercise of an Option, Right or Performablcet in
accordance with the terms of Article 9.

1.9 “Date of Grant'means the date on which an Option, Right or Perdimica Unit is granted or Restricted Stock or IneenBhares a
awarded by the Committee.

1.10 “Director” means a non-Employee member ofBbard of the Company.

1.11 “Employee”"means any person, excluding Directors, to whom dsvar grants can be made pursuant to the seculdties of th
United State and to whom such awards or grantmagde by the Committee.

1.12 “Exchange Act” means the Securities ExchangteoA1934, as amended.

1.13 “Fair Market Value'tf a Share means the amount equal to the fair madtee of a Share determined pursuant to a reatonzetho
adopted by the Committee in good faith for suclppsee. Unless otherwise provided in an Agreemetitd@ontrary, the Fair Market Value ¢
Share will be the closing price on the date of aeieation on the New York Stock Exchang@emposite Transactions, or if no sales are t
on such date, on the most recent prior date fochvkales are reported.

1.14 “Grantee’means an Employee or a Director to whom Restri8tedk has been awarded pursuant to Article 11 eviHom Incentiv
Shares have been awarded pursuant to Article 12.

1.15 “Incentive Share” means a Share awarded puotrsoi@rticle 12.
1.16 “Insider” means an officer of the Company sebjo Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act.

1.17 “Insider Program” means that portion of therRlinder which grants or awards are made to Irsalea Directors.
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1.18 “Non-Insider Program” means that portion @& Bian under which grants or awards are made tddyews, excluding Insiders.

1.19 “Option"means a nonstatutory stock option granted undePlgme that does not qualify as an incentive stquioa under Section 4.
of the Code.

1.20 “Option Period” means the period during whachOption may be exercised.

1.21 “Option Price’means the price per Share at which an Option maxbrcised. The Option Price will be determinedh®s Committes
but in no event will the Option Price of an Optioa less than the Fair Market Value per Share détedras of the Date of Grant.

1.22 “Optionee” means an Employee or Director t@mtan Option, Right or Performance Unit has beantgd.

1.23 “Performance Goalsheans performance goals established by the Conentlitt¢ may be based on: (i) earnings or earningstage ¢
Kroger, a unit of Kroger, or designated projeci;tétal sales, identical sales, or comparablesaif Kroger, a unit of Kroger, or design:
projects; (iii) cash flow; (iv) cash flow from ogions; (v) operating profit or income; (vi) netome; (vii) operating margin; (viii) net incol
margin; (ix) return on net assets; (x) economiagahdded; (xi) return on total assets; (xii) retamcommon equity; (xiii) return on total
invested capital; (xiv) total shareholder returry)(revenue; (xvi) revenue growth; (xvii) earningefore interest, taxes, depreciation
amortization (“EBITDA"); viii) EBITDA growth; (xix) funds from operationsgw share and per share growth; (xx) cash avail&r
distribution; (xxi) cash available for distributigger share and per share growth; (xxii) share grexéormance on an absolute basis and re
to an index of earnings per share or improvementsroger’s attainment of expense levels; (xxiii) reductinroperating costs as a percen
of sales; (xxiv) performance in key categories;v{ximplementing or completion of strategic initisgs or critical projects, and (xxvi) k
category performance as measured by the resulsumkys of customers or associates; or any othgcie goals established by
Committee, and may be absolute in their terms ocasmed against or in relationship to other commasieilarly or otherwise situate
Performance goals may be particular to an employdke department, branch, Subsidiary or othesdiviin which he or she works, or may
based on the performance of the Company genegaidty may cover such period as may be specifieddZtmmittee.

1.24 “Performance Unit” means a performance urahggd under the Plan in accordance with Article 8.

1.25 “Performance Unit Period” means the periodridpuwhich a Performance Unit is outstanding.

1.26 “Plan” means THE KROGER CO. 2014 Long-Ternehtoze and Cash Bonus Plan.

1.27 “Related Option” means the Option in connectigth which a specified Right or Performance Usigranted.
1.28 “Related Performance Unit” means the Perfoadsnit granted in connection with a specified Opti

1.29 “Related Right” means the Right granted inngmion with a specified Option.

1.30 “Restricted Stock” means Shares awarded patrsodrticle 11.

1.31 “Right” means a stock appreciation right gegininder the Plan pursuant to Article 7.

1.32 “Right Period” means the period during whidRight may be exercised.

1.33 “Share’means an authorized but unissued common shargaper $1.00 per share, of the Company, or a reesdjpireviously issue
common share.

1.34 “Stock Option Committegheans a committee of three or more members appldiytehe Chief Executive Officer of the Compan
administer the Non-Insider Program, each of whorimédigible to receive grants or awards under tlomdhsider Program, and has beer
ineligible for at least one year.

1.35 “Subsidiary’means a corporation at least 50% of the total coatbivoting power of all classes of stock of whishoivned by th
Company, either directly or through one or moresotBubsidiaries.
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2. Purpose

The Plan is intended to assist in attracting ataining Employees and Directors of outstandingighéind to promote the identification
their interests with those of the shareholderhief@ompany.

3. Administration

The Plan will be administered by the Committee attdition to any other powers granted to the Conamijtit will have the followin
powers, subject to the express provisions of tae:P|

3.1 to determine in its discretion the Employeesvbmm Options, Performance Units or Rights willdranted, to whom Restricted St
and Incentive Shares will be awarded, and thoseld&raps eligible to receive Cash Bonuses; the nurob8hares to be subject to each Op
Right, Performance Unit, Restricted Stock or IncenShare award, and the terms upon which OptiBights or Performance Units may
acquired and exercised and the terms and conditibRgstricted Stock and Incentive Share awardsGash Bonuses;

3.2 to determine all other terms and provisionsaith Agreement, which need not be identical,
3.3 without limiting the generality of the foreggirto provide in its discretion in an Agreement:

(a) for an agreement by the Optionee or Grantaerider services to the Company or a Subsidiary gpeh terms and conditions
may be specified in the Agreement, provided that@emmittee will not have the power to commit th@rPany or any Subsidiary to emp
or otherwise retain any Optionee or Grantee;

(b) for restrictions on the transfer, sale or ottisposition of Shares issued to the Optionee uperexercise of an Option, Right
Performance Unit, for other restrictions permitbgdArticle 11 with respect to Restricted Stock ar ¢onditions with respect to the issuanc
Incentive Shares;

(c) for an agreement by the Optionee or Grantagegell to the Company, under specified conditi@gres issued upon the exercis
an Option, Right or Performance Unit or awarde®astricted Stock or Incentive Shares;

(d) for the payment of the Option Price upon thereise by an Employee or Director of an Option oilige than in cash, includi
without limitation by delivery of Common SharesHhet than Restricted Stock) valued at Fair Markefu¥an the Date of Exercise of
Option, or a combination of cash and Shares; and

(e) for the deferral of receipt of amounts thateottise would be distributed upon exercise of a d?ardnce Unit, the terms a
conditions of any such deferral and any interestisidend equivalent or other payment that will mecwith respect to deferred distributions;

3.4 to construe and interpret the Agreements amdPthn;

3.5 to require, whether or not provided for in gextinent Agreement, of any person exercising atio@pRight or Performance Unit
acquiring Restricted Stock or Incentive Shareshattime of such exercise or acquisition, the mgdhany representations or agreements
the Committee may deem necessary or advisabledar o comply with the securities laws of the Udiftates or of any state;

3.6 to provide for satisfaction of an Optionee’sGnantees tax liabilities arising in connection with theaRlthrough, without limitatio
retention by the Company of Common Shares otherigsmgable on the exercise of an Option, Right afdP@mance Unit or pursuant to
award of Incentive Shares or through delivery of@mn Shares to the Company by the Optionee or Esamtder such terms and condit|
as the Committee deems appropriate; and

3.7 to make all other determinations and taketakioactions necessary or advisable for the adtratiisn of the Plan.

Any determinations or actions made or taken byGbmmittee pursuant to this Article will be bindiagd final.
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4. Eligibility

Options, Rights, Performance Units, Restricted IStd Incentive Shares may be granted or awardbdtorEmployees and Directo
Cash Bonuses may only be awarded to Employeeso levant may any participant receive awards andtgrataling more than 3,750,C
Shares in the aggregate under this Plan, and gtestash Bonus to a participant may exceed $5,000,0

5. Shares Subject to the Plan

5.1 The maximum number of Shares that may be issoddr the Plan is 25,000,000 Shares. Except asvade provided in the followir
sentence, the maximum number of Shares that magsbhed as Restricted Stock, Incentive Shares, dofaeance Units under the Plar
10,000,000 Shares in the aggregate. Notwithstarttiedoregoing, the Committee for the Insider Pangmay increase the number of Sh
that may be issued as Restricted Stock, IncentiaeS, or Performance Units to an amount in exce4€,000,000 Shares, provided thal
each such Share in excess of 10,000,000 Sharesréhtsued as Restricted Stock, Incentive Shard2erformance Units, in the aggregate
number of Shares that may be issued under thevidtlabe reduced by four Shares. In addition to tleeisions that it makes in administel
the Insider Program, annually the Committee for Ittder Program will approve the number of Shdaoebe granted under the Namsidel
Program for that fiscal year.

5.2 If an Option, Right or Performance Unit expioegerminates for any reason (other than termimdby virtue of the exercise of a Relz
Option, Related Right or a Related Performance,dsithe case may be) without having been fullyasged, if Shares of Restricted Stock
forfeited or if Incentive Shares are not issuedu@ forfeited, the unissued or forfeited Shares llagl been subject to the Agreement rel:
thereto will become available for the grant of etfptions, Rights and Performance Units or for dleard of additional Restricted Stock
Incentive Shares, provided that in the case offtefl Shares, the Grantee has received no dividemaolsto forfeiture with respect to st
Shares.

6. Options
6.1 The Committee is authorized to grant OptionErgployees and Directors.

6.2 The Option Period for Options granted to Empks/and Directors will be determined by the Coneaitind specifically set forth in 1
Agreement. No Option will be exercisable beforeraionths after the Date of Grant (except that fhigdtion need not apply in the event of
death or disability of the Optionee within the sionth period) or after ten years from the Date &

6.3 The maximum number of Shares with respect tizlwB®ptions may be granted to any Employee or Bareender this Plan during
term is 3,750,000 Shares. In no event will the @p#Price of an Option be less than the Fair Maviadtie of a Share at the time of the grant.

6.4 Except in connection with a corporate transacinvolving the company (including, without limii@n, any stock dividend, stock sg
extraordinary cash dividend, recapitalization, gamization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spffi-combination, or exchange of shares) ¢
otherwise permitted pursuant to Article 13 or Agid5, the Option Price of an Option as set fonthtlee Date of Grant will not be redut
during the term of the Option, nor will Options t&nceled in exchange for cash, other awards, olynissued Options with an Option Pr
that is less than the Option Price of the origldptions without shareholder approval (i.e., Optiafisnot be “repriced”).

6.5 All other terms of Options granted under thenRAill be determined by the Committee in its stikeretion.

7. Rights
7.1 The Committee is hereby authorized to granhRi¢p Employees and Directors.
7.2 A Right may be granted under the Plan:
(a) in connection with, and at the same time asgtlant of an Option under the Plan; or

(b) independently of any Option granted under tlae P

64




A Right granted under clause (a) of the precedamgexnce is a Related Right. A Related Right maghéenCommittees discretion, apply
all or a portion of the Shares subject to the Rel&@ption.

7.3 A Right may be exercised in whole or in parpesvided in the Agreement, and, subject to thevigions of the Agreement, entitles
Optionee to receive, without any payment to the Gamy (other than required income tax withholdingpants), either cash or that numbe
Shares (equal to the highest whole number of Shaves combination thereof, in an amount or havangair Market Value determined a
the Date of Exercise not to exceed the number afé&hsubject to the portion of the Right exercisedtiplied by an amount equal to the ex
of (i) the Fair Market Value of a Share on the Daft&xercise of the Right over (ii) either (A) thair Market Value of a Share on the Dat
Grant of the Right if it is not a Related Right,(B) the Option Price as provided in the Relatedi@pif the Right is a Related Right.

7.4 The Right Period will be determined by the Cdttea and specifically set forth in the Agreemgmgvided, however --

(a) a Right may not be exercised before the expimaif six months from the Date of Grant (except the limitation need not apply
the event of the death or disability of the Optieméthin the six-month period);

(b) a Right will expire no later than the earliéfip ten years from the Date of Grant, or (ii)thre case of a Related Right, the expire
of the Related Option; and

(c) a Right may be exercised only when the Fairkda¥alue of a Share exceeds either (i) the FairkgtaValue of a Share on the D
of Grant of the Right if it is not a Related Rigbit,(ii) the Option Price as provided in the Rele@ption if the Right is a Related Right.

7.5 The exercise, in whole or in part, of a Reld®éght will cause a reduction in the number of &saubject to the Related Option equ
the number of Shares with respect to which the tRelRight is exercised. Similarly, the exercisewimole or in part, of a Related Option \
cause a reduction in the number of Shares sulgjgbetRelated Right equal to the number of Shaigsrespect to which the Related Optio
exercised.

7.6 Rights granted under the Plan, to the exteteragned by the Committee, will comply with the vdgments of Rule 16B-under th
Exchange Act during the term of this Plan. Shouig additional provisions be necessary for this deti7 to comply with the requirements
Rule 16b3 or any other rules or regulations, the Board @aend this Plan to delete, add to or modify thevigions of the Plan according
subject to the provisions of Article 14, if applite. The Company intends to comply, if and to tk&eet applicable, with the requirement:
Rule 16b-3; however, the Compasyfailure for any reason whatsoever to comply witich requirements will not impose any liability the
Company to any Optionee or any other party.

7.7 To the extent required by Rule 18nder the Exchange Act or otherwise providecha Agreement, the Committee will have
discretion to consent to or disapprove the electibany Optionee to receive cash in full or pariattiement of a Right. In cases whert
election of settlement in cash must be consentdyy tilhe Committee, the Committee may consent taisapprove, such election at any t
after such election, or within such period for takaction as is specified in the election, andifailto give consent will be disapproval. Con
may be given in whole or as to a portion of thehRigurrendered by the Optionee. If the electioretteive cash is disapproved in whole ¢
part, the Right will be deemed to have been exedcisr Shares, or, if so specified in the noticeexércise and election, not to have
exercised to the extent the election to receivl tadisapproved.

7.8 The maximum number of Shares with respect tiwhwRights may be granted to any Employee or Dineander this Plan during
term is 3,750,000 Shares.

7.9 Except in connection with a corporate transacinvolving the company (including, without limiikan, any stock dividend, stock sg
extraordinary cash dividend, recapitalization, gamization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spffi-combination, or exchange of shares) ¢
otherwise permitted pursuant to Article 13 or Agit5, the exercise price of a Right as set forthhe Date of Grant will not
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be reduced during the term of the Right, nor witjliRs be canceled in exchange for cash, other ayarchewly issued Rights with an exer
price that is less than the exercise price of tigiral Rights without shareholder approval (iRights will not be “repriced”).

8. Performance Units
8.1 The Committee is hereby authorized to grantolP@ance Units to Employees and Directors.
8.2 Performance Units may be granted under the Plan
(a) in connection with, and at the same time asgtlant of an Option under the Plan; or

(b) independently of any Option granted under tlae P

A Performance Unit granted under clause (a) ofptieeeding sentence is a Related Performance UriRelated Performance Unit may, in
Committee’s discretion, apply to all or a portidrtite shares subject to the Related Option.

8.3 A Performance Unit may be exercised in wholeinoipart, or automatically may be deemed exercigpdn satisfaction of tl
Performance Goals, as provided in the Agreemeudt, subject to the provisions of the Agreement,tkestiits Optionee to receive, without i
payment to the Company (other than required inctaravithholding amounts), cash, Shares or a conibimaf cash and Shares, based (
the degree to which Performance Goals establishddeoCommittee and specified in the Agreement tmen achieved.

8.4 The Performance Unit Period will be determibgdhe Committee and specifically set forth in &greement, provided, however --

(a) a Performance Unit may not be exercised befarexpiration of six months from the Date of Grgaxcept that this limitation ne
not apply in the event of the death or disabilityh® Optionee within the six-month period); and

(b) a Performance Unit will expire no later thar tharlier of (i) ten years from the Date of Graort,(ii) in the case of a Relat
Performance Unit, the expiration of the Relatedi@pt

8.5 Each Agreement granting Performance Units splkecify the number of Performance Units grantedyiged, however, that t
maximum number of Related Performance Units mayroted the maximum number of Shares subject tRéfated Option.

8.6 The exercise, in whole or in part, of Relatedféfrmance Units will cause a reduction in the namif Shares subject to the Rel:
Option and the number of Performance Units in at&oce with the terms of the Agreement. Similafhg &xercise, in whole or in part, ¢
Related Option, will cause a reduction in the numifeShares subject to the Related Performance é&tnial to the number of Shares \
respect to which the Related Option is exercised.

8.7 Performance Units granted under the Plan,aa@itent determined by the Committee, will complthwhe requirements of Rule 16&b-
under the Exchange Act during the term of this PBnould any additional provisions be necessarythige Article 8 to comply with tt
requirements of Rule 16B-or any other applicable rule or regulation, tteaBl may amend this Plan to delete, add to or malé provision
of the Plan accordingly, subject to the provisiofdirticle 14, if applicable. The Company intendscomply, if and to the extent applical
with the requirements of Rule 16b-3; however, tlem@anys failure for any reason whatsoever to comply vgitich requirements will n
impose any liability on the Company to any Optiopeany other party.

8.8 To the extent required by Rule 18nder the Exchange Act or otherwise providecha Agreement, the Committee will have
discretion to consent to or disapprove the eleatibany Optionee to receive cash in full or partiattlement of a Performance Unit. In ci
where an election of settlement in cash must besemted to by the Committee, the Committee may ctrtee or disapprove, such electiol
any time after such election, or within such pefiodtaking action as is specified in the electiand failure to give consent will be disappra
Consent may be given in whole or as to a portiothefPerformance
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Unit surrendered by the Optionee. If the electmneiceive cash is disapproved in whole or in fiaet,Performance Unit will be deemed to t
been exercised for Shares, or, if so specifietiénniotice of exercise and election, not to have lexercised to the extent the election to rec
cash is disapproved.

8.9 The maximum number of Shares that may be issuady Employee or Director pursuant to the exsercif Performance Units may
exceed 3,750,000 Shares. For purposes of the pngcseintence, any Performance Units paid in the fof cash will be deemed to have b
paid in Shares, with the number of Shares beingnddepaid equal to the amount of cash paid to thpl&ree or Director divided by the F
Market Value of a Share on the date of payment.

9. Exercise

An Option, Right or Performance Unit, subject te firovisions of the Agreement under which it weenged, may be exercised in whol
in part by the delivery to the Company of writtestine of the exercise, in such form as the Committey prescribe, accompanied, in the
of an Option, by (i) full payment for the Shareghwiespect to which the Option is exercised, Qriffievocable instructions to a broker sele
by the Committee to consummate “cashlessdrcises to deliver promptly to the Company caglhakto full payment for the Shares for wt
the Option is exercised.

10. Non-transferability

Options, Rights, Performance Units and Incentivar& granted or awarded under the Plan will natdresferable otherwise than by will
the laws of descent and distribution, and an OptRight or Performance Unit may be exercised duhiisgor her lifetime only by the Optior
or, in the event of his or her legal disability, g or her legal representative. A Related RighRelated Performance Unit is transferable
when the Related Option is transferable and onth thie Related Option and under the same conditions

11. Restricted Stock Awards
11.1 The Committee is hereby authorized to awart&hof Restricted Stock to Employees and Directors

11.2 Restricted Stock awards under the Plan wilbigi of Shares that are restricted against tragrsgibject to forfeiture, and subject to s
other terms and conditions intended to furtherpghmoses of the Plan as may be determined by then@itee. The terms and conditions r
provide, in the discretion of the Committee, foe thesting of such awards to be contingent uporatiéevement of one or more Performe
Goals.

11.3 Restricted Stock awards will be evidenced lgye&ments containing provisions setting forth #rens and conditions governing s
awards. Each such agreement will contain the fallgw

(a) prohibitions against the sale, assignmentsfeanexchange, pledge, hypothecation, or othenrabcance of (i) the Shares awar
as Restricted Stock under the Plan, (ii) the righvote the Shares, or (iii) the right to receivigidends thereon in each case during
restriction period applicable to the Shares; pregichowever, that the Grantee will have all theeptights of a shareholder including, but
limited to, the right to receive dividends and thght to vote the Shares;

(b) at least one term, condition or restrictiontidnting a “substantial risk of forfeiture” as defd in Section 83(c) of the Code;

(c) such other terms, conditions and restrictionshe Committee in its discretion may specify (inthg, without limitation, provisior
creating additional substantial risks of forfeifyre

(d) a requirement that each certificate or othédexce of ownership representing Shares of RestriStock must be deposited with
Company, or its designee, and will bear the foltayfiegend:

“This certificate or other evidence of ownershigdihe shares of stock represented hereby are $tibjde terms and conditions
(including the risks of forfeiture and restrictioagainst transfer) contained in THE KROGER CO.
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2014 Long-Term Incentive and Cash Bonus Plan andgirement entered into between the registered oamé The Kroger
Co. Release from such terms and conditions withiagle only in accordance with the provisions ofRlen and the Agreement, a
copy of each of which is on file in the office bietSecretary of The Kroger Co.

(e) the applicable period or periods of any teroasditions or restrictions applicable to the Restd Stock, provided, however, that
Committee in its discretion may accelerate the @tioin of the applicable restriction period witlspect to any part or all of the Shares awa
to a Grantee; and

(f) the terms and conditions upon which any restns upon Shares of Restricted Stock awarded uthgePlan will lapse and ne
certificates free of the foregoing legend will bsued to the Grantee or his or her legal reprethenta

11.4 The Committee may include in an Agreementairement that in the event of a Grangegrmination of employment for any rea
prior to the lapse of restrictions, all Shares @sticted Stock will be forfeited by the Granteethe Company without payment of ¢
consideration by the Company, and neither the @eamor any successors, heirs, assigns or persepasentatives of the Grantee
thereafter have any further rights or intereshim $hares or certificates.

11.5 The maximum number of Shares of Restrictedk3trat may be awarded to any Employee or Direatater this Plan during its term
3,750,000 Shares.

12. Incentive Share Awards
12.1 The Committee is hereby authorized to awaedrtive Shares to Employees and Directors.

12.2 Incentive Shares will be Shares that are tsstesuch times, subject to achievement of sucfoeance Goals or other goals,
without condition, and on such other terms and o as the Committee deems appropriate andfypadhe Agreement relating thereto.

12.3 The maximum number of Shares of Incentive &h#rat may be awarded to any Employee or Diregider this Plan during its te
is 3,750,000 Shares.

13. Capital Adjustments

The number and class of Shares subject to eactandisg Option, Right or Performance Unit or Res¢id Stock or Incentive Share awi
the Option Price and the aggregate number and ofaShares for which grants or awards thereaftey & made will be subject to st
adjustment, if any, as the Committee in its sokedition deems appropriate to reflect such eventgtaxk dividends, stock splits, adoptiol
stock rights plans, recapitalizations, mergerssobdations or reorganizations of or by the Company

14. Termination or Amendment

The Board may amend or terminate this Plan in aspect at any time. Board approval must be accoiegény (i) shareholder appro
in those cases in which amendment requires shatethalpproval under applicable law or regulationgher requirements of the princi
exchange or interdealer quotation system on whieh Shares are listed or quoted, and (ii) affectptioDee or Grantee approval if
amendment or termination would adversely affecthbleler's rights under any outstanding grants or awards.J&sh Bonus Program may
wholly or partially amended or otherwise modifisdspended or terminated at any time or from timéme by the Committee or the Board.
the extent required by Section 162(m) of the IrdeRevenue Code with respect to bonus awardshbeatbommittee determines should quz
as performancéased compensation as described in Section 162(@)(40 action may modify the performance critesiabonus potentia
after the commencement of the measurement perithdrespect to which such bonus awards relate.
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15. Moadification, Extension and Renewal of OptionsRights, Performance Units, Restricted Stock and lcentive Shares

Subject to the terms and conditions and withinlitinéations of the Plan, the Committee may mod#ytend or renew outstanding Optic
Rights and Performance Units, or accept the suemendl outstanding options, rights and performanoésu(to the extent not theretofi
exercised) granted under the Plan or under any pthe of the Company, a Subsidiary or a comparsiroilar entity acquired by the Comps
or a Subsidiary, and authorize the granting of @ptions, Rights and Performance Units pursuanhéoRlan in substitution therefor (to
extent not theretofore exercised), and the substit@ptions, Rights and Performance Units may $pecionger term than the surrende
options, rights and performance units or may haweaher provisions that are authorized by the Rfaovided that the exercise price may
be less than that of the surrendered option, rights performance units. Subject to the terms amditons and within the limitations of t
Plan, the Committee may modify the terms of anystamnding Agreement providing for awards of RestdcGtock or Incentive Shar
Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, no modifiza of an Option, Right or Performance Unit grahtender the Plan, or an awarc
Restricted Stock or Incentive Shares, will, withthg consent of the Optionee or Grantee, altempair any of the Optionee’s or Grantee’
rights or obligations.

16. Cash Bonuses

Two types of bonuses can be awarded under the Bashs Program; an annual bonus award for eachl figza, and a longerm bonu
award for measurement periods in excess of one Beaus payments are based on the Compapgiformance measured against Perforr
Goals established by the Committee. The Committtehéishes a bonus “potentidtir each bonus payable under the Cash Bonus Profgn
each participant, based on the participant’'s levighin the Company, and actual payouts can excéatl amount when the Company’
performance exceeds the mstablished thresholds. Initially the Performan@al& for annual bonuses will include the followicgmponent:
(i) EBITDA,; (ii) identical sales; (iii) achievemerf strategic initiatives, and (iv) achievementsofpermarket fuel center goals for EBITI
gallons sold, and number of fuel centers. Initige Performance Goals for lomgrn bonuses will include the following componerti}
performance in four key categories in the Compsusyrategic plan, (ii) reduction in operating castsa percentage of sales, (iii) performan
categories designed to measure associate engagemeifiv). No single cash bonus to a participaay mxceed $5,000,000.

17. Effectiveness of the Plan

The Plan and any amendments requiring sharehofifgp@al pursuant to Article 14 are subject to apptdoy vote of the shareholders
the Company within 12 months after their adoptigntbe Board. Subject to that approval, the Plareffective upon approval by t
shareholders and any amendments are effective emate on which they are adopted by the Board.o@gtiRights, Performance Un
Restricted Stock and Incentive Shares may be gtamteawarded prior to shareholder approval of then Pr amendments, but each <
Option, Right, Performance Unit, Restricted Stocknzentive Share grant or award will be subjectht® approval of the Plan or amendm
by the shareholders. The date on which any Opkaight, Performance Unit, Restricted Stock or IntenShares granted or awarded pric
shareholder approval of the Plan or amendment astgd or awarded will be the Date of Grant formllposes as if the Option, Ric
Performance Unit, Restricted Stock or Incentive r8fichad not been subject to approval. No OptioghRor Performance Unit may
exercised prior to such shareholder approval, ayd=estricted Stock or Incentive Shares awardeldbaiforfeited if such shareholder apprc
is not obtained.

18. Term of the Plan

Unless sooner terminated by the Board pursuantrticlé 14, the Plan will terminate on the date years after its adoption by the Bo:
and no Options, Rights, Performance Units, Restli@tock or Incentive Shares may be granted ordmdaafter termination. The terminat
will not affect the validity of any Option, Righerformance Unit, Restricted Stock or Incentiver8hautstanding on the date of termination.
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19. Indemnification of Committee

In addition to such other rights of indemnificatias they may have as Directors or as members oCtmmittee, the members of
Committee will be indemnified by the Company agathe reasonable expenses, including attornies, actually and reasonably incurre
connection with the defense of any action, suprceeding, or in connection with any appeal there which they or any of them may t
party by reason of any action taken or failure ¢b inder or in connection with the Plan or any gmmaward hereunder, and agains
amounts reasonably paid by them in settlement dfienepaid by them in satisfaction of a judgmentimny such action, suit or proceeding
such members acted in good faith and in a mana¢thly believed to be in, and not opposed tob#st interests of the Company.

20. General Provisions

20.1 The establishment of the Plan will not confpon any Employee or Director any legal or equéalijht against the Company, i
Subsidiary or the Committee, except as expresslyiged in the Plan.

20.2 The Plan does not constitute inducement osideration for the employment of any Employee ergkrvice of any Director, nor is |
contract of employment between the Company or amysiliary and any Employee or Director. Participatin the Plan, or the receipt c
grant or award hereunder, will not give an Emploge®irector any right to be retained in the seevi¢ the Company or any Subsidiary.

20.3 The Company and its Subsidiaries may assurienspwarrants, or rights to purchase stock issuegranted by other corporatic
whose stock or assets are acquired by the Compaitg Subsidiaries, or that is merged into or cdidsted with the Company. Assun
options will not be counted toward the limit speaifin Section 6.3 unless the Committee determihasapplication of the limit is necess
for the grants of Options to qualify as “performedrased compensationhder Section 162(m) of the Code. Neither the adopif this Plar
nor its submission to the shareholders, may bentakkémpose any limitations on the powers of thenpany or its affiliates to issue, grant
assume options, warrants, rights, or restrictedkstotherwise than under this Plan, or to adop¢wokbngterm incentive plans or to impose i
requirement of shareholder approval upon the same.

20.4 The interests of any Employee or Director unkle Plan are not subject to the claims of cregitmd may not, in any way, be assig
alienated or encumbered except as provided inlarti©.

20.5 The Plan will be governed, construed and aidheired in accordance with the laws of Ohio.
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FiNaNCIAL REPORT 2013

M ANAGEMENT 'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of The Kroger Co. has the resptitysitoir preparing the accompanying financial staénts and for their integrity a
objectivity. The statements were prepared in acmrd with generally accepted accounting principlgslied on a consistent basis and are
misstated due to material error or fraud. The foi@nstatements include amounts that are basedamragemens best estimates and judgme
Management also prepared the other informatiohéréport and is responsible for its accuracy amsistency with the financial statements.

The Companys financial statements have been audited by Prieglv@aiseCoopers LLP, an independent registeredcpatdtounting firrr
whose selection has been approved by the shareboManagement has made available to Pricewatee@mapers LLP all of the Compaisy’
financial records and related data, as well agrtimeites of the shareholders’ and directongetings. Furthermore, management believes tt
representations made to PricewaterhouseCoopersiutiRg its audit were valid and appropriate.

Management also recognizes its responsibility dstdring a strong ethical climate so that the Caomizaaffairs are conducted accordin
the highest standards of personal and corporatduconThis responsibility is characterized andeet#d inThe Kroger Co. Policy on Busint
Ethics, which is publicized throughout the Company andilable on the Company’s website at ir.kroger.cdine Kroger Co. Policy ¢
Business Ethiciaddresses, among other things, the necessity efrirgsopen communication within the Company; pdsntonflicts o
interests; compliance with all domestic and foreiamns, including those related to financial disdlies and the confidentiality of propriet:
information. The Company maintains a systematigrm to assess compliance with these policies.

M ANAGEMENT 'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of the Company is responsible tabkshing and maintaining adequate internal cdrdver financial reporting for tt
Company. With the participation of the Chief ExéeaitOfficer and the Chief Financial Officer, our nagement conducted an evaluation o
effectiveness of our internal control over finaheigporting based on the framework and criteriat@&hed ininternal Control —Integratec
Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiof the Treadway Commission. Based on this etialuaour manageme
has concluded that the Company’s internal contvet dinancial reporting was effective as of Febyuhyr2014.

W. Rodney McMullen J. Michael Schlotman
Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Fiscal Years Ended

February 1, February 2, January 28, January 29, January 30,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(52 weeks) (53 weeks)* (52 weeks)* (52 weeks)* (52 weeks)*
(In millions, except per share amounts)
Sales $98,37¢ $96,61¢ $90,26¢ $81,96° $76,53¢
Net earnings including noncontrollit
interests 1,531 1,50¢ 59¢€ 1,13¢ 57
Net earnings attributable
The Kroger Co. 1,51¢ 1,497 60z 1,11¢ 7C

Net earnings attributable

The Kroger Co. per diluted

common share 2.9C 2.717 1.01 1.74 0.11
Total assets 29,28: 24,63¢ 23,45¢ 23,50¢ 23,12¢
Long-term liabilities, including obligations

under capital leases and financing

obligations 13,18: 9,35¢ 10,40¢ 10,137 10,47
Total shareowners’ equity —

The Kroger Co. 5,38¢ 4,201 3,981 5,29¢€ 4,852
Cash dividends per common share 0.61¢ 0.49¢ 0.4z 0.3¢ 0.36¢

* Certain prior year amounts have been revised teigsified to conform to current year presentatteor. further information, see Note 1 to
the Consolidated Financial Stateme

COMMON SHARE PRICE RANGE

2013 2012
Quarter High Low High Low
1st $35.4¢  $27.5:  $24.7¢  $21.7¢
2nd $39.9¢  $32.77 $23.2:  $20.9¢
3r $43.8¢ $35.91 $25.4¢ $21.57
4th $42.7:  $35.71 $28.0C $24.1¢

Main trading market: New York Stock Exchange (SyirtR)
Number of shareholders of record at -end 2013: 30,587
Number of shareholders of record at March 28, 2604449

During 2012, the Company paid three quarterly adistdends of $0.115 per share and one quarterlideind of $0.15 per share. Dur
2013, the Company paid three quarterly dividend$®15 per share and one quarterly dividend of @ der share. On March 1, 2014,
Company paid a quarterly dividend of $0.165 peresh@n March 13, 2014, the Company announced th&dard of Directors has declare
quarterly dividend of $0.165 per share, payabldure 1, 2014, to shareholders of record at the dbbusiness on May 15, 2014.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

Set forth below is a line graph comparing the fjeax cumulative total shareholder return on Kraggedmmon shares, based on the m.
price of the common shares and assuming reinvestoheividends, with the cumulative total returnag@impanies in the Standard & P@080(
Stock Index and a peer group composed of food amgl cbmpanies.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE-YEAR TOTAL RETURN*
Among The Kroger Co., the S&P 500, and Peer Group**

= == =The Kioger Co. == 55 500 Indey =——Peer Group

Base INDEXED RETURNS
Period Years Ending
Company Name/Index 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
The Kroger Co. 100 96.8¢ 97.9¢ 113.8¢ 133.4¢ 175.7%
S&P 500 Index 100 133.1¢ 162.6°7 171.3¢ 201.5( 242.4:
Peer Group 100 123.8¢ 134.4¢ 141.3¢ 170.7¢ 193.17

Kroger's fiscal year ends on the Saturday closedathuary 31.

* Total assumes $100 invested on January 31, 2009hénKroger Co., S&P 500 Index, and the Peer Graufh) reinvestment ¢
dividends.

**  The Peer Group consists of Costco Wholesale C@QS Caremark Corp, Etablissments Delhaize Frere€iEtLe Lion (Group
Delhaize), Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea Companyc.lfincluded through March 13, 2012 when it becamieate after emerging fro
bankruptcy), Koninklijke Ahold NV, Safeway, Inc.ufervalu Inc., Target Corp., Tesco plc, Vgt Stores Inc., Walgreen Co., Wh
Foods Market Inc. and Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. (ud#d through March 9, 2012 when it became a wimlyped subsidiary of Bi-o
Holding).

Data supplied by Standard & P's.

The foregoing Performance Graph will not be deemedrporated by reference into any other filingsedit an express reference thereto.
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| SSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Total Number of

Shares

Purchased as

Part of Publicly

Maximum Dollar
Value of Shares
that May Yet Be

Purchased Unde

Total Number Average Announced the Plans or
of Shares Price Paic Plans or Programs (3)
Period (1) Purchased Per Share Programs (2) (in millions)
First period - four weeks
November 10, 2013 to December 7, 2013 1,525,83 $41.99 1,525,83 $281
Second period - four weeks
December 8, 2013 to January 4, 2014 1,776,02 $40.04 1,776,02 $214
Third period — four weeks
January 5, 2014 to February 1, 2014 2,407,31 $37.91 2,407,31 $129
Total 5,709,17 $39.66 5,709,17 $129

(1) The reported periods conform to the Company’s fisedendar composed of thirteen 88y periods. The fourth quarter of 2
contained three -day periods

(2) Shares were repurchased under (i) a $500 milli@reshepurchase program, authorized by the Boarfdirefctors and announced
October 16, 2012 and (ii) a program announced aceBder 6, 1999 to repurchase common shares toaetillution resulting from ol
employee stock option and logrm incentive plans, which program is limited togeeds received from exercises of stock optiomnl
the tax benefits associated therewith. The progfasens no expiration date but may be terminatechbyBioard of Directors at any tin
Total shares purchased include shares that werenslared to the Company by participants under tiegany’s longterm incentiv:
plans to pay for taxes on restricted stock awa@asMarch 13, 2014, the Company announced a newvll&intshare repurchase progr
that was authorized by the Board of Directors,aejolg the program identified in clause (i) abc

(3) The amounts shown in this column reflect amountsaiaing, as of February 1, 2014, under the $500anikhare repurchase progr
referenced in clause (i) of Note 2 above. Amouantlsd invested under the program utilizing optioareise proceeds are dependent |
option exercise activity

BusINESS

The Kroger Co. (the “Companyfiyas founded in 1883 and incorporated in 1902. Afelfruary 1, 2014, the Company was one @
largest retailers in the world based on annuaksdlee Company also manufactures and processesafdhmefood for sale in its supermark
The Company’s principal executive offices are ledatit 1014 Vine Street, Cincinnati, Ohio 45202, ismtklephone number is (513) 76200
The Company maintains a web site (www.thekrogemuo)cthat includes additional information about thempany. The Company mal
available through its web site, free of chargeaitaual reports on Form 10-K, its quarterly reportd=orm 10-Q, its current reports on Form &
K and its interactive data files, including amenditse These forms are available as soon as reagopauticable after the Company has 1
them with, or furnished them electronically to, SEC.

The Companys revenues are earned and cash is generated asnsongroducts are sold to customers in its storhe. Company ear
income predominantly by selling products at prieeels that produce revenues in excess of its ¢ostsake these products available tc
customers. Such costs include procurement andilbdiSon costs, facility occupancy and operationabts, and overhead expenses.
Companys fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to Jardda All references to 2013, 2012 and 2011 anhédfiscal years ended Febru
1, 2014, February 2, 2013 and January 28, 201@ectisely, unless specifically indicated otherwise.

EMPLOYEES

As of February 1, 2014, the Company employed apprately 375,000 full- and part-time employees. Ajonisy of the Company
employees are covered by collective bargaining eagemts negotiated with local unions affiliated wathe of several different internatio
unions. There are approximately 300 such agreemesusily with terms of three to five years.
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STORES

As of February 1, 2014, the Company operated, eithrectly or through its subsidiaries, 2,640 suparkets and multilepartment store
1,240 of which had fuel centers. Approximately 45%these supermarkets were operated in Compamed facilities, including sor
Company-owned buildings on leased land. The Conipanyrent strategy emphasizes s#dfrelopment and ownership of store real estate
Companys stores operate under several banners that hareydbcal ties and brand recognition. Supermarketsgenerally operated un
one of the following formats: combination food adrdig stores (“combo stores”); muttepartment stores; marketplace stores; or pricad
warehouses.

The combo stores are the primary food store foriaty typically draw customers from a 2% mile radius. The Company believes
format is successful because the stores are laigegh to offer the specialty departments that ecasts desire for onstop shopping, includir
natural food and organic sections, pharmacies,rgengerchandise, pet centers and higlality perishables such as fresh seafood and m
produce.

Multi-department stores are significantly larger in ¢fmn combo stores. In addition to the departmeffesen at a typical combo sto
multi-department stores sell a wide selection of generaichandise items such as apparel, home fashionfuanihings, electronic
automotive products, toys and fine jewelry.

Marketplace stores are smaller in size than melpiadtment stores. They offer fidervice grocery, pharmacy and health and beaut
departments as well as an expanded perishabléngffend general merchandise area that includeseppame goods and toys.

Price impact warehouse stores offer a “no-friltay Icost” warehouse format and feature everyday low pricas promotions for a wic
selection of grocery and health and beauty camasiteQuality meat, dairy, baked goods and fresh ymedtems provide a competit
advantage. The average size of a price impact wasghstore is similar to that of a combo store.

In addition to the supermarkets, as of Februar®01L4, the Company operated through subsidiariescé@&enience stores and 320
jewelry stores. All 144 of our fine jewelry storkxcated in malls are operated in leased locatitmaddition, 83 convenience stores v
operated by franchisees through franchise agreemapproximately 54% of the convenience stores ateer by subsidiaries were operate
Companyewned facilities. The convenience stores offematéd assortment of staple food items and geneeathandise and, in most ca:
sell gasoline.

SEGMENTS

The Company operates retail food and drug storedtj-oepartment stores, jewelry stores, and convenistares throughout the Unit
States. The Company’s retail operations, whichesgmt over 99% of the Compasyconsolidated sales and EBITDA, are its only regiube
segment. The Compargyretail operating divisions have been aggregatéa one reportable segment due to the operatingidins havin
similar economic characteristics with similar lomgm financial performance. In addition, the Comypanoperating divisions offer to
customers similar products, have similar distribntimethods, operate in similar regulatory environtse purchase the majority of
Companys merchandise for retail sale from similar (andnany cases identical) vendors on a coordinated amsin a centralized locatic
serve similar types of customers, and are allocedégpital from a centralized location. The Companyperating divisions reflect the manne
which the business is managed and how the Comp#&hjief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officevho act as the Compaisythie
operating decision makers, assess performancendiiter All of the Companys operations are domestic. Revenues, profit arsksoand tot
assets are shown in the Company’s Consolidatedh€imaStatements set forth in Iltem 8 below.

M ERCHANDISING AND MANUFACTURING

Corporate brand products play an important rolethe Companys merchandising strategy. Our supermarkets, onageerstoc
approximately 13,000 private label items. The Conyfsacorporate brand products are primarily produead sold in three “tiersPrivate
Selection is the premium quality brand designeti¢a unique item in a category or to meet or Heat'gourmet” or “upscalebrands. Th
“banner
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brand” (Kroger, Ralphs, King Soopers, etc.), whiglpresents the majority of the Companyrivate label items, is designed to sa
customers with quality products. Before Kroger vadlrry a banner brand product we must be satigfiatl the product quality meets
customersexpectations in taste and efficacy, and we guagaitté&roger Value is the value brand, designeddtiver good quality at a ve
affordable price. In addition, the Company contste grow its other brands, including Simple Tratid Simple Truth Organic. Both Sim
Truth and Simple Truth Organic are free from 10fiaial preservatives and ingredients that custsrieave told us they do not want in tl
food, and the Simple Truth Organic products are BW$Brtified organic.

Approximately 40% of the corporate brand units saie produced in the Compasymanufacturing plants; the remaining corporatad
items are produced to the Company’s strict spetifios by outside manufacturers. The Company padoa “make or buy'analysis o
corporate brand products and decisions are based apcomparison of markéased transfer prices versus open market purchases!
February 1, 2014, the Company operated 38 manufagtplants. These plants consisted of 18 dairie® deli or bakery plants, five groc
product plants, two beverage plants, two meat plantl two cheese plants.

SEASONALITY

The majority of our revenues are generally not@ealsin nature. However, revenues tend to be highang the major holidays through
the year.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The disclosure regarding executive officers isfegh in Item 10 of Part IIl of this Form 10-K undthe heading Executive Officers of tr
Company,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT
For the disclosure related to the Company'’s cortipetenvironment, see Iltem 1A under the headingti@etitive Environment.”
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M ANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OUR BUSINESS

The Kroger Co. was founded in 1883 and incorporatel®02. It is one of the natianlargest retailers, as measured by revenue, apg
2,640 supermarket and mudtepartment stores under two dozen banners includinger, City Market, Dillons, Food 4 Less, Fred ye
Fry’s, Harris Teeter, Jay C, King Soopers, QFCpRaland Smitls. Of these stores, 1,240 have fuel centers. Weoglsrate 786 convenier
stores, either directly or through franchisees, 2@ fine jewelry stores.

Kroger operates 38 manufacturing plants, primadsdieries and dairies, which supply approximateBo4ff the corporate brand units s
in our retail outlets.

Our revenues are earned and cash is generateshsisnoer products are sold to customers in our stévesearn income predominately
selling products at price levels that produce reresnin excess of the costs we incur to make thestupts available to our customers. £
costs include procurement and distribution cosisilify occupancy and operational costs, and owsttexpenses. Our retail operations, w
represent over 99% of Kroger’s consolidated satelsEEBITDA, are our only reportable segment.

On January 28, 2014, we closed our merger withisldeeter Supermarkets, Inc. (“Harris Teetdry)purchasing 100% of the Harris Te:
outstanding common stock for approximately $2.4dsil The merger allows us to expand into the fastwing southeastern and midlantic
markets and into Washington, D.C. Harris Teet@énétuded in our ending Consolidated Balance SHmétpecause of the timing of the mel
closing late in the year its results of operatiovere not material to our consolidated results oérapions for 2013. See Note 2 to
Consolidated Financial Statements for more inforomatelated to our merger with Harris Teeter.

OuRr 2013 RERFORMANCE

We achieved outstanding results in 2013. Our bgsis&rategy continues to resonate with a full rafgeistomers and our results reflect
balance we seek to achieve across lmusiness including positive identical sales groviicreases in loyal household count, and good
control, as well as growth in net earnings andeaenhings per diluted share. Our 2013 net earnirege W1.5 billion or $2.90 per diluted shi
compared to $1.5 billion, or $2.77 per diluted shfr the same period of 2012. The net earning2@®a8 include a net benefit of $23 milli
which includes benefits from certain tax items 40$nillion, offset partially by aftetax expense of $17 million ($7 million in interestd $1
million in operating, general and administrativemnses) in costs related to our merger with Hamester (“2013 adjusted items'Jee Note
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for moi@rination relating to the benefits from certair ims. For 2012, our net earnings incl
an estimated after-tax amount of $58 million orl30per diluted share due to a 53rd week in fiseary2012 (the “extra week”)n addition
2012 net earnings benefited by $74 million aftec-or $0.14 per diluted share from a settlemett Wisa and MasterCard and from a reduc
in our obligation to fund the UFCW consolidated gien fund created in January 2012. Excluding th&32&djusted items, net earnings
2013 totaled $1.5 billion, or $2.85 per diluted rshaompared to net earnings in 2012 of $1.4 hijlior $2.52 per diluted share, excluding
Visa and MasterCard settlement, the UFCW consdadipension fund adjustment and the extra week 12 20/e believe adjusted net earni
and adjusted net earnings per diluted share presemtre accurate year-ovgear comparison of our financial results becauseatjusted iten
were not directly related to our daydey business. After accounting for these 2013 &1 2adjusted items, our adjusted net earning
diluted share for 2013 represents a 13% increasepared to 2012. Please refer to the “Net Earnisgstion for more information.

Our identical supermarket sales increased 3.6%uéxg fuel, in 2013, compared to 2012. We haveiedd 41 consecutive quarters
positive identical supermarket sales growth, exaolgduel. As we continue to outpace many of our petitors on identical supermarket si
growth, we continue to gain market share. We famusdentical supermarket sales growth, excludirel,fas it is a key performance target
our long-term growth strategy.
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Increasing market share is an important part of longterm strategy as it best reflects how our prodactd services resonate w
customers. Market share growth allows us to spthadfixed costs in our business over a wider regepase. Our fundamental opera
philosophy is to maintain and increase market shgreffering customers good prices and superiodpects and service. Based on Nie
POS+ data, our estimated market share increagethirby approximately 50 basis points in 2013 asrour 18 marketing areas outlined by
Nielsen report. This information also indicatesttbar market share increased in 16 of the markedirgas and declined in two. V-Mart
supercenters are one of our top two competitods3inf these 18 marketing areas. In these 13 marketieas, our market share increased
and slightly declined in one. These market shasaltereflect our long-term strategy of market shgnowth.

RESULTS oF OPERATIONS

The following discussion summarizes our operatiegults for 2013 compared to 2012 and for 2012 coetpto 2011. Comparability
affected by income and expense items that fluctusignificantly between and among the periods anexdra week in 2012.

Net Earnings

Net earnings totaled $1.5 billion in 2013, $1.59idl in 2012 and $602 million in 2011. The net éags for 2013 include a net benefit
$23 million, after tax, related to the 2013 adjdsitems. The net earnings for 2012 include a bef@fin net earnings of approximately ¢
million, after-tax, for the extra week and a ne# $iillion, aftertax, benefit for the settlement with Visa and M&Sard and a reduction in ¢
obligation to fund the UFCW consolidated pensiondfiereated in January 2012 (“2012 adjusted itenT®ig net earnings for 2011 includ
UFCW consolidated pension plan charge totaling $68llion, after-tax (2011 adjusted item”Excluding these benefits and charges
adjusted items in 2013, 2012 and 2011, adjusteccaetings were $1.5 billion in 2013, $1.4 billian 2012 and $1.2 billion in 2011. 2C
adjusted net earnings improved, compared to adjuste earnings in 2012, due to an increase inifirsirst-out (“FIFO”) nonfuel operatin
profit and decreased interest expense, partialigebfby increased income tax expense. 2012 adjustecbarnings improved, comparec
adjusted net earnings in 2011, due to an increaB&H0O non-fuel operating profit, increased neheags from our fuel operations and a last-
first-out (“LIFO”) charge of $55 million (pre-taxompared to a LIFO charge of $216 million (pa&) in 2011, partially offset by increas
interest expense and income tax expense.

2013 net earnings per diluted share totaled $280,adjusted net earnings per diluted share to#e85, which excludes the 2013 adju
items. 2012 net earnings per diluted share totd®d7, and adjusted net earnings per diluted stwaéed $2.52, which excludes the 2
adjusted items. 2011 net earnings per diluted staeded $1.01, and adjusted net earnings peredilshare in 2011 totaled $2.00, wt
excludes the 2011 adjusted item. Adjusted net Bgsnper diluted share in 2013, compared to adjus¢éeaarnings per diluted share in 2(
increased primarily due to fewer shares outstandmg result of the repurchase of Kroger commonreshincreased FIFO ndoel operatin
profit and decreased interest expense, partialfgebfby increased income tax expense. Adjustedenatings per diluted share in 2C
compared to adjusted net earnings per diluted shat@11, increased primarily due to fewer shangtstanding as a result of the repurcha:
Kroger common shares, increased FIFO fi-operating profit, increased net earnings fraun fuel operations and a decrease in the |
charge to $55 million (pre-tax), compared to a LIEi@arge of $216 million (préax) in 2011, partially offset by increased int¢érespense ar
income tax expense.

Management believes adjusted net earnings (andtadjmet earnings per diluted share) are usefuicadb investors and analysts bec:
the adjusted items referenced above in net earrangsnet earnings per diluted share are not djreetated to our day-tday busines
Adjusted net earnings (and adjusted net earningslipged share) are non-generally accepted acamymtrinciple (“non-GAAP”)financia
measures and should not be considered alternativeret earnings (and net earnings per diluted 3hareany other generally accep
accounting principle (“GAAP")measure of performance. Adjusted net earnings &aljasted net earnings per diluted share) shouldbe
reviewed in isolation or considered substitutesdor financial results as reported in accordandb @WAAP. Management uses adjusted
earnings (and adjusted net earnings per dilutede}tas it believes these measures are more meahimglicators of ongoing operati
performance since, as adjusted, those earningt nelare directly to our day-tday operations. Management also uses adjustedangng:
(and adjusted net earnings per diluted share) @sore our progress against internal budgets agét&arin addition, management takes
account adjusted net earnings when calculating geanant incentive programs.

A-8




The following table provides a reconciliation oft marnings attributable to The Kroger Co. to nehmas attributable to The Kroger (
excluding the adjusted items and a reconciliatibnei earnings attributable to The Kroger Co. pérned common share to the net earn
attributable to The Kroger Co. per diluted commbare excluding the adjusted items, for 2013, 20122011:

Net Earnings per Diluted Share excluding the Adjugnhent Items

(in millions, except per share amounts)

Net earnings attributable to The Kroger |

Benefit from certain tax items offset by Harris Texenerger costs (1)

53"dweek adjustment (1)

Adjustment for the UFCW consolidated pension piahility and
credit card settlement (1)

UFCW pension plan consolidation charge (1)

Net earnings attributable to The Kroger Co. exaigdhe adjustmer
items above

Net Earnings attributable to The Kroger Co. peutdidl common shal

Benefit from certain tax items offset by Harris Texemerger costs (2)

53"dweek adjustment (2)

Adjustments for the UFCW consolidated pension iility and
credit card settlement (2)

UFCW pension plan consolidation charge (2)

Net earnings attributable to The Kroger Co. peautdill commot
share excluding the adjustment items above

Average numbers of common shares used in dilutiedledion

2013 2012 2011
$1,51¢  $1,497 $ 602
(23 — —
R (58) —

— (74) —

— — 591
$1,49¢  $1,36°  $1,19¢
$29C $277 $1.01
(0.05) — —
—  (0.1)) ]

— (019 —

— — 0.9¢
$28 $25 $20C
52C 537 592

(1) The amounts presented represent the after-taxt effeach adjustment. Ptax amounts were $27 for Harris Teeter merger ao213
$91 for the 53rd week adjustment in 2012, $115tier adjustment for the UFCW consolidated pensi@m piability and credit cal

settlement in 2012 and $953 for the UFCW pensian pbnsolidation charge in 20!

(2) The amounts presented represent the net earningélygted common share effect of each adjustrr

Sales
Total Sales
(in millions)
Percentage 2012 Percentage
Increase (2 2012 Adjusted (3) Increase (4 2011
Total supermarket sales
without fuel $76,66¢ 4.0% $75,17¢ $73,73¢ 3.8% $71,00¢
Fuel sales 18,96: 3.0% 18,89¢ 18,41 8.9% 16,90:
Other sales (1) 9.2% 2,54¢ 2,51t 6.4% 2,364
Total sales $98,37¢ 3.9% $96,61¢ $94,66: 4.9% $90,26¢

(1) Other sales primarily relate to sales at convemiestores, excluding fuel; jewelry stores; manufastuplants to outside custome

variable interest entities; a specialty pharmaay ia-store health clinics

(2) This column represents the percentage increaseli®, Zompared to adjusted sales in 2(

(3) The 2012 adjusted column represents the items e the 2012 column as adjusted to removextra aeek.

(4) This column represents the percentage increasdjustad sales in 2012, compared to 2(
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Total sales increased in 2013, compared to 2012,.83%. The increase in 2013 total sales, compar&d12, was primarily due to ¢
identical supermarket sales increase, excluding 6fe3.6%, partially offset by the extra week isdal 2012. Total sales increased in 2
compared to 2012 adjusted total sales, by 3.9%.iAdrease in 2013 total sales, compared to 201%sta] total sales, was primarily due to
identical supermarket sales increase, excluding @&ie3.6%. Identical supermarket sales, excluding, increased in 2013, compared to 2
primarily due to an increase in average sale pgtoover, partially due to inflation, and an incre@sthe transaction count.

Total sales increased in 2012, compared to 201T,.@%. The increase in 2012 total sales, compare&2D11, was primarily due to ¢
identical supermarket sales increase, excluding @i€3.5%, increased fuel sales of 8.9% and theaexeek in fiscal 2012. Adjusted total si
increased in 2012, compared to 2011, by 4.9%. mbeease in 2012 adjusted total sales, compare@itd tal sales, was primarily due to
identical supermarket sales increase, excluding @ie3.5% and an increase in fuel sales of 8.9%ntical supermarket sales, excluding 1
increased in 2012, adjusted for the extra week,pawed to 2011, primarily due to an increase inabherage sale per customer, partially du
inflation, and an increase in the transaction collintal fuel sales increased in 2012, adjustedHerextra week, compared to 2011, primi
due to an increase in fuel gallons sold of 7.8% amdncrease in the average retail fuel price @%d.The increase in the average retail
price was caused by an increase in the productotdsel.

We define a supermarket as identical when it has lie operation without expansion or relocationffee full quarters. Although identic
supermarket sales is a relatively standard terrmemaus methods exist for calculating identical soq@eket sales growth. As a result,
method used by our management to calculate idérsiggermarket sales may differ from methods otlenganies use to calculate ident
supermarket sales. We urge you to understand tlieon® used by other companies to calculate iddrdigaermarket sales before compa
our identical supermarket sales to those of othieh scompanies. Fuel discounts received at our daaters and earned based orstiore
purchases are included in all of the supermarkesitidal sales results calculations illustrated Weémd reduce our identical supermarket ¢
results. Differences between total supermarketssael identical supermarket sales primarily relatehanges in supermarket square foo
Identical supermarket sales include sales fromdaepartments at identical Fred Meyer mdkipartment stores. We calculate annua
identical supermarket sales by adding together fpueirters of identical supermarket sales. Our idehtsupermarket sales results
summarized in the table below, based on thevé@k period of 2013, compared to the previous yesults adjusted to a comparable 52 v
period.

Identical Supermarket Sales
(dollars in millions)

2013 2012 (1)
Including supermarket fuel centers $88,48: $85,66.
Excluding supermarket fuel centers $74,09¢ $71,54:
Including supermarket fuel centers 3.2% 4.5%
Excluding supermarket fuel centers 3.6% 3.5%

(1) Identical supermarket sales for 2013 were calcdlate a 52 week basis by excluding week 1 of fi@l?2 in our 2012 identic
supermarket sales base. Identical supermarketfeal2912 were calculated on a 53 week basis biydirng week 1 of fiscal 2012 in ¢
2011 identical supermarket sales b
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Gross Margin and FIFO Gross Margin

Our gross margin rates, as a percentage of saleg 20.57% in 2013, 20.59% in 2012 and 20.92% ih120he decrease in 20
compared to 2012, resulted primarily from continiragestments in lower prices for our customers imedeased shrink and advertising cc
as a percentage of sales, offset partially by avtir@ate in retail fuel sales that was lower thia@ total Company sales growth rate. Our r
fuel operations lower our gross margin rate, asragntage of sales, due to the very low gross mangiretail fuel sales as compared to noi
fuel sales. A lower growth rate in retail fuel sglas compared to the growth rate for the total gamy, increases the gross margin rates
percentage of sales, when compared to the priar Jé& decrease in gross margin rates in 2012, acedpto 2011, resulted primarily fror
higher growth rate in fuel sales, as compared ¢ogttowth rate for the total Company, continued #tweents in lower prices for our custorr
and increased shrink and warehousing costs, ascarfiage of sales, offset partially by a decreashe LIFO charge as a percentage of sales.

We calculate FIFO gross margin as sales minus raadibe costs, including advertising, warehousimgl #iansportation expenses,
excluding the LIFO charge. Merchandise costs excldepreciation and rent expenses. Our LIFO chagge$®82 million in 2013, $55 millic
in 2012 and $216 million in 2011. FIFO gross margia nonGAAP financial measure and should not be considasedn alternative to grc
margin or any other GAAP measure of performancEORgross margin should not be reviewed in isolationonsidered as a substitute for
financial results as reported in accordance withABAFIFO gross margin is an important measure usgednanagement to evalu
merchandising and operational effectiveness. Manage believes FIFO gross margin is a useful matrimvestors and analysts becau:
measures our day-to-day merchandising and opeedtiffectiveness.

Our FIFO gross margin rates, as a percentage e$,sakre 20.62% in 2013, 20.65% in 2012 and 21.i062011. Our retail fuel operatic
lower our FIFO gross margin rate, as a percentagales, due to the very low FIFO gross marginetail fuel sales as compared to rfaet
sales. Excluding the effect of retail fuel operasipour FIFO gross margin rate decreased 14 bagisspn 2013, as a percentage of s
compared to 2012. This decrease in 2013, compar@012, resulted primarily from continued investtseim lower prices for our custom
and increased shrink and advertising costs as @pege of sales. Excluding the effect of retadll foperations, our FIFO gross margin
decreased 40 basis points in 2012, as a perceotagdes, compared to 2011. This decrease in 2@iApared to 2011, resulted primarily fr
continued investments in lower prices for our costes and increased shrink and warehousing costpascentage of sales.

LIFO Charge

The LIFO charge was $52 million in 2013, $55 millim 2012 and $216 million in 2011. We experienceldtively consistent levels
product cost inflation in 2013, compared to 20122013, our LIFO charge resulted primarily fromaamualized product cost inflation rela
to meat, seafood and pharmacy. In 2012, our LIF&gshresulted primarily from an annualized produdt inflation related to grocery, natt
foods, meat, deli and bakery, general merchandigdegeocery, partially offset by deflation in seafloand manufactured product. In 2012,
experienced lower levels of product cost inflatioampared to 2011. In 2011, our LIFO charge primagsulted from an annualized proc
cost inflation related to grocery, meat and seafdetl and bakery, and pharmacy.
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Operating, General and Administrative Expenses

Operating, general and administrative (“OG&A”) erpes consist primarily of employeelated costs such as wages, health care be
and retirement plan costs, utilities and creditdcies. Rent expense, depreciation and amortizatipense, and interest expense are
included in OG&A.

OG&A expenses, as a percentage of sales, were%5@2013, 15.37% in 2012 and 17.00% in 2011. Edidg the 2013, 2012 and 2(
adjusted items, OG&A expenses, as a percentagaeaxf, svere 15.43% in 2013, 15.52% in 2012 and 256.842011. Our retail fuel operatic
reduce our overall OG&A rate, as a percentage lessalue to the very low OG&A rate on retail fuaeles as compared to néuel sales
OG&A expenses, as a percentage of sales excludielgahd the 2013 adjusted items, decreased 17 paisits in 2013, compared to 20
adjusted for the 2012 adjusted items. This decreasalted primarily from increased identical suparket sales growth, productiv
improvements and effective cost controls at theestevel, offset partially by increased incentivempensation. OG&A expenses, &
percentage of sales excluding fuel and the 201@sgelj items, decreased 36 basis points in 2012pa@d to 2011, adjusted for the 2
adjusted items. This decrease resulted primardynfincreased identical supermarket sales growthgumtivity improvements, effective ci
controls at the store level, the benefit receivetbier operating expenses from the consolidatiofowr UFCW multiemployer pension pla
in the prior year and decreased incentive compmsaiffset partially by increased healthcare costs

Rent Expense

Rent expense was $613 million in 2013, as comparek628 million in 2012 and $619 million in 2011eR expense, as a percentac
sales, was 0.62% in 2013, as compared to 0.65%12 and 0.69% in 2011. Rent expense, as a perenfagples excluding fuel, decrea
four basis points in 2013, compared to 2012 and f@asis points in 2012, compared to 2011. Theséraai decreases in rent expense,
percentage of sales both including and excludimeg feflects our continued emphasis on owning rdthen leasing, whenever possible, anc
benefit of increased sales.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense was $1.1obilin both 2013 and 2012 and $1.6 billion in 20DE&preciation and amortizati
expense, as a percentage of sales, was 1.73% 8) 201 % in 2012 and 1.81% in 2011. Excluding tkigaeweek in 2012, depreciation ¢
amortization expense, as a percentage of sales1wd%o in 2012. Depreciation and amortization espem@s a percentage of sales exclt
fuel and the extra week in 2012, decreased thrsis fp@ints in 2013, compared to 2012 and severs lpasits in 2012, compared to 2C
These continual decreases in depreciation and eatioh expense, excluding the extra week in 2@k2a percentage of sales both inclu
and excluding fuel, are primarily the result ofreasing sales, offset partially by our increaseshdmg in capital investments.

Operating Profit and FIFO Operating Profit

Operating profit was $2.7 billion in 2013, $2.8libih in 2012 and $1.3 billion in 2011. Excludingetkextra week, operating profit was $
billion in 2012. Operating profit, as a percentagesales, was 2.77% in 2013, 2.86% in 2012 and%.42 2011. Operating profit, as
percentage of sales excluding the extra week ir2 28hs 2.81%. Operating profit, excluding the 2QA&12 and 2011 adjusted items, was
billion in 2013, $2.6 billion in 2012 and $2.2 mih in 2011. Operating profit, as a percentagead¢s excluding the 2013, 2012 and 2
adjusted items, was 2.79% in 2013, 2.69% in 201P22a47% in 2011.

Operating profit, as a percentage of sales exatuttia 2013 and 2012 adjusted items, increased 4i6 paints in 2013, compared to 2(
primarily due to improvements in operating, genarad administrative expenses, rent and deprecjed®a percentage of sales, offset par
by continued investments in lower prices for oustomers and increased shrink and advertising casta,percentage of sales. Operating p
as a percentage of sales excluding the 2012 antl 26justed items, increased 22 basis points in ,28d@pared to 2011, primarily due
improvements in operating, general and adminiseagkpenses, rent, depreciation and the LIFO chasga percentage of sales, offset par
by continued investments in lower prices for owstomers and increased shrink and warehousing @sstspercentage of sales.

A-12




We calculate FIFO operating profit as operatingfipexcluding the LIFO charge. FIFO operating ptaéi a nonGAAP financial measu
and should not be considered as an alternativpecating profit or any other GAAP measure of perfance. FIFO operating profit should
be reviewed in isolation or considered as a sultstibr our financial results as reported in acao with GAAP. FIFO operating profit is
important measure used by management to evaluatatamal effectiveness. Management believes FIp@aiing profit is a useful metric
investors and analysts because it measures ouoddgy operational effectiveness. Since fuel dist®are earned based onsitore purchase
fuel operating profit does not include fuel disctsyrwhich are allocated to our stere supermarket location departments. We alsiva
operating, general and administrative expenses arahdepreciation and amortization through theafisstimated allocations in the calcula
of fuel operating profit.

FIFO operating profit was $2.8 billion in 2013 ad@il2, and $1.5 billion in 2011. Excluding the extreek in 2012, FIFO operating prt
was $2.7 billion. FIFO operating profit, as a petege of sales, was 2.82% in 2013, 2.92% in 20121a66% in 2011. FIFO operating prc
as a percentage of sales excluding the extra we2812, was 2.87%. FIFO operating profit, excludimg 2013, 2012, and 2011 adjusted it
was $2.8 billion in 2013, $2.6 billion in 2012 a#d.4 billion in 2011. FIFO operating profit, as ergentage of sales excluding the 2013, z
and 2011 adjusted items, was 2.84% in 2013, 2. 762012, and 2.71% in 2011.

Retall fuel sales lower our overall FIFO operatprgfit rate due to the very low FIFO operating jircdte, as a percentage of sales, of t
fuel sales compared to ndwel sales. FIFO operating profit, excluding fuglas $2.6 billion in 2013 and 2012, and $1.3 billion2011
Excluding the extra week, FIFO operating profitclexling fuel, was $2.5 billion in 2012. FIFO opénat profit, as a percentage of si
excluding fuel, was 3.22% in 2013, 3.35% in 201 4.77% in 2011. Excluding the extra week, FIF@rafing profit, as a percentage of s
excluding fuel, was 3.28% in 2012. FIFO operatingfip excluding fuel and the 2013, 2012 and 20djusted items, was $2.6 billion in 20
$2.4 billion in 2012 and $2.3 billion in 2011. FIFGperating profit, as a percentage of sales exctudliel and the 2013, 2012, and 2
adjusted items, was 3.24% in 2013, 3.13% in 2012307% in 2011.

Excluding fuel, FIFO operating profit, as a pereg@ of sales excluding the 2013 and 2012 adjustadsj increased 11 basis point
2013, compared to 2012, primarily due to improversém OG&A expenses, rent and depreciation, asreepgage of sales, offset partially
continued investments in lower prices for our costos and increased shrink and advertising costa, @eycentage of sales. Excluding f
FIFO operating profit, as a percentage of salesudikgy the 2012 and 2011 adjusted items, increadedbasis points in 2012, comparet
2011, primarily due to improvements in operatingneral and administrative expenses, rent and defieet as a percentage of sales, o
partially by continued investments in lower priéesour customers and increased shrink and waréhgessts, as a percentage of sales.
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The following table provides a reconciliation ofespting profit to FIFO operating profit and FIFOeoating profit, excluding fuel and t
adjusted items, for 2013, 2012 and 2011 ($ in otik):

2012
2013 2012 Adjusted 2011
Percentage Percentage 2012 Percentage Percentage
2013 of Sales 2012 of Sales Adjusted (1) of Sales oip of Sales
Sales $ 98,37t $ 96,61¢ $ 94,66 $ 90,26¢
Fuel sales (18,967) (18,89¢) (18,419 (16,907
Sales excluding fuel $ 79,41 $77,72¢ $ 76,24¢ $ 73,36¢
Operating profit $ 2,72t 2.71% $ 2,76¢ 2.8€% $ 2,66¢ 2.81% $ 1,27¢ 1.42%
LIFO charge 52 0.05% b5 0.06% 55 0.0€% 21€ 0.24%
FIFO operating profit 2,77 2.82% 2,81¢ 2.92% 2,71¢ 2.87% 1,49¢ 1.6€%
Fuel operating profit (219 1.15% (21¢) 1.15% (215 1.17% (192 1.14%
FIFO operating profit
excluding fuel 2,55¢ 3.22% 2,601 3.35% 2,50¢ 3.28% 1,302 1.71%
Adjusted items (2) 16 (115) (115 952
FIFO operating profit
excluding fuel and the
adjusted items $ 2,57« 3.2%% $ 2,48¢ 3.2(% $ 2,38¢ 3.1%% $ 2,25t 3.0%

(1) The 2012 adjusted column represents items presabt adjusted to remove the extra wi

(2) Adjusted items refer to the [-tax effect of the 2013, 2012 and 2011 adjustedst:
Percentages may not sum due to rounding.
Interest Expense

Net interest expense totaled $443 million in 208462 million in 2012 and $435 million in 2011. Exding the extra week, net inter
expense was $454 million in 2012. The decreasetinterest expense in 2013, compared to 2012udxd the extra week, resulted prima
from a lower weighted average interest rate, offsetially by a decrease in the net benefit froternest rate swaps. The increase in net int
expense in 2012 excluding the extra week, comparé®11, resulted primarily from a decrease inlibaefit from interest rate swaps anc
increase in total debt, offset partially by a lowmazrighted average interest rate.

Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rate was 32.9% in 20135%in 2012 and 29.3% in 2011. The 2013 tax rdferdd from the federal statutc
rate primarily as a result of the utilization ox teredits, the Domestic Manufacturing Deduction atfter changes, partially offset by the ef
of state income taxes. The 2012 tax rate differechfthe federal statutory rate primarily as a restithe utilization of tax credits, the favora
resolution of certain tax issues and other changasially offset by the effect of state incomedaxThe 2013 benefit from the Dome
Manufacturing Deduction increased from 2012 duadditional deductions taken in 2013, as well asafimendment of prior yearsx return
to claim the additional benefit available in yestil under review by the Internal Revenue Servikdee 2011 effective tax rate differed from
federal statutory rate primarily as a result of ttiization of tax credits and the favorable regioin of certain tax issues, partially offset bg
effect of state income taxes. The 2011 effectiwertde was also lower than 2013 and 2012 due teffeet on preax income of the UFC!
consolidated pension plan charge of $953 millicBO@million aftertax). Excluding the UFCW consolidated pension pharge, our effecti
rate in 2011 would have been 33.9%.
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COMMON SHARE REPURCHASE PROGRAM

We maintain share repurchase programs that comipySecurities Exchange Act Rule 10b%nd allow for the orderly repurchase of
common shares, from time to time. We made open engrrchases of Kroger common shares totaling $8i&n in 2013, $1.2 billion i
2012 and $1.4 billion in 2011 under these repurelpsgrams. In addition to these repurchase program also repurchase common shar
reduce dilution resulting from our employee stogkian plans. This program is solely funded by peatefrom stock option exercises, anc
tax benefit from these exercises. We repurchaspbapnately $271 million in 2013, $96 million in 22 and $127 million in 2011 of Krog
shares under the stock option program.

The shares reacquired in 2013 were acquired umdese¢parate share repurchase programs. The fiassb%0 million repurchase progr
that was authorized by KrogerBoard of Directors on October 16, 2012. The sédsm program that uses the cash proceeds froexdreise
of stock options by participants in Kroger's stagition and longerm incentive plans as well as the associatedésmefits. As of February
2014, we had $129 million remaining on the Octob@&y 2012 $500 million share repurchase program.Manch 13, 2014, the Compe
announced a new $1 billion share repurchase proghatmwas authorized by the Board of Directors)a@pg the $500 million repurche
program that was authorized by the Board of Dinsctm October 16, 2012.

CAPITAL INVESTMENTS

Capital investments, including changes in consimaein-progress payables and excluding acquisitions a@gtichase of leased faciliti
totaled $2.3 billion in 2013, $2.0 billion in 20EAd $1.9 billion in 2011. Capital investments fogaisitions totaled $2.3 billion in 2013, $
million in 2012 and $51 million in 2011. Capitalviestments for acquisitions of $2.3 billion in 20tE3ate to our merger with Harris Tee
Refer to Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial $tatets for more information on the merger with Haifeeter. Capital investments for
purchase of leased facilities totaled $108 millier2013, $73 million in 2012 and $60 million in 201The table below shows our superme
storing activity and our total food store squaretéme:

Supermarket Storing Activity

2013 2012 2011
Beginning of year 2,42¢ 2,43t 2,46(
Opened 17 18 10
Opened (relocation) 7 7 12
Acquired 227 — 6
Acquired (relocation) — — 2
Closed (operational) (28) (29 (41)
Closed (relocation) (7) (7) (14)
End of year 2,64C 2,42¢ 2,43t
Total food store square footage (in millions) 161 14¢ 14¢

RETURN ON INVESTED CAPITAL

We calculate return on invested capital (“ROI®Y) dividing adjusted operating profit for the prifmur quarters by the average inve:
capital. Adjusted operating profit is calculateddxcluding certain items included in operating fir@nd adding our LIFO charge, deprecia
and amortization and rent. Average invested cafstahlculated as the sum of (i) the average oftotal assets, (ii) the average LIFO rese
(iii) the average accumulated depreciation and #ration and (iv) a rent factor equal to total réort the last four quarters multiplied b
factor of eight; minus (i) the average taxes rezmili®, (ii) the average trade accounts payablé,tli@ average accrued salaries and wage
(iv) the average other current liabilities. Averagere calculated for return on invested capitalatdging the beginning balance of the -
qguarter and the ending balance of the fourth quaofethe last four quarters, and dividing by tMde use a factor of eight for our total ren
we believe this is a common factor used by ourstas and analysts. Harris
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Teeters invested capital has been excluded from the lzdion in 2013 due to the timing of the merger #mgl immaterial effect on operatic
as compared to the average invested capital. ROENONSAAP financial measure of performance. ROIC shadtibe reviewed in isolatic
or considered as a substitute for our financialltesas reported in accordance with GAAP. ROICnisnaportant measure used by manage
to evaluate our investment returns on capital. Mangnt believes ROIC is a useful metric to invesstord analysts because it measures
effectively we are deploying our assets. All itemsluded in the calculation of ROIC are GAAP measurexcluding certain adjustment:
operating income.

Although ROIC is a relatively standard financiainte numerous methods exist for calculating a comgROIC. As a result, the mett
used by our management to calculate ROIC may diften methods other companies use to calculate B@IC. We urge you to underste
the methods used by other companies to calculateR©OIC before comparing our ROIC to that of sodfer companies.

The following table provides a calculation of ROE 2013 and 2012 on a 52 week basis and exclutim@ssets and liabilities recorde
year end for Harris Teeter ($ in million:

February 1, February 2,

2014 2013

Return on Invested Capital

Numeratot
Operating profit on a 53 week basis in fisear 2012 $ 2,72¢ $ 2,76¢
53dweek operating profit adjustment — (100
LIFO charge 52 55
Depreciation 1,70: 1,652
Rent on a 53 week basis in fiscal year 2012 613 62¢
53dweek rent adjustment — (12)
2013 adjusted item 1€ —
2012 adjusted items — (115
Adjusted operating profit $ 5,10¢ $ 4,87:

Denominator
Average total assets $26,95¢ $24,04¢
Average taxes receivable (1) (20 (22
Average LIFO reserve 1,124 1,071
Average accumulated depreciation and anatitiz 14,99: 14,05
Average trade accounts payable (4,687%) (4,382)
Average accrued salaries and wages (1,089 (1,067)
Average other current liabilities (2) (2,549 (2,319
Adjustment for Harris Teeter (3) (1,619 —
Rent x 8 4,90« 4,92¢
Average invested capital $38,03¢ $36,31¢

Return on Invested Capital 13.4%% 13.42%

(1) Taxes receivable were $18 as of February 1, 2@ 4s®f February 2, 2013 and $42 as of Januarg@2.

(2) Other current liabilities included accrued incorares of $92 as of February 1, 2014 and $128 aslmfuary 2, 2013. As of January
2012, other current liabilities did not include agcrued income taxes. Accrued income taxes arevesnfrom other current liabiliti
in the calculation of average invested cap

(3) Harris Teeters invested capital has been excluded from the ledion due to the timing of the merger and the interial effect on th
operations as compared to the average investethki
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING PoLICIES

We have chosen accounting policies that we belemeeappropriate to report accurately and fairly operating results and financ
position, and we apply those accounting policies iconsistent manner. Our significant accountinicigs are summarized in Note 1 to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith GAAP requires us to make estimates and rapsions that affect the repor
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and esggnand related disclosures of contingent assetdiabilities. We base our estimates
historical experience and other factors we believde reasonable under the circumstances, thetsesuivhich form the basis for maki
judgments about the carrying values of assets iabdities that are not readily apparent from otkeurces. Actual results could differ fr
those estimates.

We believe that the following accounting policiee the most critical in the preparation of our fin&l statements because they involve
most difficult, subjective or complex judgments abthe effect of matters that are inherently uraiart

Self-Insurance Costs

We primarily are self-insured for costs relatedwiorkers’ compensation and general liability claims. The iliabs represent our be
estimate, using generally accepted actuarial resgmnethods, of the ultimate obligations for repdriclaims plus those incurred but
reported for all claims incurred through February2@14. We establish case reserves for reportéth€lasing caséasis evaluation of tl
underlying claim data and we update as informabiecomes known.

For both workers’ compensation and general ligbdiims, we have purchased slops coverage to limit our exposure to any sigaiii
exposure on a per claim basis. We are insureddeered costs in excess of these per claim limits. aécount for the liabilities for workers’
compensation claims on a present value basisinglia riskadjusted discount rate. A 25 basis point decreaseur discount rate wot
increase our liability by approximately $2 millioBeneral liability claims are not discounted.

The assumptions underlying the ultimate costs dftiexg claim losses are subject to a high degreenpfedictability, which can affect t
liability recorded for such claims. For examplerighility in inflation rates of health care costderent in these claims can affect the amc
realized. Similarly, changes in legal trends artdrjpretations, as well as a change in the natulerathod of how claims are settled can a
ultimate costs. Our estimates of liabilities inedtrdo not anticipate significant changes in histdrirends for these variables, and any che
could have a considerable effect on future claistcand currently recorded liabilities.

Impairments of Long-Lived Assets

We monitor the carrying value of loriyed assets for potential impairment each qudgsed on whether certain trigger events
occurred. These events include current period fossenbined with a history of losses or a projectidrcontinuing losses or a significi
decrease in the market value of an asset. Whaggetrevent occurs, we perform an impairment cakioh, comparing projected undiscour
cash flows, utilizing current cash flow informatiand expected growth rates related to specifiestdo the carrying value for those store
we identify impairment for long-lived assets to liidd and used, we compare the assets’ currentitgmalue to the assetfair value. Fai
value is determined based on market values or diged future cash flows. We record impairment wthencarrying value exceeds fair ma
value. With respect to owned property and equiprhefd for disposal, we adjust the value of the prgpand equipment to reflect recover:
values based on our previous efforts to disposénofar assets and current economic conditionsr&¢egnize impairment for the excess ol
carrying value over the estimated fair market vateduced by estimated direct costs of disposalr&erded asset impairments in the no
course of business totaling $39 million in 20138 $iillion in 2012 and $37 million in 2011. We redarosts to reduce the carrying valu
long-lived assets in the Consolidated Statemen@pafrations as “Operating, general and adminisgagxpense.
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The factors that most significantly affect the innpgent calculation are our estimates of future démlivs. Our cash flow projections lo
several years into the future and include assumgtiin variables such as inflation, the economy madket competition. Application
alternative assumptions and definitions, such agweng longlived assets for impairment at a different leveluld produce significant
different results.

Goodwill

Our goodwill totaled $2.1 billion as of February2D14. We review goodwill for impairment in the ftu quarter of each year, and ¢
upon the occurrence of triggering events. We perfogviews of each of our operating divisions andalde interest entities (collectively, ¢
reporting units) that have goodwill balances. Walue is determined using a multiple of earningsjiscounted projected future cash flows,
we compare fair value to the carrying value of goréng unit for purposes of identifying potentiaipairment. We base projected future (
flows on managemerst’knowledge of the current operating environmeut @xpectations for the future. If we identify pdiahfor impairment
we measure the fair value of a reporting unit agfaihe fair value of its underlying assets andiliiéds, excluding goodwill, to estimate
implied fair value of the division’s goodwill. Wecognize goodwill impairment for any excess of taerying value of the divisios’goodwil
over the implied fair value.

In 2013, goodwill increased $901 million due to mwerger with Harris Teeter which closed on Jan2&y2014. For additional informati
related to the allocation of the Harris Teeter pase price, refer to Note 2 to the Consolidateduftial Statements.

The annual evaluation of goodwill performed for otimer reporting units during the fourth quarte261.3, 2012 and 2011 did not resu
impairment. Based on current and future expectstl daws, we believe goodwill impairments are nessonably likely. A 10% reduction
fair value of our reporting units would not indiea potential for impairment of our goodwill balanc

For additional information relating to our resulifisthe goodwill impairment reviews performed durid@l3, 2012 and 2011 see Note
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The impairment review requires the extensive usmafiagement judgment and financial estimates. Aatidin of alternative estimates
assumptions, such as reviewing goodwill for impaintnat a different level, could produce signifi¢grdifferent results. The cash flc
projections embedded in our goodwill impairmentieexs can be affected by several factors such &ii, business valuations in the mar
the economy and market competition.

Store Closing Costs

We provide for closed store liabilities on the sagi the present value of the estimated remainorgoancellable lease payments after
closing date, net of estimated subtenant income egtienate the net lease liabilities using a distoate to calculate the present value of
remaining net rent payments on closed stofAés.usually pay closed store lease liabilities dherlease terms associated with the closed s
which generally have remaining terms ranging frone @o 20 years. Adjustments to closed store lidgdmliprimarily relate to changes
subtenant income and actual exit costs differilognfioriginal estimates. We make adjustments for gbann estimates in the period in wt
the change becomes known. We review store clogihgities quarterly to ensure that any accrued amahat is not a sufficient estimate
future costs, or that no longer is needed forriigially intended purpose, is adjusted to earningte proper period.

We estimate subtenant income, future cash flowsaasdt recovery values based on our experienckravdedge of the market in whi
the closed store is located, our previous effartdispose of similar assets and current econommiditions. The ultimate cost of the disposi
of the leases and the related assets is affectedrbgnt real estate markets, inflation rates asmkegal economic conditions.

We reduce owned stores held for disposal to thetimated net realizable value. We account for ctstseduce the carrying values
property, equipment and leasehold improvementsdor@ance with our policy on impairment of longeldzassets. We classify inventory write
downs in connection with store closings, if any,"Merchandise costs.We expense costs to transfer inventory and equiprfinem close:
stores as they are incurred.
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Post-Retirement Benefit Plans

We account for our defined benefit pension plansguthe recognition and disclosure provisions ofARAwhich require the recognition
the funded status of retirement plans on the Cadesteld Balance Sheet. We record, as a componeAt@imulated Other Comprehens
Income (“AOCI"), actuarial gains or losses, priengce costs or credits and transition obligatithreg have not yet been recognized.

The determination of our obligation and expenseJfompany-sponsored pension plans and otherrptistment benefits is dependent u
our selection of assumptions used by actuarieslicutating those amounts. Those assumptions aided in Note 15 to the Consolida
Financial Statements and include, among othersgigmmunt rate, the expected lotggm rate of return on plan assets, average lifeetanc
and the rate of increases in compensation andhheate costs. Actual results that differ from ossuamptions are accumulated and amor
over future periods and, therefore, generally affer recognized expense and recorded obligatidature periods. While we believe that
assumptions are appropriate, significant differsniceour actual experience or significant changesur assumptions, including the discc
rate used and the expected return on plan assaysimaterially affect our pension and other pesirement obligations and our future expe
Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statemerssudses the effect of a 1% change in the assunadith lvare cost trend rate on other -
retirement benefit costs and the related liability.

The objective of our discount rate assumptions wtended to reflect the rates at which the penbrmefits could be effectively settled
making this determination, we take into accounttitmng and amount of benefits that would be adddainder the plans. Our methodology
selecting the discount rates as of year-end 2082842 was to match the plarcash flows to that of a hypothetical bond poidf@those cas
flow from coupons and maturities match the pdapfojected benefit cash flows. The discount ratesthe single rates that produce the ¢
present value of cash flows. The selection of tH#9% and 4.68% discount rates as of yaad- 2013 for pension and other bene
respectively, represents the hypothetical bondf@atusing bonds with an AA or better rating cansted with the assistance of an out
consultant. We utilized a discount rate of 4.29% 4rl1% as of yeagnd 2012 for pension and other benefits, respdygtivel00 basis poi
increase in the discount rate would decrease thjegied pension benefit obligation as of FebruargQil4, by approximately $395.

To determine the expected rate of return on pengian assets held by Kroger for 2013, we considetegtent and forecasted plan a
allocations as well as historical and forecastegisraf return on various asset categories. Dulkeetdifarris Teeter merger occurring close to
end, the expected rate of return on pension plaetascquired in the Harris Teeter merger did ffetaour net periodic benefit cost in 20
For 2013 and 2012, we assumed a pension plan meestreturn rate of 8.5%. Our pension ptaaverage rate of return was 8.1% for th
calendar years ended December 31, 2013, net afvatment management fees and expenses. The ofaslieinvestments in our Company-
sponsored defined benefit pension plans, exclugemsion plan assets acquired in the Harris Teetzgen, during the calendar year ent
December 31, 2013, net of investment managemestaiee expenses, increased 8.0%. For the past 2§ ypem average annual rate of re
has been 9.2%. Based on the above information @ameafd looking assumptions for investments mada manner consistent with our ta
allocations, we believe an 8.5% rate of return mggion was reasonable for 2013 and 2012. See Not® the Consolidated Financ
Statements for more information on the asset dilmes of pension plan assets.

Sensitivity to changes in the major assumptionsl is¢he calculation of Kroger’'s pension plan lidkas is illustrated below (in millions).

Projected Benefit

Percentage Obligation Expense

Point Change Decrease/(Increase) Decrease/(Increase)
Discount Rate +/- 1.0% $395/(47) §31/($36)
Expected Return on Assets +/- 1.C% — $28/($28)
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We contributed $100 million in 2013, $71 natiin 2012 and $52 million in 2011 to our Compappnsored defined benefit pension pl
We do not expect to make any contributions to Comgsponsored defined benefit pension plans in 2014ogrother things, investme
performance of plan assets, the interest ratesreshjto be used to calculate the pension obligati@amd future changes in legislation,
determine the amounts of contributions.

We contributed and expensed $148 million in 2012i0million in 2012 and $130 million in 2011 to eloyee 401(Kk) retirement savir
accounts. The 401(k) retirement savings accoumtsppaovide to eligible employees both matching gbations and automatic contributic
from the Company based on participant contributiptemn compensation, and length of service.

Multi-Employer Pension Plans

We also contribute to various muétinployer pension plans based on obligations ariomg collective bargaining agreements. These |
provide retirement benefits to participants basetheir service to contributing employers. The ignare paid from assets held in trust for
purpose. Trustees are appointed in equal numbeniployers and unions. The trustees typically aspassible for determining the level
benefits to be provided to participants as wefloasuch matters as the investment of the assetth@nadministration of the plans.

In the fourth quarter of 2011, we entered into anmeandum of understanding (“MOUWith 14 locals of the UFCW that participatec
four multi-employer pension funds. The MOU established a potieat amended each of the collective bargairmngesments between Kroy
and the UFCW locals under which we made contrilmgtim these funds and consolidated the four maifdeyer pension funds into one multi-
employer pension fund.

Under the terms of the MOU, the locals of the UF@WVeed to a future pension benefit formula throRgB1l. We are designated as
named fiduciary of the new consolidated pensiom pléth sole investment authority over the assets. &mmitted to contribute sufficie
funds to cover the actuarial cost of current adsraad to fund the pre-consolidation Unfunded AdalaAccrued Liability (“UAAL”) that
existed as of December 31, 2011, in a series tdlineents on or before March 31, 2018. At Januargl2, the UAAL was estimated to
$911 million (pretax). In accordance with GAAP, we expensed $911ionilin 2011 related to the UAAL. The expense wasdd on
preliminary estimate of the contractual commitmémt2012, we finalized the UAAL contractual commént and recorded an adjustment
reduced our 2011 estimated commitment by $53 mil(jpretax). The final UAAL contractual commitment, at dany 1, 2012, was $8
million (pre-tax). In the fourth quarter of 2011ewontributed $650 million to the consolidated mathployer pension plan of which $€
million was allocated to the UAAL and $50 millionaw allocated to service and interest costs andnerplein 2011. In the fourth quartel
2012, we contributed $258 million to the consoldhtnultiemployer pension plan to fully fund our UAAL conttaal commitment. Futu
contributions will be dependent, among other thirggsthe investment performance of assets in the. @he funding commitments under
MOU replace the prior commitments under the fousting funds to pay an agreed upon amount per Wouked by eligible employees.

We recognize expense in connection with these mansontributions are funded or, in the case ofUREW consolidated pension pl
when commitments are made, in accordance with GAK®.made cash contributions to these plans of $2ilbon in 2013, $492 million i
2012 and $946 million in 2011. The cash contritngidor 2012 and 2011 include our $258 million citmition in 2012 and our $650 milli
contribution in 2011 to the UFCW consolidated pengilan in the fourth quarter of each year.

Based on the most recent information availablestone believe that the present value of actuaradiyrued liabilities in most of the multi-
employer plans to which we contribute substantialtgeeds the value of the assets held in trushydopnefits. We have attempted to estii
the amount by which these liabilities exceed theetss (i.e., the amount of underfunding), as ofdbdmer 31, 2013. Because Kroger is only
of a number of employers contributing to these plave also have attempted to estimate the ratkrader’'s contributions to the total of
contributions to these plans in a year as a wagseéssing Kroger's “sharef the underfunding. Nonetheless, the underfundingpt a direc
obligation or liability of Kroger or of any employexcept as noted above. As of December 31, 20&®stimate that Kroger’s share of the
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underfunding of multi-employer plans to which Krogentributes was $1.6 billion, pre-tax, or $1.0idm, aftertax. This represents a decre

in the estimated amount of underfunding of appratety $150 million, pre-tax, or $95 million, afteax, as of December 31, 2013, comp.
to December 31, 2012. The decrease in the amounhaérfunding is attributable to the increasedrretwon the assets held in the multi
employer plans during 2013. Our estimate is baseth® most current information available to usuahg actuarial evaluations and other
(that include the estimates of others), and sufdrrimation may be outdated or otherwise unreliable.

We have made and disclosed this estimate not becexsept as noted above, this underfunding isextdiiability of Kroger. Rather, v
believe the underfunding is likely to have impottaansequences. In 2013, excluding all paymentse¢dJFCW consolidated pension plan
the pension plans that were consolidated into tREW consolidated pension plan, our contributionthése plans increased approximately
over the prior year and have grown at a compoumdi@rate of approximately 8% since 2008. In 2044 expect to contribute approximai
$250 million to multiemployer pension plans, subject to collective baigg and capital market conditions. Excluding aédlyments to tt
UFCW consolidated pension plan and the pensionspihat were consolidated into the UFCW consolidgtedsion plan, based on cur
market conditions, we expect increases in expesserasult of increases in mudinployer pension plan contributions over the next years
Finally, underfunding means that, in the event vegeato exit certain markets or otherwise cease mgagontributions to these funds, we cc
trigger a substantial withdrawal liability. Any adtment for withdrawal liability will be recordedhen it is probable that a liability exists
can be reasonably estimated, in accordance with BGAA

The amount of underfunding described above is imate and could change based on contract negwtigtieturns on the assets held ir
multi-employer plans and benefit payments. The arhoauld decline, and Krogerfuture expense would be favorably affected,efvwhlues ¢
the assets held in the trust significantly increasié further changes occur through collectivedaamning, trustee action or favorable legislat
On the other hand, Kroger’s share of the underfumdould increase and Krogerfuture expense could be adversely affected itset value
decline, if employers currently contributing to skeefunds cease participation or if changes ocaoutih collective bargaining, trustee actio
adverse legislation. The Company continues to etalour potential exposure to under-funded nertployer pension plans. Although th
liabilities are not a direct obligation or liabjlibf Kroger, any commitments to fund certain mehtiployer plans will be expensed when
commitment is probable and an estimate can be made.

See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfentmore information relating to our participation these multemployer pensic
plans.

Deferred Rent

We recognize rent holidays, including the time gérduring which we have access to the propertycfmstruction of buildings
improvements, as well as construction allowancekeamtalating rent provisions on a strailj- basis over the term of the lease. The def
amount is included in Other Current Liabilities adther Long-Term Liabilities on the Consolidated@&e Sheets.

Uncertain Tax Positions

We review the tax positions taken or expected ttaken on tax returns to determine whether andhatwwxtent a benefit can be recogn
in our consolidated financial statements. Refeltbe 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statementsieramount of unrecognized tax ben:
and other related disclosures related to unceréipositions.

Various taxing authorities periodically audit omcome tax returns. These audits include questiegarding our tax filing positior
including the timing and amount of deductions amel allocation of income to various tax jurisdicgomn evaluating the exposures conne
with these various tax filing positions, includistate and local taxes, we record allowances fobghle exposures. A number of years
elapse before a particular matter, for which aovedince has been established, is audited and &dbived. As of
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February 1, 2014, the Internal Revenue Servicechadluded its field examination of our 2008 and 2@&deral tax returns. We have filed
administrative appeal with the Internal RevenueriBerprotesting certain adjustments proposed byrite¥nal Revenue Service as a resu
their field work.

The assessment of our tax position relies on tgment of management to estimate the exposuregiatesh with our various filin
positions.

Share-Based Compensation Expense

We account for stock options under the fair vakmognition provisions of GAAP. Under this method mecognize compensation expe
for all share-based payments granted. We recogfiaeebased compensation expense, net of an estimattsitidoe rate, over the requis
service period of the award. In addition, we recexgpense for restricted stock awards in an amogualeto the fair market value of 1
underlying stock on the grant date of the awarey ¢lve period the award restrictions lapse.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (ppalty on a LIFO basis) or market. In total, approately 95% of inventories in 2013 ¢
96% of inventories in 2012 were valued using thE@Imethod. Cost for the balance of the inventoriesluding substantially all fu
inventories, was determined using the FIFO metRmghlacement cost was higher than the carrying attouf1.2 billion at February 1, 20
and by $1.1 billion at February 2, 2013. We folltve Link-Chain, Dollatvalue LIFO method for purposes of calculating olifQ charge ¢
credit.

We follow the itemeost method of accounting to determine inventorst defore the LIFO adjustment for substantiallysédire inventorie
at our supermarket divisions. This method involgesnting each item in inventory, assigning costedoh of these items based on the a
purchase costs (net of vendor allowances and caslouwhts) of each item and recording the cost eh# sold. The itemest method ¢
accounting allows for more accurate reporting afqaiic inventory balances and enables managememibte precisely manage inventory
addition, substantially all of our inventory corisisf finished goods and is recorded at actuallmase costs (net of vendor allowances and
discounts).

We evaluate inventory shortages throughout the aaed on actual physical counts in our facilitié# record allowances for invent
shortages based on the results of recent physicalts to provide for estimated shortages from aisé physical count to the financial stater
date.

Vendor Allowances

We recognize all vendor allowances as a reductianérchandise costs when the related product s Boimost cases, vendor allowar
are applied to the related product cost by iterd,taerefore reduce the carrying value of inventorytem. When it is not practicable to alloc
vendor allowances to the product by item, we rezgwendor allowances as a reduction in mercharadistes based on inventory turns an
the product is sold. We recognized approximately $filion in 2013 and 2012 and $5.9 billion in 204f vendor allowances as a reductio
merchandise costs. We recognized approximately 8488l vendor allowances in the item cost with tleenainder being based on inveni
turns.

RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In February 2013, the FASB amended its standardsamnprehensive income by requiring disclosure dbrimation about amour
reclassified out of accumulated other comprehenisiseme (“AOCI”) by component. Specifically, the amendment requilieslosure of th
effect of significant reclassifications out of AOGh the respective line items in net income in \White item was reclassified if the amc
being reclassified is required to be reclassifiedé¢t income in its entirety in the same reporfrggiod. It requires cross reference to ¢
disclosures that provide additional detail for amisuhat are not required to be reclassified irr thitirety in the same reporting period. 1
new disclosure became effective for us beginninigri@y 3, 2013, and is being adopted prospectiirelgccordance with the standard.
Note 9 to the Compar's Consolidated Financial Statements for the Comisamew disclosures related to this amended staindar

A-22




In December 2011, the FASB amended its standaldiedeto offsetting assets and liabilities. Thisemgiment requires entities to discl
both gross and net information about certain imsants and transactions eligible for offset in tketesnent of financial position and cerl
instruments and transactions subject to an agreesimailar to a master netting agreement. This imf@tion is intended to enable users of
financial statements to understand the effect e§eharrangements on our financial position. The mdes became effective for us on Febri
3, 2013. In January 2013, the FASB further amentiésl standard to limit its scope to derivativespurehase and reverse repurcl
agreements, securities borrowings and lending actimns. See Note 7 to the Company’s Consolidaiean€ial Statements for the Company’
new disclosures related to this amended standard.

RECENTLY |SSUEDACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In July 2013, the FASB amended Accounting Stand@aldification (“ASC”) 740, “Income TaxesThe amendments provide guidance
the financial statement presentation of an unreeegntax benefit, as either a reduction of a defttax asset or as a liability, when a
operating loss carryforward, similar tax loss, @aaacredit carryforward exists. The amendmentshleffective for interim and annual peri
beginning after December 15, 2013 and may be appliea retrospective basis. Early adoption is piechi We do not expect the adoptiol
these amendments to have a significant effect omansolidated financial position or results of i®ns.

LiQuipiTy AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash Flow Information

Net cash provided by operating activities

We generated $3.4 billion of cash from operation2013, compared to $2.8 billion in 2012 and $2lifoh in 2011. The cash provided
operating activities came from net earnings ingigdnon-controlling interests adjusted primarily fovn-cash expenses of depreciation
amortization, the LIFO charge and changes in wgykiapital. The increase in net cash provided byaijpgy activities in 2013, comparec
2012, resulted primarily due to changes in worlkiagital and longerm liabilities. The increase in net cash provithgdbperating activities
2012, compared to 2011, resulted primarily duentinarease in net earnings including non-contrgliimterests, offset by a decline in lotegsr
liabilities and changes in working capital.

The use of cash for the payment of Idegm liabilities decreased in 2013, as compare@0®2, primarily due to our funding of 1
remaining UAAL in 2012. The use of cash increase®012, as compared to 2011, primarily due to auding of the remaining UAA
commitment. Changes in working capital used cashfoperating activities of $130 million in 2013,nepared to $332 million in 2012 &
$300 million in 2011. The decreased use of casltlianges in working capital in 2013, compared th22@vas primarily due to a decreas
deposits inransit and a reduced use of cash for prepaid egseand receivables. The increased use of casihdmiges in working capital
2012, compared to 2011, was primarily due to amemeed use of cash for prepaid expenses and Iskspeavided by accrued expen:
partially offset by a reduced use of cash for in@gns. Cash used for prepaid expenses increasg@lip, compared to 2011, due to Krc
prefunding $250 million of employee benefits at grel of 2012. These amounts are also net of caghilmations to our Compangponsore
defined benefit pension plans totaling $100 millior2013, $71 million in 2012 and $52 million in2D

The amount of cash paid for income taxes increas@013, compared to 2012, primarily due to addailodeductions taken in 2012 rele
to the funding of our pension contributions andonrtealth benefits. The amount of cash paid foonme taxes increased in 2012, compart
2011, primarily due to an increase in net earninglding non-controlling interests.
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Net cash used by investing activities

Cash used by investing activities was $4.8 billior2013, compared to $2.2 billion in 2012 and $illon in 2011. The amount of ca
used by investing activities increased in 2013, parad to 2012, due to increased payments for d¢dpitastments and acquisitions. ~
amount of cash used by investing activities incedam 2012, compared to 2011, due to increased @aigrfor capital investments ¢
acquisitions. Capital investments, including chanigeconstruction-irprogress payables and excluding acquisitions, $2r¢ billion in 201z
$2.1 billion in 2012 and $2.0 billion in 2011. Adgitions were $2.3 billion in 2013, $122 million 2012 and $51 million in 2011. The incre
in payments for acquisitions in 2013, comparedb2was primarily due to our merger with Harris feeeRefer to the “Capital Investments”
section for an overview of our supermarket stoangvity during the last three years.

Net cash used by financing activities

Financing activities provided (used) cash of $lilBob in 2013, ($600) million in 2012 and ($1.4)llton in 2011. The increase in ce
provided by financing activities in 2013, compated2012, was primarily related to increased prosefeaim the issuance of lonigrm debt
primarily to finance our merger with Harris Teetend a reduction in payments on laiegm debt and treasury stock purchases, offseiapa
by net payments on our commercial paper prograra.detrease in the amount of cash used for finaragtigities in 2012, compared to 20
was primarily related to increased proceeds froeiskuance of lonterm debt and net borrowings from our commercigepgrogram, offs:
partially by payments on long-term debt. Proceedsifthe issuance of lortgrm debt were $3.5 billion in 2013, $863 million2012 and $4¢
million in 2011. Proceeds (payments) provided framn commercial paper program were ($395) millior2@13, $1.3 billion in 2012 and $2
million in 2011. Please refer to the “Debt Managatheection for additional information. We repurcha$s®9 million of Kroger commc
shares in 2013, compared to $1.3 billion in 2012 $h.5 billion in 2011. We paid dividends totali$g§19 million in 2013, $267 million in 20.
and $257 million in 2011.

Debt Management

Total debt, including both the current and longrigrortions of capital lease and ledsencing obligations increased $2.4 billion to $
billion as of yearend 2013, compared to 2012. The increase in 2@i8pared to 2012, resulted from the issuance &6@0 million of senic
notes bearing an interest rate of 3.85%, (ii) $40lion of senior notes bearing an interest rate5df5%, (iii) $500 million of senior not
bearing an interest rate of 3-month London InteniB@ffering Rate (“LIBOR")plus 53 basis points, (iv) $300 million of seniates bearin
an interest rate of 1.2%, (v) $500 million of semotes bearing an interest rate of 2.3%, (vi) $@Mldon of senior notes bearing an interest
of 3.3%, and (vii) $500 million of senior notes kieg an interest rate of 4.0%, offset partially &yeduction in commercial paper of $.
million and payments at maturity of $400 million sfnior notes bearing an interest rate of 5.0%%§M) million of senior notes bearing
interest rate of 7.5%. This increase in financitgjgations was due to partially funding our mergeéth Harris Teeter, refinancing our d
maturities in 2013 and replacing the senior ndtes tatured in fourth quarter of 2012, offset @éistiby the payment at maturity of our $¢
million of senior notes bearing an interest rate5d%, $600 million of senior notes bearing an nesé rate of 7.5% and a reductior
commercial paper of $395 million.

Total debt, including both the current and longrterortions of capital leases and ledisencing obligations increased $714 million to%
billion as of yearend 2012, compared to 2011. The increase in 2@i@pared to 2011, resulted from increased borrowafdkl.3 billion o
commercial paper supported by our credit facilitgl dhe issuance of (i) $500 million of senior nobesiring an interest rate of 3.4% and
$350 million of senior notes bearing an interest & 5.0%, offset partially by payments at maguaf (i) $491 million of senior notes bear
an interest rate of 6.75%, (ii) $346 million of gEmnotes bearing an interest rate of 6.2% anyl $%00 million of senior notes bearing
interest rate of 5.5%. This increase in financirgigations was primarily to fund our $258 millionF@GW consolidated pension p
contribution in the fourth quarter of 2012, prefinmgl$250 million of employee benefit costs at tinel ®f 2012, to repurchase common shi
pay at maturity $500 million of senior notes begrém interest rate of 5.5% and purchase of a dpeplaarmacy.
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Liquidity Needs

We estimate our liquidity needs over the next t@ehonth period to be approximately $4.5 billion, whiacludes anticipated requireme
for working capital, capital expenditures, interpayments and scheduled principal payments of alethicommercial paper, offset by cash
temporary cash investments on hand at the end 18. ased on current operating trends, we belieatdash flows from operating activit
and other sources of liquidity, including borrowsngnder our commercial paper program and banktdiadlity, will be adequate to meet «
liquidity needs for the next twelve months andtfe foreseeable future beyond the next twelve nsofe have approximately $1.2 billion
commercial paper and $300 million of senior notesturing in the next twelve months, which is incldde the $4.5 billion in estimat
liquidity needs. We expect to refinance this d@b2014, by issuing additional senior notes or caruial paper on favorable terms base
our past experience. We also currently plan toinaetrepurchases of common shares under the Congpahgire repurchase programs.
may use our commercial paper program to fund deditirities during 2014 but do not currently expecuse the program permanently.
believe we have adequate coverage of our debt eov®rto continue to maintain our current debt geimnd to respond effectively
competitive conditions.

Factors Affecting Liquidity

We can currently borrow on a daily basis approxetya$2 billion under our commercial paper (“CRidogram. At February 1, 2014,
had $1.2 billion of CP borrowings outstanding. Gifrbwings are backed by our credit facility, anduee the amount we can borrow unde!
credit facility. If our shorterm credit ratings fall, the ability to borrow werdbur current CP program could be adversely aftetir a period «
time and increase our interest cost on daily boimgs/under our CP program. This could require usatwow additional funds under the crt
facility, under which we believe we have sufficieatpacity. However, in the event of a ratings dexlive do not anticipate that our borrow
capacity under our CP program would be any lowan 500 million on a daily basis. Although our #pito borrow under the credit facility
not affected by our credit rating, the interestt@amsborrowings under the credit facility could &féected by an increase in our Leverage R
As of March 28, 2014, we had $665 million of CProarings outstanding. The decrease as of March @B4 2compared to yeand 2013, we
due to applying cash from operations against oar-gad CP outstanding borrowings.

Our credit facility requires the maintenance ofewvérage Ratio and a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratidffoancial covenants”)A failure tc
maintain our financial covenants would impair obility to borrow under the credit facility. Thesimdncial covenants and ratios are desci
below:

e Our Leverage Ratio (the ratio of Net Debt to Coitsded EBITDA, as defined in the credit facility)as 2.30 to 1 as of February
2014. If this ratio were to exceed 3.50 to 1, weildde in default of our credit facility and ourilély to borrow under the facility wou
be impaired. In addition, our Applicable Margin lborrowings is determined by our Leverage Ratio.

e Our Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (the ratio of Chdated EBITDA plus Consolidated Rental Expens€tmsolidated Cash Inter

Expense plus Consolidated Rental Expense, as definthe credit facility) was 4.83 to 1 as of Fedoyul, 2014. If this ratio fell belc
1.70 to 1, we would be in default of our creditiiacand our ability to borrow under the facilityould be impaired.

Our credit agreement is more fully described ineN@tto the Consolidated Financial Statements. Whe \mecompliance with our financ
covenants at year-end 2013.
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The tables below illustrate our significant contuat obligations and other commercial commitmeniigased on year of maturity
settlement, as of February 1, 2014 (in millionsloflars):

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter Total

Contractual Obligations (1) (2)

Long-term debt (3) $1,61¢ $ 524 $1,267 $ 70¢ $1,00¢ $ 5662 $10,78(
Interest on long-term debt (4) 427 364 34¢ 321 27¢ 1,352 3,091
Capital lease obligations 62 57 53 52 43 34¢ 61€
Operating lease obligations 832 77C 70¢ 634 563 3,101 6,60¢
Low-income housing obligations 3 — — — — — 3
Financed lease obligations 13 13 13 13 13 111 17¢€
Self-insurance liability (5) 224 131 88 52 26 48 56¢
Construction commitments 313 — — — — — 313
Purchase obligations 54¢ 13t 82 57 39 87 94¢
Total $4,03¢ $1,99¢ $2,56C $1,837 $1,96¢ $10,71( $23,10:
Other Commercial Commitments

Standby letters of credit $2¢ % —$ — % — 8 — & — $ 20¢
Surety bonds 31C — — — — — 31C
Total $5¢ $§ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 51¢

(1) The contractual obligations table excludes fundifgpension and other postretirement benefit ohiliget which totaled approximat:
$125 million in 2013. This table also excludes cittions under various mulémployer pension plans, which totaled $228 millio
2013.

(2) The liability related to unrecognized tax benefits been excluded from the contractual obligattahke because a reasonable estime
the timing of future tax settlements cannot be reiteed.

(3) As of February 1, 2014, we had $1.2 billion of lerings of commercial paper and no borrowings urdercredit agreement and moi
market lines

(4) Amounts include contractual interest payments usliegnterest rate as of February 1, 2014, anddtited and swapped interest rate
applicable, for all other debt instrumer

(5) The amounts included in the contractual obligatitaide for self-insurance liability related to werk’ compensation claims have b
stated on a present value ba

Our construction commitments include funds owethtad parties for projects currently under constiart. These amounts are reflecte
other current liabilities in our Consolidated BalarSheets.

Our purchase obligations include commitments, nmafhyhich are shorterm in nature, to be utilized in the normal cowsbusiness, su
as several contracts to purchase raw materiaigadiin our manufacturing plants and several cotdréo purchase energy to be used ir
stores and manufacturing facilities. Our obligasiaiso include management fees for facilities deerdy third parties and outside ser
contracts. Any upfront vendor allowances or inoasgiassociated with outstanding purchase commisrena recorded as either currer
long-term liabilities in our Consolidated Balandee$ts.

As of February 1, 2014, we maintained a $2 billfaiith the ability to increase by $500 million), wtsired revolving credit facility thi
unless extended, terminates on January 25, 201f8tadding borrowings under the credit agreement@mdmercial paper borrowings, ¢
some outstanding letters of credit, reduce fundslave under the credit agreement. In additionth® credit agreement, we maintain
uncommitted money market lines totaling $75 millionthe aggregate. The money market lines allovtousorrow from banks at mutua
agreed upon rates, usually at rates below the offieed under the credit agreement. As of Febrdai3014, we had $1.2 billion of borrowir
of commercial paper and no borrowings under ouditBgreement and money market lines. The outstgniditers of credit that reduce fu
available under our credit agreement totaled $1Romias of February 1, 2014.
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In addition to the available credit mentioned ah@sof February 1, 2014, we had authorized faraisse $2.5 billion of securities unde
shelf registration statement filed with the SEC affdctive on December 13, 2013.

We also maintain surety bonds related primarilpdo self-insured worker€ompensation claims. These bonds are required Isy state
in which we are self-insured for workers’ compeimwaand are placed with predominately thiarty insurance providers to insure payme
our obligations in the event we are unable to noeetclaim payment obligations up to our sieured retention levels. These bonds dc
represent liabilities of Kroger, as we already heagerves on our books for the claims costs. Marthkahges may make the surety bonds |
costly and, in some instances, availability of hbsnds may become more limited, which could affeotcosts of, or access to, such bc
Although we do not believe increased costs or égea@ availability would significantly affect ouribily to access these surety bonds, if
does become an issue, we would issue letters ditcie states where allowed, against our creditify to meet the state bonding requireme
This could increase our cost and decrease the fvaliable under our credit facility.

We also are contingently liable for leases thateh&een assigned to various third parties in comreavith facility closings an
dispositions. We could be required to satisfy aidiigns under the leases if any of the assigneesraiele to fulfill their lease obligations. C
to the wide distribution of our assignments amdrigitparties, and various other remedies availables, we believe the likelihood that we
be required to assume a material amount of thekgatibns is remote. We have agreed to indemnifyage thirdparty logistics operators 1
certain expenses, including pension trust fundrdmurtion obligations and withdrawal liabilities.

In addition to the above, we enter into variousimdification agreements and take on indemnificatibligations in the ordinary course
business. Such arrangements include indemnitidgasighird party claims arising out of agreementptovide services to Kroger; indemni
related to the sale of our securities; indemnitiéslirectors, officers and employees in connectigth the performance of their work; &
indemnities of individuals serving as fiduciarigs lmenefit plans. While Kroges’aggregate indemnification obligation could regukh materic
liability, we are not aware of any current matteattcould result in a material liability.

OuTLOOK

This discussion and analysis contains certain foivi@oking statements about Krogefuture performance, including Harris Teeter. E
statements are based on managemergsumptions and beliefs in light of the informiatcurrently available. Such statements are inditag
words such as “comfortable,” “committed,” “will,"&kpect,” “goal,” “should,” “intend,” “target,” “bééve,” “anticipate,” “plan,”and simila
words or phrases. These forwdomking statements are subject to uncertainties @thér factors that could cause actual resultsiffer
materially.

Statements elsewhere in this report and below déggour expectations, projections, beliefs, intam or strategies are forwalabking
statements within the meaning of Section 21E of Seeurities Exchange Act of 1934. While we beli¢vat the statements are accul
uncertainties about the general economy, our ladlations, our ability to execute our plans onnaelly basis and other uncertainties desci
below could cause actual results to differ mathyrial

e We expect net earnings per diluted share in thgerah $3.14-$3.25 for fiscal year 2014.

e In 2014, we expect net earnings per diluted sheoesth of 10 — 14%, which includes the expectedretion to net earnings from
Harris Teeter merger. Thereafter, we would expeceturn to our 8 — 11% long-term growth rate.

e We expect identical supermarket sales growth, ekatufuel sales, of 2.5%-3.5% in fiscal year 2014.
o We expect full-year FIFO non-fuel operating marfgin2014 to expand slightly compared to 2013, edirig the 2013 adjusted items.

e For 2014, we expect our annualized LIFO chargectagproximately $55 million.
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e For 2014, we expect interest expense to be apped&ign$490 million.

e We plan to use cash flow primarily for capital istments, to improve our current debt coverage satiopay cash dividends and
repurchase stock.

e \We expect to obtain sales growth from new squaotafye, as well as from increased productivity frexisting locations.

e \We expect capital investments for 2014 to increasgpproximately $2.8 - $3.0 billion, excludingergers, acquisitions and purchase
leased facilities. We also expect capital investi:iém increaséncrementally $200 million each year over the rfext years, excludir
mergers, acquisitions and purchases of leasedtifegilto accomplish our strategy. We expect tftatl store square footage 2014 tc
grow approximately 1.8% before mergers, acquisitiand operational closings.

e For 2014, we expect our effective tax rate to hereximately 35.0%, excluding the unexpected eftédhe resolution of any tax isst
and benefits from certain tax items.

e We do not anticipate goodwill impairments in 2014.

e For 2014, we expect to contribute approximately@gillion to multi-employer pension funds. WWentinue to evaluate our poten
exposure to under-funded multi-employer pensiomgl#@lthoughthese liabilities are not a direct obligation @bliity of Kroger, an
commitments to fund certain multi-employer pland e expensed when our commitment is probablesanestimate can be made.

e In 2014, we will negotiate agreements with the UF@W store associates in Cincinnati, Atlanta, SeutCalifornia, New Mexicc
Richmond/Hampton Roads, West Virginia and Arizoaad an agreement witthe Teamsters covering several distribution
manufacturing facilities. These negotiations wil ¢hallenging, as we must have competitive cost stras in each market wh
meeting our associates’ needs for good wages docable health care. Also, we must address therfimading of multiemploye
pension plans.

Various uncertainties and other factors caaldse actual results to differ materially from #hesntained in the forwardoking statement
These include:

e The extent to which our sources of liquidity aréfisient to meet our requirements may be affectedhe state of the financial mark
and the effect that such condition has on our tghit issue commercigbaper at acceptable rates. Our ability to borrowenrou
committed lines of credit, including odmank credit facilities, could be impaired if one more of our lenders under those line
unwilling or unable to honor its contractual obtiga to lend to us, or in the event that naturahdters or weatheonditions interfer
with the ability of our lenders to lend to us. Guility to refinance maturing debt may be affedbydhe state of the financial markets.

e Our ability to use cash flow to continue to maintaur investment grade debt rating and repurcshsees, pay dividends and fi
capital investments, could be affected by unardieig increases inet total debt, our inability to generate cash flatvthe level
anticipated, and our failure to generate expectenirgs.

e Our ability to achieve sales, earnings and cash foals may be affected by: labor negotiationslisputes; changes in the types
numbers of businesses that compete with us; pramntgpromotional activities of existing and new getitors, including nonraditiona
competitors, and the aggressivenekthat competition; our response to these actitivesstate of the economy, including interest 1,
the inflationary and deflationary trends in certaommodities, and the unemployment rate; the etfeatfuel costs have on consur
spending; changes in government-funded benefitrarog; manufacturingommaodity costs; diesel fuel costs related to ogistics
operations; trends in consumer spendthg;extent to which our customers exercise calutidheir purchasing in response to econc
conditions; the inconsistent pace of the econoragovery; changes in inflation or deflation in protdand operating costs; stc
repurchases; the effect of brand prescription dgmjsg off patent; ourbility to retain additional pharmacy sales fronrdhparty
payors; natural disasters or adverse weathaditions; the success of our future growth plams] the successful integration of He
Teeter. The
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extent to which the adjustments we are making tostrategy create value for our shareholders veijehd primarily on the reaction
our customers and our competitors to these adjudtmas well as operating conditions, includindatidn or deflation, increas
competitive activity, and cautious spending behawbour customers. Our ability to achieve saled aarnings goals may also
affected by our ability to manage the factors ideat above.

e During the first three quarters of our fiscal yeawy LIFO charge and the recognition of LIFO expmewdl be affected primarily b
estimated year-end changes in product costs. Qi@ Icharge for the fiscglear will be affected primarily by changes in protlcosts ¢
year-end.

e If actual results differ significantly from anti@ped future results for certain reporting unitsluding variable interest entities,
impairment loss for any excess of the carrying @abd the reporting unitsgoodwill over the implied fair value would have ba
recognized.

e Our effective tax rate may differ from the expectate due to changes in laws, the status of penié@mys with various taxir
authorities, and the deductibility of certain exges

e The actual amount of automatic and matching castribations to our 401(k) Retirement Savirgscount Plan will depend on t
number of participants, savings rate, compensaisotefined by the plan, and length of service digpants.

e Changes in our product mix may negatively affectaie financial indicators. For example, we conémo add supermarket fuel cent
to our store base. Since gasoline generates lofit prargins, weexpect to see our FIFO gross profit margins dedisi@asoline sal
increase.

We cannot fully foresee the effects of changesconomic conditions on Krogsrbusiness. We have assumed economic and comg
situations will not change significantly in 2014.

Other factors and assumptions not identified abmudd also cause actual results to differ matgrisbm those set forth in the forward-
looking information. Accordingly, actual events amgults may vary significantly from those includadcontemplated or implied by forward-
looking statements made by us or our representative undertake no obligation to update the forwWaolting information contained in tt
filing.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareowners and Board of Directors of
The Kroger Co.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated badasheets and the related consolidated statemieapemtions, comprehensive inco
cash flows and changes in shareownemuity present fairly, in all material respectse tlinancial position of The Kroger Co. and
subsidiaries at February 1, 2014 and February 23,28nd the results of their operations and theshdlows for each of the three years ir
period ended February 1, 2014 in conformity withamting principles generally accepted in the UhiBates of America. Also in our opini
the Company maintained, in all material respedfgective internal control over financial reportirgg of February 1, 2014, based on cri
established ininternal Control - Integrated Framework (199%sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohshe Treadws
Commission (COSO). The Compasyhanagement is responsible for these financitdrsents, for maintaining effective internal contook!
financial reporting and for its assessment of tiiecéveness of internal control over financial ogfing, included in ManagemestReport o
Internal Control over Financial Reporting appeanmgler ltem 9A. Our responsibility is to expresgnams on these financial statements
on the Company internal control over financial reporting basedaur integrated audits. We conducted our auditaceordance with ti
standards of the Public Company Accounting Ovetdgrard (United States). Those standards requakwvile plan and perform the audit:
obtain reasonable assurance about whether thecfalatatements are free of material misstatemedtvehether effective internal control o
financial reporting was maintained in all mater@spects. Our audits of the financial statemergiidted examining, on a test basis, evid
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Gisdstatements, assessing the accounting prirscided and significant estimates mad
management, and evaluating the overall financékstent presentation. Our audit of internal cordgx@r financial reporting included obtain
an understanding of internal control over financgorting, assessing the risk that a material wesk exists, and testing and evaluating
design and operating effectiveness of internalrobitased on the assessed risk. Our audits aldadieet performing such other procedure
we considered necessary in the circumstances. Weyd¢hat our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinions.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is aogess designed to provide reasonable assurancaliregdhe reliability o
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantfegeinerally accepted accounting princi
A companys internal control over financial reporting inclsdose policies and procedures that (i) pertathéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseo€dimpany; (ii) provide reasonable assur
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accoréamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withosizations of management
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readdaaassurance regarding prevention or timely dieteaif unauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d@étmisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, o
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.
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As described in ManagemestReport on Internal Control Over Financial Repaytimanagement has excluded Harris Teeter Supeets
Inc. from its assessment of internal control owearicial reporting as of February 1, 2014 becass@s acquired by the Company in a purc
business combination on January 28, 2014. We hleeexcluded Harris Teeter Supermarkets, Inc. foam audit of internal control ov
financial reporting. Harris Teeter Supermarkets, ia a whollyewned subsidiary whose total assets and total t@gerepresent 12% and |
than 1%, respectively, of the related consolidéitehcial statement amounts as of and for the gaded February 1, 2014.

g—mﬂxzdama&gumuﬂ

Cincinnati, Ohio
April 1, 2014
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THE KROGER CO.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

February 1, February 2z
(In millions, except par values) 2014 2013
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and temporary cash investments $ 401 $ 23¢
Store deposits in-transit 95¢ 95¢
Receivables 1,11¢ 1,051
FIFO inventory 6,801 6,244
LIFO reserve (1,150 (1,099
Prepaid and other current assets 704 56¢
Total current assets 8,83( 7,95¢
Property, plant and equipment, net 16,89: 14,84¢
Intangibles, net 70z 13C
Goodwill 2,13¢ 1,23¢
Other assets 721 462
Total Assets $29,28: $24,63¢
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt includiolgligations under capital leases
and financing obligations $ 1,657 $ 2,73¢
Trade accounts payable 4,881 4,48¢
Accrued salaries and wages 1,15(C 1,015
Deferred income taxes 24¢ 28¢
Other current liabilities 2,76¢ 2,53¢
Total current liabilities 10,70¢ 11,06:
Long-term debt including obligations under capli¢égises and financing obligations
Face-value of long-term debt including oatigns under capital leases and
financing obligations 9,65¢ 6,141
Adjustment to reflect fair-value interesterhedges (2) 4
Long-term debt including obligatiamsder capital leases and financing obligations 9,65: 6,14°f
Deferred income taxes 1,381 79€
Pension and postretirement benefit obligations 901 1,291
Other long-term liabilities 1,24¢ 1,125
Total Liabilities 23,88t 20,42(
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 13)
SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY
Preferred shares, $100 par per share, 5 shareziaethand unissued — —
Common shares, $1 par per share, 1,000 sharesiaatho
959 shares issued in 2013 and 2012 95¢ 95¢
Additional paid-in capital 3,54¢ 3,451
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (464 (759
Accumulated earnings 10,98: 9,78
Common stock in treasury, at cost, 451 shares 13 20id 445 shares in 2012 (9,649 (9,237)
Total Shareowners’ Equity - The Kroger Co. 5,38¢ 4,207
Noncontrolling interest 11 7
Total Equity 5,39¢ 4,21
Total Liabilities and Equity $29,28: $24,63¢



The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢imsolidated financial statements.
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THE KROGER CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended February 1, 2014, February 2, 2013andary 28, 2012

2013 2012 2011
(In millions, except per share amounts) (52 weeks) (53 weeks) (52 weeks
Sales $98,37* $96,61¢  $90,26¢
Merchandise costs, including advertising, warehaysand
transportation, excluding items shown sejgrdelow 78,13¢ 76,72¢ 71,38¢
Operating, general and administrative 15,19¢ 14,84¢ 15,34¢
Rent 61 62¢ 61¢
Depreciation 1,70: 1,652 1,63¢
Operating Profit 2,72¢ 2,76¢ 1,27¢
Interest expense 44z 462 43E
Earnings before income tax expense 2,28: 2,30z 84:
Income tax expense 751 794 247
Net earnings including noncontrolling intetse 1,531 1,50¢ 59¢€
Net earnings (loss) attributable to nonadalhitrg interests 12 11 (6)
Net earnings attributable to The Kroger Co. $ 1,51¢ $1497 $ 60z
Net earnings attributable to The Kroger @& basic common share $ 2.9 $ 278 $ 1.01
Average number of common shares used ircleastulation 514 53z 59C
Net earnings attributable to The Kroger @ar. diluted common share $ 2.9C $ 277 $ 1.01
Average number of common shares used itedilaalculation 52C 537 59z
Dividends declared per common share $ 0.6% $ 05: $ 0.4«

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdinsolidated financial statements.
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THE KROGER CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE |INCOME

Years Ended February 1, 2014, February 2, 2013andary 28, 2012

2013 2012 2011
(In millions) (52 weeks; (53 weeks (52 weeks
Net earnings including noncontrolling intere $1,531 $1,50¢ $ 59¢€
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Unrealized gain on available for sale seam#; net of income tax (1) 5 — 2
Change in pension and other postretiremefimed benefit plans,
net of income tax (2) 29t 75 (277)
Unrealized gains and losses on cash flovgingdactivities,
net of income tax (3) (12 13 (26)
Amortization of unrealized gains and lossesash flow hedging
activities, net of income tax (4) 1 3 1
Total other comprehensive incomes)os 28¢ 91 (294)
Comprehensive income 1,82( 1,59¢ 302
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to nomedlimtg interests 12 11 (6)
Comprehensive income attributable to Theg€rcCo. $1,80¢ $1,58¢ $ 30¢

(1) Amountis net of tax of $3 in 2013 and $1 in 2C
(2) Amountis net of tax of $173 in 2013, $45 in 2012 $(154) in 2011
(3) Amountis net of tax of $(8) in 2013, $7 in 2012&{15) in 2011

(4)  Amount is net of tax of $1 in 2013, $2 in 2012 &idin 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdinsolidated financial statements.
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THE KROGER CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLows
Years Ended February 1, 2014, February 2, 2013andary 28, 2012

2013 2012 2011
(In millions) (52 weeks) (53 weeks) (52 weeks)

Net earnings including noncontrolling integest $ 1,531 $ 1,50¢ $ 59€

Depreciation 1,70¢ 1,652 1,63¢

LIFO charge 52 55 21€

Expense for Company-sponsored paensens 74 89 70

Other 47 23 3

Store deposits in-transit 25 (169) (120)

Receivables (8) (12¢) (63)

Trade accounts payable 3 67 83

Income taxes receivable anchpley 47) 164 (20€)

Other (15) (367) 33¢

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Proceeds from sale of assets 24 49 51

Other (121 (48) (10

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:

Payments on long-term debt (2,060 (1,445 (547)

Proceeds from issuance of capital stock 19¢ 11C 11¢

Dividends paid (319 (267) (257)

|
N
N

Other

[y
[}
o

Net increase (decrease) in cash and temporaryimasstment: 50 (637)

[ee]
N
e

Beginning of year 23¢ 18¢

Reconciliation of capital investments:

~
w
[o2]
(@]

Payments for lease buyouts 10¢



Total capital investments, excluding &ebayouts $(2,305) $(1,990 $(1,89¢)

Cash paid during the year for interest $ 401 $ 43¢ $ 457

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢imsolidated financial statements.
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THE KROGER CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS' EQuITY

Years Ended February 1, 2014, February 2, 2013andary 28, 2012

Accumulated
Additional Other
Common Stock  Paid-In Treasury Stock  Comprehensive Accumulated Noncontrolling
(In millions, except per share amounts) Shares Amount  Capital Shares Amount Gain (Loss) Earnings Interest Total

Issuance of common stock:

Restricted stock issued — — (55 ) 34 — — — (22)

Treasury stock purchases, at cost — — — 61 (2,420 — — — (2,420

Share-based employee compensation — — 81 — — — — _ 81

Net earnings (loss) including n-controlling

interests — — — — — — 60z (6)

Issuance of common stock:

Restricted stock issued — — (59) ) 40 — — —
Treasury stock purchases, at cost — — — 51 (1,165 — — —
Share-based employee compensation — — 82 — — — — —
Other — — 1 — 6 — — 11
Net earnings including ni-controlling interests — — — — s — 1,491 11

Issuance of common stock:

Restricted stock issued — — (60) 2) 26 — — —
Treasury stock purchases, at cost — — — 9 (33¢) — — —
Share-based employee compensation — — 107 — — — — —
Other — — 51 — 17 — — (8)

Net earnings including ni-controlling interests — — — — — — 1,51¢ 12



Balances at February 1, 2014 95¢  $95¢ $3,54¢ 451

c

$(9,641)

$(464)

$10,98:

$ 5,39¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdinsolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
All dollar amounts are in millions except share aed share amounts.
Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassifiembhform to current year presentation.
1. ACCOUNTING PoLicIES
The following is a summary of the significaticounting policies followed in preparing thesafinial statements.

Description of Business, Basis of Presentation Rndciples of Consolidation

The Kroger Co. (the “Companyfiyas founded in 1883 and incorporated in 1902. Afelfruary 1, 2014, the Company was one @
largest retailers in the United States based onarsales. The Company also manufactures and meeésod for sale by its supermarkets.
accompanying financial statements include the dadeted accounts of the Company, its whallyned subsidiaries and the Variable Inte
Entities (“VIES”") in which the Company is the primyabeneficiary. Significant intercompany transacti@and balances have been eliminated.

Certain revenue transactions previously reportedaies and merchandise costs in the Consolidat@n$¢nts of Operations are r
reported net within sales. Certain prior year ant®urave been revised or reclassified to confornthto current year presentation. Tt
amounts were not material to the prior periods.

Fiscal Year

The Company'’s fiscal year ends on the Saturdayesealanuary 31. The last three fiscal years cow$ishe 52week periods end
February 1, 2014 and January 28, 2012 and the &B8-period ended February 2, 2013.

Pervasiveness of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymvith generally accepted accounting principleSAAP”) requires management
make estimates and assumptions that affect theteebamounts of assets and liabilities. Disclosmifreontingent assets and liabilities as ol
date of the consolidated financial statements hadeaported amounts of consolidated revenues amehers during the reporting period als
required. Actual results could differ from thos¢ireates.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (ppalty on a last-in, first-out “LIFObasis) or market. In total, approximately 95% a6#69!
inventories for 2013 and 2012, respectively, wakied using the LIFO method. Cost for the balarfdd@ inventories, including substantic
all fuel inventories, was determined using thetiins first-out (“FIFO”) method. Replacement cost was higher than the ocargmount b
$1,150 at February 1, 2014 and $1,098 at Februa?@P3. The Company follows the Link-Chain, Dolatue LIFO method for purposes
calculating its LIFO charge or credit.

The itemeost method of accounting to determine inventorgt dmefore the LIFO adjustment is followed for salsilly all stor
inventories at the Comparsy'supermarket divisions. This method involves cimgneach item in inventory, assigning costs to eaicthes:
items based on the actual purchase costs (netnofovallowances and cash discounts) of each itetrecording the cost of items sold. *
item-cost method of accounting allows for more accuraporting of periodic inventory balances and emnalbh@nagement to more precis
manage inventory. In addition, substantially altleé Companys inventory consists of finished goods and is réedrat actual purchase cc
(net of vendor allowances and cash discounts).

The Company evaluates inventory shortages througheuyear based on actual physical counts iraitgifies. Allowances for invento
shortages are recorded based on the results & toesits to provide for estimated shortages dseofimancial statement date.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at@osh the case of assets acquired in a businasbioation, at fair value. Depreciati
expense, which includes the amortization of assetsrded under capital leases, is computed priligipaing the straightine method over tt
estimated useful lives of individual assets. Buigli and land improvements are depreciated baskdesnvarying from 10 to 40 years. All n
purchases of store equipment are assigned livggngairom three to nine years. Leasehold improvesene amortized over the shorter of
lease term to which they relate, which varies frioor to 25 years, or the useful life of the asdéanufacturing plant and distribution cer
equipment is depreciated over lives varying frome¢hto 15 years. Information technology assetsgareerally depreciated over five ye.
Depreciation expense was $1,703 in 2013, $1,62012 and $1,638 in 2011.

Interest costs on significant projects construdtedthe Companys own use are capitalized as part of the costhehewly constructe
facilities. Upon retirement or disposal of ass#is, cost and related accumulated depreciationeaneved from the balance sheet and any
or loss is reflected in net earnings.

Deferred Rent

The Company recognizes rent holidays, includingtitme period during which the Company has acceshd@roperty for construction
buildings or improvements and escalating rent @iovis on a straighire basis over the term of the lease. The defesredunt is included
Other Current Liabilities and Other Long-Term Liis on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets

Goodwill

The Company reviews goodwill for impairment durithg fourth quarter of each year, and also uporotoarrrence of trigger events. 7
Company performs reviews of each of its operativisibns and variable interest entities (collectyyeur reporting units) that have good\
balances. Generally, fair value is determined usingultiple of earnings, or discounted projectetirfer cash flows, and is compared to
carrying value of a division for purposes of idéitig potential impairment. Projected future caliwk are based on managemsrhowledg
of the current operating environment and expeatatifor the future. If potential for impairment @entified, the fair value of a division
measured against the fair value of its underlyiagets and liabilities, excluding goodwill, to esdten an implied fair value of the divisian’
goodwill. Goodwill impairment is recognized for aaxcess of the carrying value of the divisegoodwill over the implied fair value. Resi
of the goodwill impairment reviews performed dur2@l3, 2012 and 2011 are summarized in Note 3et@€tinsolidated Financial Statements.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company monitors the carrying value of Idiwvgd assets for potential impairment each qudrésed on whether certain trigger ev
have occurred. These events include current péoggks combined with a history of losses or a ptigje of continuing losses or a signific
decrease in the market value of an asset. Wheriggetr event occurs, an impairment calculation isfggmed, comparing project
undiscounted future cash flows, utilizing curreasiec flow information and expected growth ratesteeldo specific stores, to the carrying vi
for those stores. If the Company identifies impamnfor long-lived assets to be held and used Gbmpany compares the assetstren
carrying value to the assefflir value. Fair value is based on current markdties or discounted future cash flows. The Compacprd:
impairment when the carrying value exceeds fairkeiavalue. With respect to owned property and emeipt held for sale, the value of
property and equipment is adjusted to reflect recalle values based on previous efforts to dispdsemilar assets and current econc
conditions. Impairment is recognized for the exagsthe carrying value over the estimated fair rearkalue, reduced by estimated direct ¢
of disposal. The Company recorded asset impairmantise normal course of business totaling $39, &48 $37 in 2013, 2012 and 2C
respectively. Costs to reduce the carrying valuéongdived assets for each of the years presented hege imcluded in the Consolida
Statements of Operations as “Operating, generabdntnistrative” expense.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED

Store Closing Costs

The Company provides for closed store liabilitiekating to the present value of the estimated reimginoneancellable lease payme
after the closing date, net of estimated subteimmaime. The Company estimates the net lease tiabilusing a discount rate to calculate
present value of the remaining net rent paymentglosed stores. The closed store lease liabilitiesally are paid over the lease te
associated with the closed stores, which genehallye remaining terms ranging from one to 20 yeadfustments to closed store liabilit
primarily relate to changes in subtenant income aetdal exit costs differing from original estimaté\djustments are made for change
estimates in the period in which the change becdmewn. Store closing liabilities are reviewed dedy to ensure that any accrued am
that is not a sufficient estimate of future coststhat no longer is needed for its originally imded purpose, is adjusted to income in the pi
period.

Owned stores held for disposal are reduced to &stimated net realizable value. Costs to redueedirying values of property, equipmn
and leasehold improvements are accounted for inrdance with the Company’s policy on impairmeniasfg-lived assets. Inventory write-
downs, if any, in connection with store closings alassified in “Merchandise costLbsts to transfer inventory and equipment from exd
stores are expensed as incurred.

The following table summarizes accrual activity foture lease obligations of stores that were eldeethe normal course of business
assumed in the merger with Harris Teeter Superrtarkec. (“Harris Teeter”):

Future Lease

Obligations
Balance at January 28, 2012 $55
Additions 6
Payments (20
Other )
Balance at February 2, 2013 44
Additions 7
Payments 9
Other 2
Assumed from Harris Teeter _ 18
Balance at February 1, 2014 $ 58

Interest Rate Risk Management

The Company uses derivative instruments primadlynanage its exposure to changes in interest rates Companys current progra
relative to interest rate protection and the meshmdwhich the Company accounts for its derivaiiiggruments are described in Note 7.

Commaodity Price Protection

The Company enters into purchase commitments foows resources, including raw materials utilizadts manufacturing facilities a
energy to be used in its stores, manufacturindifiesi and administrative offices. The Company ent@to commitments expecting to ti
delivery of and to utilize those resources in tbaduct of the normal course of business. The Cogigarurrent program relative to commo
price protection and the methods by which the Cam@accounts for its purchase commitments are desttiin Note 7.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED
Benefit Plans and Multi-Employer Pension Plans

The Company recognizes the funded status of iteneént plans on the Consolidated Balance Shedtiafial gains or losses, prior sen
costs or credits and transition obligations thatehaot yet been recognized as part of net peribdiefit cost are required to be recorded
component of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Inc¢m@CI”). All plans are measured as of the Comparfiscal year end.

The determination of the obligation and expenseJJompany-sponsored pension plans and otherrptistment benefits is dependent
the selection of assumptions used by actuariesten@€ompany in calculating those amounts. Thosengssons are described in Note 15
include, among others, the discount rate, the dgddongterm rate of return on plan assets and the ratesx#ase in compensation and he
care costs. Actual results that differ from theuagstions are accumulated and amortized over fyiarmds and, therefore, generally affect
recognized expense and recorded obligation in duperiods. While the Company believes that theraptions are appropriate, signific
differences in actual experience or significantndes in assumptions may materially affect the menaind other posetirement obligatior
and future expense.

The Company also participates in various meitiployer plans for substantially all union emplaseension expense for these pla
recognized as contributions are funded. Refer tteN® for additional information regarding the Camp's participation in these varic
multi-employer plans and the United Food and ConeraeWorkers International Union (“UFCW”) consoliga fund.

The Company administers and makes contributioikg@mployee 401(k) retirement savings accountatribaitions to the employee 401
(k) retirement savings accounts are expensed waetrilsuted. Refer to Note 15 for additional infottioa regarding the Compars/benefi
plans.

Stock Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock options under falmesrecognition provisions. Under this method, @wenpany recognizes compensa
expense for all share-based payments granted. ©hgpéhy recognizes shabased compensation expense, net of an estimateitdoe rate
over the requisite service period of the awardaddition, the Company records expense for restristeck awards in an amount equal tc
fair market value of the underlying stock on thargrdate of the award, over the period the awanoisel.

Deferred Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are recorded to reflect dkeconsequences of differences between the tas basissets and liabilities and tt
financial reporting basis. Refer to Note 5 for tgpes of differences that give rise to significaottions of deferred income tax assets
liabilities. Deferred income taxes are classifisdaanet current or noncurrent asset or liabilitgdahon the classification of the related ass
liability for financial reporting purposes. A defed tax asset or liability that is not related to asset or liability for financial reporting
classified according to the expected reversal date.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The Company reviews the tax positions taken or ebegeto be taken on tax returns to determine whethe to what extent a benefit car
recognized in its consolidated financial statemeRe&fer to Note 5 for the amount of unrecognizedhtanefits and other related disclosi
related to uncertain tax positions.

Various taxing authorities periodically audit therf@pany’s income tax returns. These audits inclugestions regarding the Compasiy&
filing positions, including the timing and amounrt @eductions and the allocation of income to vasidax jurisdictions. In evaluating 1
exposures connected with these various tax filingitpns, including state and local taxes, the Camyprecords allowances for probe
exposures. A number of years may elapse beforetizydar matter, for which an allowance has bedal#shed, is audited and fully resolv
As of February 1, 2014, the Internal Revenue Serkid concluded its field examination of
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED

the Companys 2008 and 2009 federal tax returns. The Compasyileal an administrative appeal with the InterRavenue Service protest
certain adjustments proposed by the Internal Rex&muvice as a result of their field work.

The assessment of the Companyax position relies on the judgment of managemenéstimate the exposures associated witl
Company’s various filing positions.

Self-Insurance Costs

The Company is primarily self-insured for costsatetl to workerstcompensation and general liability claims. Lia@kt are actuarial
determined and are recognized based on claims éiletl an estimate of claims incurred but not replorfEhe liabilities for workers’
compensation claims are accounted for on a presdaé basis. The Company has purchased Isggpcoverage to limit its exposure to
significant exposure on a per claim basis. The Gowgps insured for covered costs in excess of theselaim limits.

The following table summarizes the changes in tom@any’s self-insurance liability through Februan2014.

2013 2012 2011
Beginning balance $537 $52¢ $514
Expense 22( 21t 21¢
Claim payments (21%) (207) (200
Assumed from Harris Teeter 27 — —
Ending balance 56¢ 537 52¢
Less: Current portion (224 (20%) (197
Long-term portion $34c  $332 $332

The current portion of the self-insured liabilityincluded in “Other current liabilities,” and th@ng-term portion is included in “Other long-
term liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Siseet

The Company maintains surety bonds related toisslfred workerscompensation claims. These bonds are required tst states i
which the Company is self-insured for workers’ camgation and are placed with thperty insurance providers to insure payment o
obligations in the event the Company is unable ¢@nits claim payment obligations up to its seffured retention levels. These bonds d¢
represent liabilities of the Company, as the Comgpeas recorded reserves for the claim costs.

The Company is similarly self-insured for propertyated losses. The Company maintains stop loserage to limit its property lo
exposures including coverage for earthquake, wilodd and other catastrophic events.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues from the sale of products are recognizétegoint of sale. Discounts provided to custasri®r the Company at the time of s
including those provided in connection with loyattgrds, are recognized as a reduction in saldsegsroducts are sold. Discounts provide
vendors, usually in the form of paper coupons naterecognized as a reduction in sales provideddlgons are redeemable at any retailel
accepts coupons. The Company records a receivaite the vendor for the difference in sales pricd aash received. Pharmacy sales
recorded when provided to the customer. Sales tasesecorded as other accrued liabilities andasod component of sales. The Comj
does not recognize a sale when it sells its owncgifds and gift certificates. Rather, it recordsegerred liability equal to the amount recei
A sale is then recognized when the gift card ot géfrtificate is redeemed to purchase the Compapyoducts. Gift card and certific
breakage is recognized when redemption is deenmdtecand there is no legal obligation to remit¥h&ie of the unredeemed gift card. -
amount of breakage has not been material for 22082 and 2011.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED
Merchandise Costs

The “Merchandise costdine item of the Consolidated Statements of Openatincludes product costs, net of discounts alwdvahces
advertising costs (see separate discussielow); inbound freight charges; warehousing cosisluding receiving and inspection co
transportation costs; and manufacturing produciioa operational costs. Warehousing, transportaimhmanufacturing management sal
are also included in the “Merchandise codiisé item; however, purchasing management salamgsadministration costs are included in
“Operating, general, and administrative” line itatong with most of the Comparsybther managerial and administrative costs. Reperes:
and depreciation expense are shown separatelg iBdhsolidated Statements of Operations.

Warehousing and transportation costs include Higtion center direct wages, repairs and maintenartigies, inbound freight and, whe
applicable, third party warehouse management fagswell as transportation direct wages and repis maintenance. These costs
recognized in the periods the related expenseineuered.

The Company believes the classification of costtuihed in merchandise costs could vary widely threut the industry. The Company’
approach is to include in the “Merchandise cobite® item the direct, net costs of acquiring praduend making them available to custome
its stores. The Company believes this approach auxstrately presents the actual costs of prodotds s

The Company recognizes all vendor allowances aslaction in merchandise costs when the relatedugtdd sold. When possible, ven
allowances are applied to the related product lbgpstem and, therefore, reduce the carrying valugeentory by item. When the items
sold, the vendor allowance is recognized. Whes itat possible, due to systems constraints, taatkovendor allowances to the produc
item, vendor allowances are recognized as a ramuatimerchandise costs based on inventory turdstherefore, recognized as the produ
sold.

Advertising Costs

The Company’s advertising costs are recognizelerperiods the related expenses are incurred and@uded in the “Merchandise costs’
line item of the Consolidated Statements of Openati The Company’s ptex advertising costs totaled $587 in 2013, $5530h2 and $532
2011. The Company does not record vendor allowafoces-operative advertising as a reduction ofeatising expense.

Cash, Temporary Cash Investments and Book Ovesdraft

Cash and temporary cash investments represent cisteand shoterm investments with original maturities of lebarn three month
Book overdrafts are included in trade accounts pleyand accrued salaries and wages.

Deposits In-Transit

Deposits in-transit generally represent funds digpd$o the Companyg’ bank accounts at the end of the year relatedl#s,sa majority (
which were paid for with debit cards, credit caatsl checks, to which the Company does not have diateeaccess but that settle within a
days of the sales transaction.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the Consolidated Statements of Ebwshks, the Company considers all highly liquid datstruments purchased with
original maturity of three months or less to be penary cash investments.

A-42




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED
Segments

The Company operates retail food and drug storedtj-oepartment stores, jewelry stores, and convenistares throughout the Unit
States. The Company’s retail operations, whichasgmt over 99% of the Compasyconsolidated sales and EBITDA, are its only regiube
segment. The Compargyretail operating divisions have been aggregatéa one reportable segment due to the operatingidins havin
similar economic characteristics with similar lomgm financial performance. In addition, the Comypanoperating divisions offer to
customers similar products, have similar distribntimethods, operate in similar regulatory environtse purchase the majority of
Companys merchandise for retail sale from similar (andnany cases identical) vendors on a coordinated asin a centralized locatic
serve similar types of customers, and are allocedégpital from a centralized location. The Companyperating divisions reflect the manne
which the business is managed and how the Comp#&hjief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officevho act as the Compaisythie
operating decision makers, assess performanceatierAll of the Company’s operations are domestic

The following table presents sales revenue by tfgeoduct for 2013, 2012 and 2011.

2013 2012 2011

Amount % of total Amount % of total Amount % of total
Non Perishable (1 $49,22¢ 50.(%  $48,66! 50.4%  $46,49: 51.5%
Perishable (2) 20,62t 21.(% 19,76: 20.5% 18,58¢ 20.6%
Fuel 18,96: 19.2% 18,89¢ 19.5% 16,90: 18.7%
Pharmacy 8,07: 8.2% 8,01¢ 8.2% 7,32z 8.1%
Other (3) 1,48¢ 1.5% 1,281 1.2% 964 1.1%
Total Sales and other revenue $98,37¢ 100.(%  $96,61¢ 100.(%  $90,26¢ 100.(%

(1) Consists primarily of grocery, general merchandiealth and beauty care and natural for
(2) Consists primarily of produce, floral, meat, seafodeli and bakery
(3) Consists primarily of jewelry store sales, outsitenufacturing sales and sales from entities natretbed by the Company

2. MERGER

On January 28, 2014, the Company closed its mevigerHarris Teeter by purchasing 100% of the Hafieeter outstanding common st
for $2,436. The merger allows us to expand intoftise-growing southeastern and niitlantic markets and into Washington, D.C. The ne¢
was accounted for under the purchase method ouatiog and was financed through a combination ohrm@rcial paper and longrm dek
(see Note 6). In a business combination, the psechaice is allocated to assets acquired anditiabissumed based on their fair values,
any excess of purchase price over fair value rezednas goodwill. In addition to recognizing thesets and liabilities on the acqui
companys balance sheet, the Company reviews supply cdstrigases, financial instruments, employment agesgs and other significe
agreements to identify potential assets or liaedithat require recognition in connection with #pplication of acquisition accounting un
ASC 805. Intangible assets are recognized apart f@odwill when the asset arises from contractuaitioer legal rights, or are separable f
the acquired entity such that they may be solasfeared, licensed, rented or exchanged either staradalone basis or in combination wi
related contract, asset or liability.
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Pending the finalization of the Compasyaluations and other items, the following tahlenmarizes the preliminary fair values of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

January 28,
2014

ASSETS
Cash and temporary cash investments $ 92
Store deposits in-transit 28
Receivables 41
FIFO inventory 42¢
Prepaid and other current assets 31

Total current assets 61¢
Property, plant and equipment 1,32¢
Intangibles 55¢
Other assets 23¢

Total Assets, excluding Goodwill 2,74:
LIABILITIES
Current portion of long-term debt including obligets under

capital leases and financing obligations @)
Trade accounts payable (202
Accrued salaries and wages (47
Deferred income taxes (20)
Other current liabilities (159

Total current liabilities (43%)
Fair-value of long-term debt including obligatiamsder

capital leases and financing obligations (252)
Deferred income taxes (28E)
Pension and postretirement benefit obligations (98)
Other long-term liabilities (137)

Total Liabilities (1,207

Total Identifiable Net Assets 1,53t
Goodwill 901

Total Purchase Price $2,43¢

Of the $558 allocated to intangible assets, $4B0as to the Harris Teeter trade name, to whiclasgigned an indefinite life and, therefi
will not be amortized. The Company also recorde@ $#8d $75 related to pharmacy prescription filed &avorable leasehold intere:
respectively. The Company will amortize the pharynaescription files and favorable leasehold indes@ver seven and 24 years, respecti
The goodwill recorded as part of the merger wagbatiable to the assembled workforce of Harris €eaind operational synergies expe
from the merger, as well as any intangible as$etsdo not qualify for separate recognition. Tregaction was treated as a stock purcha:
income tax purposes. The assets acquired andtiiihissumed as part of the merger did not ré@satstep up of the tax basis and goodw
not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.alftve amounts represent the preliminary allocasfothe purchase price, and are subje
revision when the resulting valuations of propeatd intangible assets are finalized, which will wcprior to January 28, 2015. Due to
timing of the merger closing late in the year, teeenue and earnings of Harris Teeter in 2013 wetenaterial.
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Pro forma results of operations, assuming the &@tien had taken place at the beginning of 2012 jrasiuded in the following table. T
pro forma information includes historical results aperations of Harris Teeter and adjustments fberest expense that would have t
incurred due to financing the acquisition, depréociaand amortization of the assets acquired ardudgs the precquisition transactic
related expenses incurred by Harris Teeter an@€timepany. The pro forma information does not inclafficiencies, cost reductions, synerg
and investments in lower prices for our customeqseeted to result from the merger or immaterialusitions completed in 2012. T
unaudited pro forma financial information is notcessarily indicative of the results that actuallpud have occurred had the merger t
completed at the beginning of the 2012.

Fiscal year ended Fiscal year ended
February 1, 2014 February 2, 2013
Sales $103,20: $101,21.
Net earnings including noncontrolling intere 1,66¢ 1,58¢
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling intés: 12 11
Net earnings attributable to The Kroger Co. $ 1,652 $ 157

3. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table summarizes the changes in tm@any’s net goodwill balance through FebruaryQn,4

2013 2012
Balance beginning of year
Goodwill $3,76¢  $3,67(
Accumulated impairment losses (2,537 (2,537
1,23¢ 1,13¢
Activity during the year
Acquisitions 901 96
Balance end of year
Goodwill 4,667 3,76¢
Accumulated impairment losses (2,539 (2,539

$2,13t $1,23¢

In 2013, the Company acquired all the outstandivayess of Harris Teeter, a supermarket retailepirtteastern and midtlantic market
and Washington, D.C., resulting in additional goddef $901. See Note 2 for additional informaticegarding the merger.

In 2012, the Company acquired an interest in onésofuppliers and all the outstanding shares afisexPharmacy, a leading specii
pharmacy that provides specialized drug therapies support services for patients with complex maldoonditions, resulting in combin
additional goodwill of $96.

Testing for impairment must be performed annuadly,on an interim basis upon the occurrence of ggéiiing event or a change
circumstances that would more likely than not redtlee fair value of a reporting unit below its gamg amount. The annual evaluatior
goodwill performed during the fourth quarter of 302012 and 2011 did not result in impairment.

Based on current and future expected cash flovesCtimpany believes goodwill impairments are noswaably likely. A 10% reduction
fair value of the Company’s reporting units woultt mdicate a potential for impairment of the Comya remaining goodwill balance.
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The Company acquired definite and indefinite livathngible assets totaling approximately $558 assallt of the merger with Har

Teeter. See Note 2 for additional information reljag the merger.

The following table summarizes the Company'’s inthiegassets balance through February 1, 2014.

Definite-lived favorable leasehold interests
Definite-lived pharmacy prescription files
Definite-lived other

Indefinite-lived trade name

Indefinite-lived liquor licenses

Total

2012

Gross carrying

Accumulated

Gross carrying

Accumulated

amount amortization (1) amount amortization (1)
$144 $(62) $ 69 $(58)
95 (28) 45 (26)
78 (10) 54 @)
43C — — —
54 — 48 —
$801 $(99) $21€ $(86)

(1) Favorable leasehold interests are amortized to egpénse, pharmacy prescription files are amorttpetherchandise costs and o

intangibles are amortized to operating, generaladinistrative expens

Amortization expense associated with intangibleetsstotaled approximately $18, $13 and $12, dufiszal years 2013, 2012 and 2C
respectively. Future amortization expense assatiatth the net carrying amount of definiiged intangible assets for the years subsequt

2013 is estimated to be approximately:

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Thereafter

Total future estimated amortization associated

with definite-lived intangible assets
4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, plant and equipment, net consists of:

Land

Buildings and land improvements

Equipment

Leasehold improvements

Construction-in-progress

Leased property under capital leases and finarafdfigations
Total property, plant and equipment

Accumulated depreciation and amortization

Property, plant and equipment, net

$ 28
25
22

2013 2012
$ 2,63¢ $ 2,45
8,84¢ 8,24¢
11,03: 10,26
7,64 6,54
1,52( 1,23¢
691 59z
32,37¢ 29,34
(15,480  (14,49Y
$16,89:  $ 14,84¢

Accumulated depreciation for leased property umdgital leases was $339 at February 1, 2014 antl 83Pebruary 2, 2013.

Approximately $232 and $236, original cost, of Rndp, Plant and Equipment collateralized certairtgages at February 1, 2014

February 2, 2013, respectively.
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5. TAXES BASED ON INCOME

The provision for taxes based on income consists of

2013 2012 2011
Federal
Current $63€  $56c  $14¢€
Deferred 81 154 78
Subtotal federal 71¢ 717 224
State and local
Current 42 46 42
Deferred (10) 31 (1)
Subtotal state and local 32 77 23
Total $751 $794 $247
A reconciliation of the statutory federal rate dhd effective rate follows:
2013 2012 2011
Statutory rate 35.(% 35.%  35.(%
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 0.9% 2.2% 1.8%
Credits 1.39% (@A9% (3.6%
Favorable resolution of issues — 0.5% (3.9%
Domestic manufacturing deduction 1.D)% (0.5% (1.9%
Other changes, net 06% (039% 0.8%
32.9% 34.5%  29.2%

The 2013 tax rate differed from the federal stagutate primarily as a result of the utilizationtak credits, the Domestic Manufactur
Deduction and other changes, partially offset gy éffect of state income taxes. The 2013 rate tite Shcome taxes is lower than 2012
2011 due to an increase in state credits, inclutiegoenefit from filing amended returns to claiddiéional credits. The 2013 benefit from
Domestic Manufacturing Deduction increased from2€@lie to additional deductions taken in 2013, alé agethe amendment of prior years
tax returns to claim the additional benefit ava#ain years still under review by the Internal Rewe Service. The 2011 effective tax rate
significantly lower than 2013 and 2012 due to tffeat on pre-tax income of the UFCW consolidatedgpen plan charge of $953 ($591 after
tax) in 2011. The effect of the UFCW consolidateshgon plan charge reduced pas-income thereby increasing the effect of creditd o

the favorable resolution of tax issues on our 2€ffdctive tax rate.
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The tax effects of significant temporary differestkat comprise tax balances were as follows:

2013 2012
Current deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss and credit carryforwards $ 4 3 4
Compensation related costs 102 79
Other 15 —
Subtotal 122 83
Valuation allowance ©) 4
Total current deferred tax assets 11z 79
Current deferred tax liabilities:
Insurance related costs (96) (11€)
Inventory related costs (265) (239
Other — a7
Total current deferred tax liabilgie (361) (367)
Current deferred taxes $ (248) $ (289§
Long-term deferred tax assets:
Compensation related costs $ 464 $ 564
Lease accounting 11t 87
Closed store reserves 54 5€
Insurance related costs 66 77
Net operating loss and credit carryforwards 10z 82
Other — 2
Subtotal 80z 86¢
Valuation allowance (39 (28
Total long-term deferred tax assets 764 84(
Long-term deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation (2,12¢) (1,63¢€)
Other ) —
Total long-term deferred tax liabhdg (2,145 (1,636
Long-term deferred taxes $(1,38) $ (79¢)

The longterm deferred tax liability for depreciation incsed over the prior year due to the inclusion ofridareeter and an adjustmen
the estimated tax depreciation used in the 2012isiom that resulted in a correction in the balasbeet between other current liabilities
long-term deferred income taxes in 2013. The amofitite correction was not material to any peripossented.

At February 1, 2014, the Company had net operdtsg carryforwards for state income tax purpose$19280. These net operating |
carryforwards expire from 2014 through 2032. Thi#zation of certain of the Comparg/net operating loss carryforwards may be limiteé
given year. Further, based on the analysis desthleéow, the Company has recorded a valuation allme against some of the deferrec
assets resulting from its net operating losses.

At February 1, 2014, the Company had state crediyforwards of $34, most of which expire from 2@abdough 2027. The utilization
certain of the Compang’credits may be limited in a given year. Furti@sed on the analysis described below, the Compasyecorded
valuation allowance against some of the deferre@ds$sets resulting from its state credits.
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The Company regularly reviews all deferred tax &sea a tax filer and jurisdictional basis to estimwhether these assets are more |
than not to be realized based on all availableendd. This evidence includes historical taxable@nme, projected future taxable income,
expected timing of the reversal of existing temppmdifferences and the implementation of tax plagnstrategies. Projected future taxi
income is based on expected results and assum@®mns the jurisdiction in which the income will karned. The expected timing of
reversals of existing temporary differences is Has® current tax law and the Compasnyax methods of accounting. Unless deferred tast:
are more likely than not to be realized, a valuaiiowance is established to reduce the carryalgevof the deferred tax asset until such
that realization becomes more likely than not. éases and decreases in these valuation allowareexhided in “Income tax expensi’the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoahtunrecognized tax benefits, including positiompacting only the timing of te
benefits, is as follows:

2013 2012 2011
Beginning balance $29¢  $31C  $28t
Additions based on tax positions related to theentryear 23 45 24
Reductions based on tax positions related to theictyear (20 9 —
Additions for tax positions of prior years 17 1 24
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (4) 27 (12)
Settlements — (21) (12
Ending balance $328  $29¢  $31C

The Company does not anticipate that changes imnatheunt of unrecognized tax benefits over the rexive months will have
significant impact on its results of operationdinancial position.

As of February 1, 2014, February 2, 2013 and Jgn2@&r 2012, the amount of unrecognized tax ben#fas if recognized, would impe
the effective tax rate was $98, $70 and $81 resmdgt

To the extent interest and penalties would be assgely taxing authorities on any underpayment cbrime tax, such amounts have t
accrued and classified as a component of incomexp&nse. During the years ended February 1, Febtuary 2, 2013 and January 28, 2
the Company recognized approximately $10, $(8) $f2d), respectively, in interest and penalties dvecies). The Company had accr
approximately $41 and $33 for the payment of irteamd penalties as of February 1, 2014 and Feb®y&013, respectively.

As of February 1, 2014, the Internal Revenue Serwiad concluded its field examination of the Conypsr2008 and 2009 federal
returns and is currently auditing years 2010 antil20he 2010 and 2011 audits are expected to beleted in 2014. The Company has f
an administrative appeal with the Internal ReveSaevice protesting certain adjustments proposethéynternal Revenue Service as a rt
of their field work.

On September 13, 2013, the U.S. Department of teasliry and Internal Revenue Service releasedtngible property regulations tl
provide guidance on the tax treatment regardingdédiction and capitalization of expenditures eglab tangible property. These regulat
are effective for tax years beginning on or afsuhry 1, 2014. The Company is currently assesbie®e rules and their effect on its finan
statements, and believes adoption of these regokatwill not have an effect on net income and witt have a material effect on
reclassification between long-term deferred taliliies and current income tax liabilities.
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6. DEBT OBLIGATIONS

Long-term debt consists of:

2013 2012
0.80% to 8.00% Senior notes due through 2043 $ 9,08 $6,58i
5.00% to 12.75% Mortgages due in varying amountsuiph 2034 64 60
0.27% to 0.45% Commercial paper due through Febr2@t4 1,25( 1,64¢
Other 38: 184
Total debt 10,78( 8,47¢
Less current portion (1,616 (2,700
Total long-term debt $ 9,164 $577¢

In 2013, the Company issued $600 of senior notesrdfiscal year 2023 bearing an interest rate.85%, $400 of senior notes due in fi
year 2043 bearing an interest rate of 5.15%, $3G@wior notes due in fiscal year 2016 bearingnéerést rate of-month London InteBank
Offering Rate plus 53 basis points, $300 of senmtes due in fiscal year 2016 bearing an intergst of 1.20%, $500 of senior notes du
fiscal year 2019 bearing an interest rate of 2.38780 of senior notes due in fiscal year 2021 Ipgaain interest rate of 3.30% and $50
senior notes due in fiscal year 2024 bearing arést rate of 4.00%. In 2013, the Company repaliD $f senior notes bearing an interest
of 5.00% and $600 of senior notes bearing an isteete of 7.50% upon their maturity.

In 2012, the Company issued $500 of senior notesimdiscal year 2022 bearing an interest rate.40% and $350 of senior notes du
fiscal year 2042 bearing an interest rate of 5.082012, the Company repaid upon their maturit93$4f senior notes bearing an interest
of 6.75%, $346 of senior notes bearing an inteastof 6.20% and $500 of senior notes bearingntamdst rate of 5.50%.

On January 25, 2012, the Company amended and ededtsl$2,000 unsecured revolving credit facilitjhe Company entered into
amended credit facility to amend and extend the @om's existing credit facility which would have termiad on May 15, 2014. T
amended credit facility provides for a $2,000 unsed revolving credit facility (the “Credit Agreemtg), with a termination date of January
2017, unless extended as permitted under the Ckgditement. The Company has the ability to increésesize of the Credit Agreement by
to an additional $500, subject to certain condgion

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear intea¢$he Companyg option, at either (i) LIBOR plus a market rateesygl, based on t
Companys Leverage Ratio or (ii) the base rate, definethashighest of (a) the Bank of America prime rgbg,the Federal Funds rate ¢
0.5%, and (c) one-month LIBOR plus 1.0%, plus akearate spread based on the Compsauigverage Ratio. The Company will also p.
Commitment Fee based on the Leverage Ratio andrlL@tiCredit fees equal to a market rate spreaddan the Compang’Leverage Rati
The Credit Agreement contains covenants, which,rapagher things, require the maintenance of a laye@Ratio of not greater than 3.50::
and a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of not less 1H&0i11.00. In the first quarter of 2012, the covdgsavere amended to exclude up to $1
in expense related to the Compangbmmitment to fund the UFCW consolidated penpian. The Company may repay the Credit Agree
in whole or in part at any time without premiumpanalty. The Credit Agreement is not guaranteethbyCompany’s subsidiaries.

In addition to the Credit Agreement, the Companyintaéned two uncommitted money market lines to@l#v5 in the aggregate. 1
money market lines allow the Company to borrow frisamks at mutually agreed upon rates, usuallytasraelow the rates offered under
credit agreement. As of February 1, 2014, the Compad $1,250 of borrowings of commercial papethwi weighted average interest rat
0.27%, and no borrowings under its Credit Agreenagit money market lines. As of February 2, 2018 Gbmpany had $1,645 of borrowil
of commercial paper, with a weighted average istenate of 0.45%, and no borrowings under its Gradreement and money market lines.
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As of February 1, 2014, the Company had outstanigingrs of credit in the amount of $209, of wh&t? reduces funds available undet
Companys Credit Agreement. The letters of credit are naan@d primarily to support performance, paymenpodé or surety obligations
the Company.

Most of the Companyg outstanding public debt is subject to early repléon at varying times and premiums, at the optibthe Compan
In addition, subject to certain conditions, somehaf Companys publicly issued debt will be subject to redemptim whole or in part, at tl
option of the holder upon the occurrence of a rqat@mn event, upon not less than five dapstice prior to the date of redemption, i
redemption price equal to the default amount, plgpecified premium. “Redemption Everg'defined in the indentures as the occurrencé
any person or group, together with any affiliateréof, beneficially owning 50% or more of the vgtipower of the Company, (ii) any ¢
person or group, or affiliate thereof, succeedmyaving a majority of its nominees elected to@mnpanys Board of Directors, in each ce
without the consent of a majority of the continuidigectors of the Company or (iii) both a changecoitrol and a below investment gr
rating.

The aggregate annual maturities and scheduled pagroglong-term debt, as of year-end 2013, andheryears subsequent to 2013 are:

2014 $ 1,61¢
2015 524
2016 1,267
2017 70¢
2018 1,00z
Thereafter 5,662
Total debt $10,78(

7. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

GAAP defines derivatives, requires that derivatibescarried at fair value on the balance sheet,paodides for hedge accounting wl
certain conditions are met. The Compangeérivative financial instruments are recognizedte balance sheet at fair value. Changes inatir
value of derivative instruments designated as “ctisi” hedges, to the extent the hedges are highly efesctire recorded in ott
comprehensive income, net of tax effects. Inefiectportions of cash flow hedges, if any, are recoghin current period earnings. Ot
comprehensive income or loss is reclassified intwent period earnings when the hedged transaaffests earnings. Changes in the fair v
of derivative instruments designated as “fair valbedges, along with corresponding changes in theviues of the hedged asset:
liabilities, are recorded in current period earsinigeffective portions of fair value hedges, iffaare recognized in current period earnings.

The Company assesses, both at the inception dfiglge and on an ongoing basis, whether derivatised as hedging instruments
highly effective in offsetting the changes in tladr fvalue or cash flow of the hedged items. Ifsitdetermined that a derivative is not hig
effective as a hedge or ceases to be highly effediie Company discontinues hedge accounting potisgly.

Interest Rate Risk Management

The Company is exposed to market risk from fluéturet in interest rates. The Company manages itesexp to interest rate fluctuatic
through the use of a commercial paper programresterate swaps (fair value hedges) and forvetading interest rate swaps (cash 1
hedges). The Comparsycurrent program relative to interest rate pradectontemplates hedging the exposure to changdifair value ¢
fixed-rate debt attributable to changes in interest ratesdo this, the Company uses the following guit: (i) use average daily outstanc
borrowings to determine annual debt amounts sultjeictterest rate exposure, (ii) limit the averag@mual amount subject to interest rate |
and the amount of floating rate debt to a combitatéal of $2,500 or less, (iii) include no leveragadducts, and (iv) hedge without regar
profit motive or sensitivity to current mark-to-nkat status.

A-51




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED

The Company reviews compliance with these guidsliaenually with the Financial Policy Committee bé tBoard of Directors. The
guidelines may change as the Company’s needselictat

Fair Value Interest Rate Swaps

The table below summarizes the outstanding inteaéstswaps designated as fair value hedges a=bofi&ry 1, 2014 and February 2, 2(

2013 2012

Pay Pay Pay Pay

Floating Fixed Floating Fixed

Notional amoun $ 10C $— $47E $—
Number of contract 2 — 6 —
Duration in years 4.94 — 1.41 —
Average variable rate 5.8:% — 3.2¢% —
Average fixed rate 6.8(% — 5.3t% —
Maturity December 2018 Between

April 2013 and
December 2018

During the first quarter of 2013, four of the Comp@a fair value swaps, with a notional amount aggtang $375, matured.

The gain or loss on these derivative instrumentwelsas the offsetting gain or loss on the hedigeahs attributable to the hedged ris
recognized in current earnings as “Interest expéfi$mse gains and losses for 2013 and 2012 wef@lag/s:

Year-To-Date

February 1, 2014 February 2, 2013
Consolidated Statement of Operations Gain/(Loss) or Gain/(Loss) or Gain/(Loss) or Gain/(Loss) or
Classification Swaps Borrowings Swaps Borrowings
Interest Expense $(3) $4 $(24) $16

The following table summarizes the location and failue of derivative instruments designated as \falue hedges on the Company’
Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Asset Derivatives

Fair Value
February 1, February 2, Balance Sheet
Derivatives Designated as Fair Value Hedging Instnmnents 2014 2013 Location
Interest Rate Hedges $(2) $1 (Other LongTermr
Liabilities)/Other
Assets

Cash Flow Forward-Starting Interest Rate Swaps
As of February 1, 2014, the Company did not haweautstanding forward-starting interest rate swggeaments.

As of February 2, 2013, the Company had 17 forveaatting interest rate swap agreements with matdates between April 2013 ¢
January 2014 with an aggregate notional amounlingt&850. In 2012, the Company entered into sedfethese forwardstarting interest ra
swap agreements with an aggregate notional amotaling $350. A forwardstarting interest rate swap is an agreement tiiettefely hedge
the variability in future benchmark interest paymseattributable to changes in interest rates orfdhecasted issuance of fixedte debt. Th
Company entered into the forward-starting interatd swaps
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in order to lock in fixed interest rates on itsdoasted issuances of debt in fiscal year 2013. Waegly, the forwardstarting interest rate swe
were designated as caibw hedges as defined by GAAP. As of February@,2 the fair value of the interest rate swaps ngasrded in otht
assets and other lorigrm liabilities for $14 and $9, respectively, @h@CI| and accumulated other comprehensive loss9ane of tax and §
net of tax, respectively.

During 2013, the Company terminated 29 forwatalting interest rate swap agreements with mgtdetes of April 2013 and January 2
with an aggregate notional amount totaling $1,700elve of these forwardtarting interest rate swap agreements, with anegage notioni
amount totaling $850, were entered into and tertathan 2013. These forwamstarting interest rate swap agreements were hedtie
variability in future benchmark interest paymentsitautable to changing interest rates on the faséed issuance of fixegdte debt issued
2013. As discussed in Note 6, the Company issuesD®3of senior notes in 2013. Since these forvedadting interest rate swap agreem
were classified as cash flow hedges, the unamdrtzes of $15, $9 net of tax, has been deferredhttx in AOCI and will be amortized
earnings as the interest payments are made.

The following table summarizes the effect of thenpany’s derivative instruments designated as dashHedges for 2013 and 2012:

Year-To-Date

Amount of Gain/(Loss)

Amount of Gain/(Loss) Reclassified from AOCI

in AOCI on Derivative into Income (Effective Location of Gain/(Loss)
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging (Effective Portion) Portion) Reclassified into Incomu
Relationships 2013 2012 2013 2012 (Effective Portion)
Forward-Starting Interest Rate
Swaps, net of tax* $(25) $(14) $(2) $(3) Interest expense

* The amounts of Gain/(Loss) in AOCI on derivativeslide unamortized proceeds and payments from fdratarting interest rate swe
once classified as cash flow hedges that were texted prior to end of 201

For the above fair value and cash flow interest mtaps, the Company has entered into Internat®walps and Derivatives Associal
master netting agreements that permit the neegstht of amounts owed under their respective diravaontracts. Under these master ne
agreements, net settlement generally permits tlmep@ay or the counterparty to determine the net arnpayable for contracts due on the s
date and in the same currency for similar typeslarivative transactions. These master netting ageaes generally also provide for
settlement of all outstanding contracts with a ¢erparty in the case of an event of default ormiteation event.

Collateral is generally not required of the coupéeties or of the Company under these master gediineements. As of February 1, 2
and February 2, 2013, no cash collateral was redeiv pledged under the master netting agreements.
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The effect of the net settlement provisions of ¢hesster netting agreements on the Compsadgtivative balances upon an event of de
or termination event is as follows as of Februar2d14 and February 2, 2013:

February 1, 2014 Gross Net Gross Amounts Not Offse
Amounts Amount in the Balance Sheet
Gross Offset in Presented ir
Amount the Balance the Balance Financial Cash Net
Recognize! Sheet Sheet Instruments Collateral Amount
Liabilities
Fair Value Interest Rate Swaps $2 $— $2 $— $— $2
February 2, 2013 Gross Net Gross Amounts Not Offset
Amounts Amount in the Balance Sheet
Gross Offset in Presented in
Amount the Balance the Balance Financial Cash Net
Recognized Sheet Sheet Instruments Collateral Amount

Assets
Cash Flow Forward-Starting

Interest Rate Swaps $1€ $(2) $14 $— $— $14
Fair Value Interest Rate Swaps 1 = 1 _— 1 1
Total s17 ) s1 = s s1
Liabilities
Cash Flow Forward-Starting

Interest Rate Swaps $11 $(2) $9 $— $— $9

Commodity Price Protection

The Company enters into purchase commitments foows resources, including raw materials utilizadts manufacturing facilities a
energy to be used in its stores, warehouses, maaufzy facilities and administrative offices. TBempany enters into commitments expec
to take delivery of and to utilize those resourizeshe conduct of normal business. Those commitmémt which the Company expects
utilize or take delivery in a reasonable amourtirog in the normal course of business qualify asmab purchases and normal sales.

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy that ptimes the inputs used to measure fair value. Theetlevels of the fair value hierarc
defined in the standards are as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices are available in activekais for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 — Pricing inputs are other than quotedgxiin active markets included in Level 1, whicheiteer directly or indirectly observable;

Level 3 —Unobservable pricing inputs in which little or noarket activity exists, therefore requiring an entib develop its ow
assumptions about the assumptions that marketipenits would use in pricing an asset or liability.

A-54




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED

For items carried at (or adjusted to) fair valu¢he consolidated financial statements, the foll@uiables summarize the fair value of tt
instruments at February 1, 2014 and February 232201

February 1, 2014 Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets Significant
for Identical Significant Other Unobservable
Assets Observable Inputs Inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Available-for-Sale Securities $3€ $— $— $36
Warrants — 1€ — 16
Long-Lived Assets — — 28 29
Interest Rate Hedges — (9 — )
Total $3€ % $28 @

February 2, 2013 Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets Significant
for Identical Significant Other Unobservable

Assets Observable Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Available-for-Sale Securities $8 $— $20 $28
Long-Lived Assets — — 8 8
Interest Rate Hedges = _6 s _6
Total ﬁ ﬁ $28 $42

In 2013, one of the Company’s available-fale securities began trading in an active maB@tause of this, the Company transferret
$20 fair value of securities from a Level 3 assett_evel 1 asset in 2013. In 2013, unrealizedggamthe Level 1 available-faale securitie
totaled $8.

The Company values warrants using the Black-Schopd®n-pricing model. The Black-Scholes optipricing model is classified as
Level 2 input.

The Company values interest rate hedges usingadsderforward yield curves. These forward yieldvas are classified as Level 2 inputs.

Fair value measurements of non-financial assetsxandinancial liabilities are primarily used in the imipment analysis of goodwill, ott
intangible assets, lonlgred assets and in the valuation of store leasecests. The Company reviews goodwill and othéangible assets f
impairment annually, during the fourth quarter atle fiscal year, and as circumstances indicatgdssibility of impairment. See Note 3
further discussion related to the Company’s cagyialue of goodwill. Londived assets and store lease exit costs were neghatifair valu
on a nonrecurring basis using Level 3 inputs amddfin the fair value hierarchy. See Note 1 fatHar discussion of the Compasypolicie:
and recorded amounts for impairments of long-liesdets and valuation of store lease exit cost20Ir8, longlived assets with a carryi
amount of $68 were written down to their fair vabfe$29, resulting in an impairment charge of $iB62012, longlived assets with a carryi
amount of $26 were written down to their fair vabfe$8, resulting in an impairment charge of $18.

Mergers are accounted for using the acquisitionhotetof accounting, which requires that the purchadee paid for an acquisition
allocated to the assets and liabilities acquiresbdaon their estimated fair values as of the éffectate of the acquisition, with the excess o
purchase price over the net assets being recosdgdaalwill. See Note 2 for further discussion edato the merger with Harris Teeter.
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FAIR VALUE OF OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Current and Long-term Debt

The fair value of the Company’s lonigrm debt, including current maturities, was estedabased on the quoted market prices for the
or similar issues adjusted for illiquidity basedarailable market evidence. If quoted market prigegse not available, the fair value was b
upon the net present value of the future cash fisimg the forward interest rate yield curve in effat respective yeands. At February
2014, the fair value of total debt was $11,547 carag to a carrying value of $10,780. At Februar@13, the fair value of total debt v
$9,339 compared to a carrying value of $8,476.

Cash and Temporary Cash Investments, Store Deposltsnsit, Receivables, Prepaid and Other CurrentefsssTrade Accounts Payal
Accrued Salaries and Wages and Other Current Liiddsl

The carrying amounts of these items approximated/éue.
Other Assets

The fair values of these investments were estimbadsgd on quoted market prices for those or sirmilagstments, or estimated cash flc
if appropriate. At February 1, 2014 and February2@]13, the carrying and fair value of lotegm investments for which fair value
determinable were $51 and $44, respectively.

9. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The following table represents the changes in A@Ctomponent for the year ended February 1, 2014:

Pension and
Cash Flow Available Postretirement
Hedging for sale Defined Benefit
Activities (1) Securities (1) Plans (1) Total (1)
Balance at February 2, 2013 $(14) $ 7 $(74€) $(75%)
OCI before reclassifications (2) 12 5 197 19C
Amounts reclassified out of AOCI 1 = 98 9¢
Net currer-period OCI (11 5 29t 28¢
Balance at February 1, 2014 $(29) $ 12 $(45]) $(469

(1) Allamounts are net of ta

(2)  Net of tax of $(8), $3 and $116 for cash flow hedgactivities, available for sale securities andsp@n and postretirement defir
benefit plans, respectivel

The following table represents the items reclasgiut of AOCI and the related tax effects forykar ended February 1, 2014:

February 1, 2014
Gains on cash flow hedging activities

Amortization of unrealized gains and lossegash flow hedging activities (1) $ 2
Tax expense _ @
Net of tax 1
Pension and postretirement defined benefit planste -
Amortization of amounts included in net péit pension expense (2) 15t
Tax expense _(57)
Net of tax 98

Total reclassifications, net of tax $ 99




(1) Reclassified from AOCI into interest expen

A-56




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED

(2) Reclassified from AOCI into merchandise costs apekrating, general and administrative expense. To@sponents are included in
computation of net periodic pension expense (sd¢e Mo to the Compar's Consolidated Financial Statements for additiciesils).

10. LEASESAND LEASE-FINANCED TRANSACTIONS

While the Company current strategy emphasizes ownership of staleestate, the Company operates primarily in ledaeitities. Leas
terms generally range from 10 to 20 years withay#ito renew for varying terms. Terms of certaasés include escalation clauses, perce
rent based on sales or payment of executory casts & property taxes, utilities or insurance amdhtenance. Rent expense for leases
escalation clauses or other lease concessionsewarged for on a straighitie basis beginning with the earlier of the leesmmencement dz
or the date the Company takes possession. Pomifoosrtain properties are subleased to others doings generally ranging from one to
years.

Rent expense (under operating leases) consists of:

2013 2012 2011

Minimum rentals $706 $727 $71E
Contingent payments 13 13 13
Tenant income (106 (112) (209)
Total rent expense $615 $628 $61¢

Minimum annual rentals and payments under captedds and leasmanced transactions for the five years subseqieef013 and in tt
aggregate are:

Lease-

Capital Operating Financed

Leases Leases Transactions
2014 $ 62 $ 832 $ 6
2015 57 77C 7
2016 53 70€ 7
2017 52 634 8
2018 43 563 8
Thereafter 34¢ 3,101 _ 83
61€ $6,60¢ $11¢

Less estimated executory costs included in calgiteles —

Net minimum lease payments under capital le 61€
Less amount representing interest 204
Present value of net minimum lease payments urajetat leases $412

Total future minimum rentals under noncancellablelsases at February 1, 2014, were $217.
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11. EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

Net earnings attributable to The Kroger Co. peiddasmmon share equals net earnings attributablééoKroger Co. less income alloce
to participating securities divided by the weightaadtrage number of common shares outstanding. &teings attributable to The Kroger ¢
per diluted common share equals net earnings atititihe to The Kroger Co. less income allocatedadigipating securities divided by 1
weighted average number of common shares outs@ndiiter giving effect to dilutive stock optionshd following table provides
reconciliation of net earnings attributable to Kreger Co. and shares used in calculating net egsnattributable to The Kroger Co. per b
common share to those used in calculating netegsrattributable to The Kroger Co. per diluted canrshare:

For the year ended For the year ended For the yeanded
February 1, 2014 February 2, 2013 January 28, 2012
Earnings Shares Per Earnings Shares Per Earnings Shares Per
(in millions, except (Numer- (Denomi- Share (Numer-  (Denomi- Share (Numer-  (Denomi- Share
per share amounts) ator) nator) Amount ator) nator) Amount ator) nator) Amount
Net earnings attributab
to The Kroger Co.
per basic
common share $1,507 514 $2.9¢ $1,48¢ 53¢ $2.7¢ $598 59C $1.01
Dilutive effect of
stock options _6 _4 _3
Net earnings attributab
to The Kroger Co.
per diluted
common share $1,507 52C $2.9( $1,48¢ 537 $2.77 $598 598 $1.01

The Company had undistributed and distributed egmito participating securities totaling $12, $i®#l &4 in 2013, 2012 and 20
respectively.

For the years ended February 1, 2014, Februar@13 and January 28, 2012, there were options oulistg for approximately 2.3 millio
12.2 million and 12.2 million common shares, resipety, which were excluded from the computationnaft earnings attributable to 1
Kroger Co. per diluted common share. These shages excluded because their inclusion would havedmaahnti-dilutive effect on EPS.

12. Srock OPTION PLANS

The Company grants options for common shares [Kstgtions”) to employees under various plans at an option ol to the fa
market value of the stock at the date of grant. Tbepany accounts for stock options under theviaine recognition provisions. Under t
method, the Company recognizes compensation exptseall share-based payments granted. The Companggnizes sharkase:
compensation expense, net of an estimated forfeate, over the requisite service period of thardwEquity awards may be made at or
four meetings of its Board of Directors occurriiggly after the Compang’release of quarterly earnings. The 2013 primeaptgvas made
conjunction with the June meeting of the CompaBgdard of Directors.

Stock options typically expire 10 years from théedaf grant. Stock options vest between one arel fizars from the date of grant.
February 1, 2014, approximately 11 million commbares were available for future option grants urtdlese plans.

In addition to the stock options described abokie, Gompany awards restricted stock to employeewelisas to noremployee director
under various plans. The restrictions on these dsvgenerally lapse between one and five years frandate of the awards. The Comg
records expense for restricted stock awards innaouat equal to the fair market value of the undegyshares on the grant date of the av
over the period the awards lapse. As of Februa®p14, approximately 5 million common shares were
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available under the 2005, 2008 and 2011 Long-Terceritive Plans (the “Plansfpr future restricted stock awards or shares isdoetthe
extent performance criteria are achieved. The Compeas the ability to convert shares availablestoick options under the Plans to sh
available for restricted stock awards. Under soirta® Plans, four shares available for option awara@h be converted into one share avai
for restricted stock awards.

All awards become immediately exercisable uporagexthanges of control of the Company.
Stock Options

Changes in options outstanding under the stockomtians are summarized below:

Shares Weighted-
subject average
to option exercise
(in millions) price
Outstanding, year-end 2010 35.¢ $21.4¢
Granted 3.9 $24.6¢
Exercised (5.9 $20.2¢
Canceled or Expired (2.9 $24.4:
Outstanding, year-end 2011 31.C $21.8(
Granted 4.1 $22.04
Exercised (6.7) $18.3¢
Canceled or Expired 1.9 $23.2¢
Outstanding, year-end 2012 26.5 $22.61
Granted 4.2 $37.6¢
Exercised (8.8) $22.2:
Canceled or Expired (0.2 $25.47
Outstanding, year-end 2013 217 $25.6¢
A summary of options outstanding and exercisableeatuary 1, 2014 follows:
Weighted-
average Weighted- Weighted-
Range of Exercise Number remaining average Options average
Prices outstanding contractual life exercise price exercisable exercise price
(in millions) (in years) (in millions)
$13.78 - $18.57 2.1 0.99 $16.62 2.1 $16.62
$18.58 - $20.97 3.€ 4.80 $20.09 2.8 $20.06
$20.98 - $23.37 5.2 7.28 $22.11 2.6 $22.21
$23.38 - $28.17 3.1 7.22 $24.82 1.€ $24.89
$28.18 - $32.97 3.€ 4.01 $28.51 2.3 $28.44
$32.98 - $40.99 ﬁ 9.44 $37.81 _— $37.76
$13.78 - $40.99 217 6.12 $25.66 12.7 $22.88

The weightedaverage remaining contractual life for options eisable at February 1, 2014, was approximatelyyé&rs. The intrins
value of options outstanding and exercisable atuzed 1, 2014 was $233 and $169, respectively.
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Restricted stock

Changes in restricted stock outstanding uttderestricted stock plans are summarized below:

Restricted
shares Weighted-average
outstanding grant-date
(in millions) fair value
Outstanding, year-end 2010 4.4 $22.3¢
Granted 2.t $24.6:
Lapsed (2.5 $21.9¢
Canceled or Expired (0.2 $23.8(
Outstanding, year-end 2011 4.2 $23.92
Granted 2.€ $22.2:
Lapsed (2.9 $24.3¢
Canceled or Expired (0.1) $23.2¢
Outstanding, year-end 2012 4.3 $22.67
Granted 3.2 $37.6¢
Lapsed (2.5 $22.97
Canceled or Expired (0.7) $27.31
Outstanding, year-end 2013 4.8 $32.31

The weightedaverage grant date fair value of stock options tghduring 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $8.98, $4.39%ar@D, respectivel
The fair value of each stock option grant was esttd on the date of grant using the Black-Schof®mpricing model, based on
assumptions shown in the table below. The Bl&ckeles model utilizes extensive judgment and firnestimates, including the te
employees are expected to retain their stock optiafore exercising them, the volatility of the Guany’s stock price over that expected te
the dividend yield over the term and the numbeawhrds expected to be forfeited before they vesindJalternative assumptions in
calculation of fair value would produce fair valuls stock option grants that could be differenarththose used to record stdukse:
compensation expense in the Consolidated Statemém@perations. The increase in the fair valuehaf stock options granted during 2(
compared to 2012, resulted primarily from an inseem the Company’s share price, an increase invdighted average riskee interest ra
and a decrease in the expected dividend yield. ddoeease in the fair value of the stock optionsigeh during 2012, compared to 2C
resulted primarily from a decrease in the Compaskiare price, a decrease in the weighted averskiéree interest rate and an increase ir
expected dividend yield.

The following table reflects the weighted-averagsumptions used for grants awarded to option heider

2013 2012 2011
Weighted average expected volatility 26.3%% 26.49% 26.31%
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 1.87% 0.97% 2.16%
Expected dividend yield 1.82% 2.4% 1.9(%
Expected term (based on historical results) 6.8 year: 6.9 year 6.9 year

The weighted-average rigkee interest rate was based on the yield of astmyanote as of the grant date, continuously comged, whicl
matures at a date that approximates the expeatedaiethe options. The dividend yield was basedonhistory and expectation of divide
payouts. Expected volatility was determined bagsohthistorical stock volatilities; however, impliedlatility was also considered. Expec
term was determined based upon a combination a@bridal exercise and cancellation experience ad aglestimates of expected ful
exercise and cancellation experience.
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Total stock compensation recognized in 2013, 2012011 was $107, $82 and $81, respectively. Stptlbn compensation recognize«
2013, 2012 and 2011 was $24, $22 and $22, respbctiRestricted shares compensation recognize@13,2012 and 2011 was $83, $60
$59, respectively.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised vid5, $44 and $24 in 2013, 2012 and 2011, resmdgtiThe total amount of ca
received in 2013 by the Company from the exercfseptions granted under shdvased payment arrangements was $196. As of Febiy
2014, there was $154 of total unrecognized compiemsaxpense remaining related to non-vested shased compensation arrangem
granted under the Company’s equity award planss €bst is expected to be recognized over a weigitedage period of approximately t
years. The total fair value of options that vested $20, $23 and $33 in 2013, 2012 and 2011, résphc

Shares issued as a result of stock option exeramgsbe newly issued shares or reissued treasamgshProceeds received from
exercise of options, and the related tax benefity e utilized to repurchase the Compangdmmon shares under a stock repurchase pr
adopted by the ComparsyBoard of Directors. During 2013, the Company repased approximately eight million common sharesuch
manner.

13. CoMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company continuously evaluates contingencieedapon the best available evidence.

The Company believes that allowances for loss Hmen provided to the extent necessary and thatsgsessment of contingencie
reasonable. To the extent that resolution of cgetities results in amounts that vary from the Caomgaestimates, future earnings will
charged or credited.

The principal contingencies are described below:

Insurance— The Company’s workers’ compensation risks aré&isslired in most states. In addition, other woskeompensation risl
and certain levels of insured general liabilitjksisare based on retrospective premium plans, déteigians, and seifisured retention plar
The liability for workers’compensation risks is accounted for on a presdoeuaasis. Actual claim settlements and expenssddnt theret
may differ from the provisions for loss. Properigks have been underwritten by a subsidiary andalresinsured with unrelated insura
companies. Operating divisions and subsidiaries hmid premiums, and the insurance subsidiary hagded loss allowances, based u
actuarially determined estimates.

Litigation — Various claims and lawsuits arising in the normalirse of business, including suits charging violadi of certain antitrus
wage and hour, or civil rights laws, are pendingiast the Company. Some of these suits purportiee been determined to be class ac
and/or seek substantial damages. Any damages thabenawarded in antitrust cases will be automiatit@bled. Although it is not possible
this time to evaluate the merits of all of thesarok and lawsuits, nor their likelihood of succébe, Company is of the belief that any resu
liability will not have a material adverse effect the Company’s financial position, results of @tiems, or cash flows.

The Company continually evaluates its exposur@ds tontingencies arising from pending or threatditigation and believes it has m:
provisions where the loss contingency can be reddprestimated and an adverse outcome is probkbieetheless, assessing and predi
the outcomes of these matters involves substantiabrtainties. Management currently believes that dggregate range of loss for
Company’s exposure is not material to the Comptmgmains possible that despite managenseritrent belief, material differences in ac
outcomes or changes in management’s evaluatioredigbions could arise that could have a matedsksse effect on the Companyfinancia
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Assignments— The Company is contingently liable for leases timate been assigned to various third parties in ection with facility
closings and dispositions. The Company could baired to satisfy the obligations under the leagasy of the assignees is unable to fulfil
lease obligations. Due to the wide distributionttod Companys assignments among third parties, and various omeedies available, t
Company believes the likelihood that it will be vggd to assume a material amount of these obtigatis remote.
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14. Sock
Preferred Shares

The Company has authorized five million shares afng cumulative preferred shares; two million &sawere available for issuanct
February 1, 2014. The shares have a par valueGff ér share and are issuable in series.

Common Shares

The Company has authorized one billion common shab& par value per share. On May 20, 1999, theekbllers authorized
amendment to the Amended Articles of Incorporatmincrease the number of authorized common stisvesone billion to two billion whe
the Board of Directors determines it to be in thethnterest of the Company.

Common Stock Repurchase Program

The Company maintains stock repurchase prograntsctiraply with Securities Exchange Act Rule 10b%e allow for the order
repurchase of The Kroger Co. common shares, frora to time. The Company made open market purchatdmg $338, $1,165 and $1,4
under these repurchase programs in 2013, 2012 ahdl, 2espectively. In addition to these repurchassrams, in December 1999,
Company began a program to repurchase common stwareduce dilution resulting from its employeec&t@ption plans. This program
solely funded by proceeds from stock option execasnd the related tax benefit. The Company repsethapproximately $271, $96 and $
under the stock option program during 2013, 20122011, respectively.

15. CoMPANY -SPONSORED BENEFIT PLANS

The Company administers non-contributory definedieffieé retirement plans for some non-union employaesl unionrepresente
employees as determined by the terms and conditbusllective bargaining agreements. These inclseleeral qualified pension plans (
“Qualified Plans”) and non-qualified plans (the ‘INQualified Plans”). The Noualified Plans pay benefits to any employee tlaah® ir
excess of the maximum allowed for the QualifiednBldy Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code. Gtvapany only funds obligatio
under the Qualified Plans. Funding for the pengilams is based on a review of the specific requér@sand on evaluation of the assets
liabilities of each plan.

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Camyp provides certain health care benefits for edtiemployees. The majority of
Companys employees may become eligible for these berétitey reach normal retirement age while emploggdhe Company. Funding
retiree health care benefits occurs as claimsemnjums are paid.

The Company recognizes the funded status of it®eneént plans on the Consolidated Balance Sheetiafial gains or losses, prior sen
costs or credits and transition obligations thatehaot yet been recognized as part of net peribdiefit cost are required to be recorded
component of AOCI. All plans are measured as ofGbmpany'’s fiscal year end.

Amounts recognized in AOCI as of February 1, 20dd Bebruary 2, 2013 consist of the following (pa)t

Pension Benefits Other Benefits Total

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Net actuarial loss (gair $857 $1,201 $(111) $(15 $74€  $1,18¢
Prior service cost (credit) 2 3 (35) (8) (39) (5)
Total $85¢  $1,20¢ $(14€) $(23) 71 $1,181
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Amounts in AOCI expected to be recognized as coraptanof net periodic pension or postretirement fieoests in the next fiscal year i
as follows (pre-tax):

Pension Other
Benefits Benefits Total
2014 2014 2014
Prior service cost (credit) 1 (7) (6)

Other changes recognized in other comprehensiveriadn 2013, 2012 and 2011 were as follows (prg-tax

Pension Benefits Other Benefits Total

2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

Amortization of prior service
credit (cost) —_ — D 4 4 5 4 4 4

Other — — — G = = 30 — —
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Information with respect to change in benefit olitign, change in plan assets, the funded stattisegblans recorded in the Consolid:
Balance Sheets, net amounts recognized at the fefigtal years, weighted average assumptions antpooents of net periodic benefit ¢
follow:

Pension Benefits

Qualified Plans Non-Qualified Plans Other Benefits
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of fiscal year $3,44:  $3,34¢  $221 $217 $40z $ 37¢
Service cost 4C 44 3 3 17 16
Interest cost 144 14€ 9 9 15 16
Plan participants’ contributions — — — — 1C 9
Actuarial (gain) loss (308) 33 (20 3 (97 6
Benefits paid (13€) (1313) (10 (12) (25) (23
Other — 3 — — (30 —
Assumption of Harris Teeter benefit obligati 32¢€ — 60 — 2 —

Benefit obligation at end of fiscal year $3,50¢  $3,44: $26: $221 $294 $40z

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of
fiscal year $2,74¢ $252¢ $ — $ — $ — $ —
Actual return on plan assets 13¢ 27¢ — — — —
Employer contributions 10C 71 10 11 15 14
Plan participants’ contributions — — — — 1C 9
Benefits paid (136) (131 (10 171) (25) (23
Other — 5 — — — —
Assumption of Harris Teeter plan assets 28¢ — — — — —

Fair value of plan assets at end of fiscal year $3,13t $2,74¢ $ — $ — $ — $ —

Funded status at end of fiscal year $(374) $(697) $(26°) H(221) $(294) (402

Net liability recognized at end of fiscal ye $ (374 $(697) $(2639 $(221) (2949 $(402)

As of February 1, 2014 and February 2, 2013, otherent liabilities include $30 and $29, respediivef net liability recognized for tt
above benefit plans.

The pension plan assets acquired and ligsildassumed in the Harris Teeter merger did netafhe Companyg net periodic benefit cost
2013 due to the merger occurring close to year end.

As of February 1, 2014 and February 2, 2@&Bsion plan assets do not include common sharélseoKroger Co.

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

Weighted average assumptions 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Discount rate — Benefit obligation 49% 4.2% 4.55% 468 4.11% 4.4(%
Discount rate — Net periodic benefit cost 429% 45%% 5.6(% 411% 4.4% 5.4%
Expected return on plan assets 8.5(% 85(% 8.5(%
Rate of compensation increase —

Net periodic benefit cost 271% 2.8% 2.8t%
Rate of compensation increase —

Benefit Obligation 286% 2.71% 2.82%
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The Company discount rate assumptions were intended to teffiecrates at which the pension benefits couldffectively settled. The
take into account the timing and amount of benefitg would be available under the plans. The Camygapolicy for selecting the discol
rates as of year-end 2013 and 2012 changed fromdliey as of year-end 2011. In 2013 and 2012,Gbenpanys policy was to match t
plan’s cash flows to that of a hypothetical bondtfatio whose cash flow from coupons and maturitiestch the plars projected benefit ca
flows. The discount rates are the single ratespghaduce the same present value of cash flows séleetion of the 4.99% and 4.68% disct
rates as of yeagnd 2013 for pension and other benefits, respdgtivepresents the hypothetical bond portfolio gsbonds with an AA ¢
better rating constructed with the assistance adweide consultant. In 2011, the Company’s poli@s to match the plas’cash flows to th
of a yield curve that provides the equivalent ysetth zerceoupon corporate bonds for each maturity. Benahdlows due in a particular y:
can theoretically be “settled” by “investing” thémthe zeroeoupon bond that matures in the same year. Thewlscates are the single re
that produce the same present value of cash flétws.selection of the 4.55% and 4.40% discount rasesf yearend 2011 for pension a
other benefits, respectively, represents the etpnvasingle rates constructed under a browaket AA yield curve constructed with -
assistance of an outside consultant. A 100 bagig prease in the discount rate would decreasetbjected pension benefit obligation a
February 1, 2014, by approximately $395.

To determine the expected rate of return on penplan assets held by the Company for 2013, the @osngonsidered current ¢
forecasted plan asset allocations as well as fgalaand forecasted rates of return on varioustasdegories. Due to the Harris Teeter me
occurring close to year end, the expected ratetafm on pension plan assets acquired in the Haeeser merger did not affect our net peri
benefit costs in 2013. For 2013, 2012 and 2011 CGbmpany assumed a pension plan investment redienof 8.5%. The Company pens
plan’s average rate of return was 8.1% for the 10 caleyelars ended December 31, 2013, net of all imerst management fees and expel
The value of all investments in the Compamgonsored defined benefit pension plans, exclugiemsion plan assets acquired in the H
Teeter merger, during the calendar year ending mbee 31, 2013 increased 8.0%, net of investmentagmment fees and expenses. Fo
past 20 years, the Compasyverage annual rate of return has been 9.2%dRasthe above information and forward looking asgtions fo
investments made in a manner consistent with thepg@moy’s target allocations, the Company believes an 8#&# of return assumption w
reasonable for 2013, 2012 and 2011.

The Company calculates its expected return on gdaets by using the market-related value of plaetasThe markeaelated value of ple
assets is determined by adjusting the actual fdirevof plan assets for gains or losses on plagtsasSains or losses represent the differ
between actual and expected returns on plan inegg#nfor each plan year. Gains or losses on plsgtsare recognized evenly over a five
period. Using a different method to calculate trerkat-related value of plan assets would providdfarent expected return on plan assets.

The funded status increased in 2013, compared 12,2@ue primarily to the increase in the discowaterreturn on plan assets
contributions to the plan, offset slightly by thedate in the mortality assumption.
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The Company uses the RP-2000 projected 2@fality table in calculating the pension obligatio

Pension Benefits

Qualified Plans Non-Qualified Plan Other Benefits

2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Service cost $ 40 $ 44 $ 41 $3 $3 $3 $17 $16  $13
Interest cost 144 14€ 15¢ 9 9 1C 15 16 17
Expected return on plan assets (2249) (210 (207) — — — — — —

Amortization of:

Prior service cost (credit) — — — — — 1 4 (4 (5)
Actuarial (gain) loss 93 88 57 9 9 AT ﬁ)
Net periodic benefit cot $ 53 § 68 § 49 $21 $21 $21  $28  $28  $23

The following table provides the projectedhéiit obligation (“PBO”), accumulated benefit oldiipn (“ABO”) and the fair value of pl:
assets for all Company-sponsored pension plans.

Qualified Plans Non-Qualified Plan
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2013 2012 2013 2012
PBO at end of fiscal year $3,50¢ $3,44:  $26% $221
ABO at end of fiscal year $3,36( $3,27¢  $25€ $211
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $3,13t  $2,746€ $ — $ —
The following table provides information about Bempany’s estimated future benefit payments.
Pension Other
Benefits Benefits
2014 $ 201 $ 16
2015 $ 204 $ 18
2016 $ 208 $ 19
2017 $ 211 $ 21
2018 $ 221 $ 23
2019 - 2023 $1,23: $13E
The following table provides information about tieighted average target and actual pension plat akkscations.
Target Actual
allocations Allocations
2013 2013 2012
Pension plan asset allocation
Global equity securities 14.€% 15.(% 19.2%
Emerging market equity securities 5.€ 6.2 8.¢
Investment grade debt securities 11.€ 10.4 8.1
High yield debt securities 127 12.5 17.5
Private equity 9.1 7.7 6.C
Hedge funds 32.¢ 34.2 27.2
Real estate 3.3 3.2 3.2
Other 10.2 10.7 10.C
Total 100.(%  100.(%  100.(%
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Investment objectives, policies and strategie set by the Pension Investment Committees' @bimmittees”)appointed by the CEO. T
primary objectives include holding and investing thssets and distributing benefits to participams beneficiaries of the pension pl:
Investment objectives have been established based ammprehensive review of the capital markets eawh underlying plar’current an
projected financial requirements. The time horinbithe investment objectives is long-term in natanel plan assets are managed on a goir
concern basis.

Investment objectives and guidelines specificapiplicable to each manager of assets are establshe@deviewed annually. Derivat
instruments may be used for specified purposebjding rebalancing exposures to certain assetetagmy use of derivative instruments fi
purpose or in a manner not specifically authorisagorohibited, unless approved in advance by the@ittees.

The current target allocations shown representnabatation of the 2013 targets established by the@my in 2012 and allocation tarc
on assets acquired as part of the merger with $ldmeieter. The Company will rebalance by liquidatasgets whose allocation materi
exceeds target, if possible, and investing in assbbse allocation is materially below target. Hnets are illiquid, the Company may no
able to rebalance to target quickly. To maintaitualcasset allocations consistent with target alions, assets are reallocated or rebale
periodically. In addition, cash flow from employesntributions and participant benefit payments lbarused to fund underweight asset cle
and divest overweight asset classes, as appropfiageCompany expects that cash flow will be sidficto meet most rebalancing needs.

The Company is not required and does notaxjpemake any contributions to the Compampnsored defined benefit pension plar
2014. If the Company does make any contributior20ib4, the Company expects these contributionsdeirease its required contribution
future years. Among other things, investment penforce of plan assets, the interest rates requiebetused to calculate the pen:
obligations, and future changes in legislation,| wigtermine the amounts of any contributions. Them@any expects 2014 expense
Companysponsored defined benefit pension plans to be appately $40. In addition, the Company expects kPRetirement Savin
Account Plan cash contributions and expense froimnaatic and matching contributions to participantsncrease approximately $30 in 2!
compared to 2013 primarily due to the Harris Testerger.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifeffect on the amounts reported for the healtk plans. The Company used a 7.
initial health care cost trend rate and a 4.50%nalte health care cost trend rate to determinexjgense. A one-percentageint change in tf
assumed health care cost trend rates would havieltbeing effects:

1% Point 1% Point

Increase Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost congmis $ 5 % @
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $ 31 $ (20
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The following table sets forth by level, wiitthe fair value hierarchy, the Planassets at fair value as of February 1, 2014 abdulry 2
2013:

ASSETSAT FAIR VALUE AS OF FEBRUARY 1, 2014

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
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U.S. Government Securities — 6C — 6

Partnerships/Joint Ventures — 317 — 317

Private Equity — — 243 243

Other — 13¢ — 13¢

ASSETSAT FAIR VALUE AS OF FEBRUARY 2, 2013

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
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Other — 13¢
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For measurements using significant unobservablaténfLevel 3) during 2013 and 2012, a reconciliatad the beginning and endi
balances is as follows:

Hedge Funds Private Equity Real Estate Collective Trusts

Ending balance, January 28, 2012 $ 57¢ $15¢ $81 $—
Contributions into Fund 17t 49 23 —
Realized gains 11 15 3 —
Unrealized gains 55 — 2 —
Distributions (82) (49 (22 —
Other _ __ 6 4 —
Ending balance, February 2, 2013 73¢ 18C 91 —
Contributions into Fund 297 74 22 —
Realized gains 7 12 11 —
Unrealized gains 71 17 — —
Distributions (88) 47 (27) —
Other — 7 (0] —
Assumption of Harris Teeter plan assets 4 | = 3¢
Ending balance, February 1, 2014 $1,07¢ $24: $ 96 $3¢

See Note 8 for a discussion of the levels of tlieviaue hierarchy. The assefsir value measurement level above is based otothes
level of any input that is significant to the faalue measurement.

The following is a description of the valuation meds used for the plan’s assets measured at faie i@the above tables:

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying value appates fair value.

Corporate Stocks: The fair values of these seegrdire based on observable market quotatioriddatical assets and are valued a
closing price reported on the active market on Wwhie individual securities are traded.

Corporate Bonds: The fair values of these secarére primarily based on observable market quatsfar similar bonds, valued at t
closing price reported on the active market on Whie individualsecurities are traded. When such quoted pricea@ravailable, th
bonds are valued using a discountagh flow approach using current yields on simiatruments of issuers with similar credit ratit
including adjustments for certain risks that may b observable, such as credit and liquidity risks

U.S. Government Securities: Certain U.S. Governreeatrrities are valued at the closing price repartehe active market in which t
security is traded. Other U.S. government secsritiee valued basezh yields currently available on comparable seiasibf issuel
with similar credit ratings. Whequoted prices are not available for similar se@sijtthe security is valued under a discounted fiast
approach that maximizes observable inputs, suaduent yields of similar instruments, but includejustments for certain risks t
may not be observable, such as credit and liquiths.

Mutual Funds/Collective Trusts: The mutual fund8émtive trust funds are public investment vehickatued using a Net Asset Va
(NAV) provided by the manager of each fund. The Ni&\based on thenderlying net assets owned by the fund, dividethieynumbe
of shares outstanding. The NAV’s upitice is quoted on a private market that is navacHowever, the NAV is based on the fair vi
of the underlying securities within the fund, whiafe traded on an active market, and valued atltdgingprice reported on the acti
market on which those individual securities ardé

Partnerships/Joint Ventures: These funds consistapily of U.S. government securities, Corpor&ends, Corporate Stocks, ¢
derivatives, which are valued in a manner consistéth these types of investments, noted above.
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e Hedge Funds: Hedge funds are private investmentheshvalued using a Net Asset Value (NAV) providgdthe manager of ea
fund. The NAV is based on the underlying net assetsed by the fund, divided by the number of shargstanding. The NA\S uni
price is quoted on a private market that is adive. The NAV is based on the fair value of tmglerlying securities within the fun
which may be traded on an active market, and vahtethe closing price reported on the active madketwhich thosendividual
securities are traded. For investments not trageedrnoactive market, or for which a quotadce is not publicly available, a variety
unobservable valuation methodologies, includingalimtedcash flow, market multiple and cost valuation apptees, are employed
the fund manager to value investments. Fair vatiied! investments are adjusted annually, if neagssbased on audits of theedge
Fund financial statements; such adjustments alectefl in the fair value of the plan’s assets.

e Private Equity: Private Equity investments are edltbased on the fair value of the underlying séesnvithin the fund, which incluc
investments both traded on an active market andraded on an activemarket. For those investments that are traded oactwe
market, the values are based on the cloginge reported on the active market on which thioskvidual securities are traded. |
investments not traded on an active market, omfloich a quoted price is not publicly available, aigty of unobservablealuatior
methodologies, including discounted cash flow, meairkultiple and cost valuation approaches employed by the fund manage
value investments. Fair values of all investmengsaaljustecannually, if necessary, based on audits of theaggiequity fund financi
statements; such adjustments are reflected irathgdlue of the plan’s assets.

e Real Estate: Real estate investments include imesgs in real estate funds managed by a fund mariBgese investments are vali
using a variety of unobservable valuation methogiel®, includingdiscounted cash flow, market multiple and cost atiin approache

The methods described above may produce a faievaiculation that may not be indicative of netiradle value or reflective of futu
fair values. Furthermore, while the plan beliewssvaluation methods are appropriate and consistiéthtother market participants, the us
different methodologies or assumptions to deternthree fair value of certain financial instrumentsuleb result in a different fair val
measurement.

The Company contributed and expensed $148, $140548d to employee 401(k) retirement savings aceim®2013, 2012 and 20:
respectively. The 401(k) retirement savings accoplain provides to eligible employees both matchomntributions and automa
contributions from the Company based on particigantributions, compensation as defined by the,@ad length of service.

The Company also administers other defined cortighiplans for eligible employees. The cost of thpkans was $5, $7 and $6 for 2(
2012 and 2011, respectively.

16. MuLTI -EMPLOYER PENSION PLANS

The Company contributes to various mualtiployer pension plans based on obligations arifimg collective bargaining agreeme
These plans provide retirement benefits to paditip based on their service to contributing empkyehe benefits are paid from assets he
trust for that purpose. Trustees are appointedjuralenumber by employers and unions. The trustgasally are responsible for determin
the level of benefits to be provided to particigaas well as for such matters as the investmethteofissets and the administration of the plans

In the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company entdred a memorandum of understanding (“MOURjth 14 locals of the UFCW th
participated in four multemployer pension funds. The MOU established a poteat amended each of the collective bargaingmgement
between the Company and the UFCW locals under wtiiehCompany made contributions to these fundscamdolidated the four multi-
employer pension funds into one multi-employer pEméund.
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Under the terms of the MOU, the locals of the UF@yYveed to a future pension benefit formula thro2@®1. The Company was designi
as the named fiduciary of the new consolidated ipanslan with sole investment authority over theas. If investment results fail to m
expectations, the Company could be responsibléhishortfall. The Company committed to contribstéficient funds to cover the actua
cost of current accruals and to fund the pre-catatbn Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (“UAALD that existed as of December
2011, in a series of installments on or before Ma&t, 2018. At January 1, 2012, the UAAL was estéddo be $911 (pr&ax). In accordanc
with GAAP, the Company expensed $911 in 2011 rdlébethe UAAL. The expense was based on a prelimieatimate of the contracti
commitment. In 2012, the Company finalized the UAédntractual commitment and recorded an adjustiettreduced the 2011 estime
commitment by $53 (pre-tax). The final UAAL contraal commitment, at January 1, 2012, was $858 tgoce-In the fourth quarter of 20:
the Company contributed $650 to the consolidatedtitemployer pension plan of which $600 was allocaedhe UAAL and $50 wiz
allocated to service and interest costs and expens2011. In the fourth quarter of 2012, the Compaontributed $258 to the consolide
multi-employer pension plan to fully fund the Compas UAAL contractual commitment. Future contributiom#l be dependent, among ot
things, on the investment performance of assettserplan. The funding commitments under the MOUaep the prior commitments under
four existing funds to pay an agreed upon amounhper worked by eligible employees.

The Company recognizes expense in connection watmulti-employer pension plans as contributions are fundedt the case of tl
UFCW consolidated pension plan, when commitmergsrade. The Company made contributions to thes#sfah$228 in 2013, $492 in 2C
and $946 in 2011. The cash contributions for 2032 2011 include the Comparsy$258 and $650 contributions described abovegeotisgly
to the UFCW consolidated pension plan in the foqrthrter of each year.

The risks of participating in multi-employer pensiglans are different from the risks of participgtin singleemployer pension plans in 1
following respects:

a. Assets contributed to the mud#timployer plan by one employer may be used to peobighefits to employees of other participe
employers

b. If a participating employer stops contributing e tplan, the unfunded obligations of the plan albde to such withdrawing emplo
may be borne by the remaining participating empigy

c. If the Company stops participating in some of itgltmemployer pension plans, the Company may be requirgdy those plans
amount based on its allocable share of the undaefistatus of the plan, referred to as a withdréiaaility.

The Companys participation in these plans is outlined in tldofving tables. The EIN / Pension Plan Number ootuprovides th
Employer Identification Number (“EIN”) and the tlerdigit pension plan number. The most recent PerBiotection Act Zone Status availa
in 2013 and 2012 is for the plan’s yeard at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 20eatégely. Among other factors, generally, plar
the red zone are less than 65 percent funded, piahe yellow zone are less than 80 percent fursdetiplans in the green zone are at lea
percent funded. The FIP/RP Status Pending / ImpiedeColumn indicates plans for which a funding rioyement plan (“FIP™)or &
rehabilitation plan (“RP”)s either pending or has been implemented. Unldsswise noted, the information for these tables wiatained frot
the Forms 5500 filed for each plan’s year-end atdbgber 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011. The muiptoyer contributions listed in t
table below are the Company’s multi-employer cdmitions made in fiscal years 2013, 2012 and 2011.
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The following table contains information abtlwe Company’s multi-employer pension plans:

Pension FIP/RP
Protection Status Multi-Employer
EIN / Pension Act Zone Status Pending/ Contributions Surcharge
Pension Fund Plan Number 2013 2012 Implemented 2013 2012 2011 Imposed (7.

SO CA UFCW Unions & Food

Employers Joint Pension

Trust Fund (1) (2) 95-1939092 001 Red Red Implemente $45 $43 $ 4C No
BD of Trustees of UNTD Food

and Commercial (1) (5) 58-610160201 N/A Red N/A — — 59 No
Desert States Employers & UFCW

Unions Pension Plan (1) 84-6277982 901 Greer Greer No 23 22 20 No
UFCW Unions and Food

Employers Pension Plan of

Central Ohio (1) (5) 31-608916801 N/A Greet N/A — — 23 No
Sound Retirement Trust

(formerly Retail Clerks

Pension Plan) (1) (3) 91-6069306 -001 Red Red Implemente 13 12 10 No
Rocky Mountain UFCW Unions

and Employers Pension

Plan (1) 84-6045986001 Greer  Greet No 17 17 16 No
Indiana UFCW Unions and

Retail Food Employers

Pension Plan (1) (5) 35-6244695 001 N/A Red N/A — — 5 No
Oregon Retail Employees

Pension Plan (1) 93-607437301 Red Red Implemente 7 7 6 No
Bakery and Confectionary Union

& Industry International

Pension Fund (1) 52-6118572 001 Red Red Implemente 12 10 9 No
Washington Meat Industry

Pension Trust (1) (4) 91-613414001 Red Red Implemente 3 3 2 No
Retail Food Employers & UFCW

Local 711 Pension (1) 51-6031512 001 Red Red Implemente 8 8 7 No
Denver Area Meat Cutters and

Employers Pension Plan (1) 84-60974601 Greer Greet No 8 8 8 No
United Food & Commercial

Workers Intl Union — Industry

Pension Fund (1) (4) 51-6055922 001 Greer Greet No 33 33 33 No
Northwest Ohio UFCW Unio

and Employers Joint

Pension Fund (1) (5) 34-09471814 N/A Greet N/A — — 2 No
Western Conference of

Teamsters Pension Plan 91-6145047 001 Greet Greet No 31 30 31 No
Central States, Southeast &

Southwest Areas

Pension Plan 36-604424801 Red Red Implemente 15 12 14 No
UFCW Consolidated

Pension Plan (1) (6) 58-6101602 001 Greel N/A No — 27t 65C No
Other 13 12 11
Total Contributions $22¢  $49z  $94¢€



(1) The Company’'s multemployer contributions to these respective fungsagent more than 5% of the total contribution®inexd by th
pension funds
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(2) The information for this fund was obtained from f@m 5500 filed for the plan’s year-end at Mardh 3013 and March 31, 2012.

(3) The information for this fund was obtained from #@m 5500 filed for the plan’s yeand at September 30, 2012 and Septemb

2011.

(4) The information for this fund was obtained from fmrm 5500 filed for the pl¢ s yea-end at June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2

(5) As of December 31, 2011, these four pension fundsewonsolidated into the UFCW consolidated pengilam. See the abo
information regarding this mu-employer pension fund consolidatic

(6) The UFCW consolidated pension plan was formed onay 1, 2012, as the result of the consolidatibfoor existing multiemploye
pension plans. See the above information regartiisgnult-employer pension fund consolidatic

(7) Under the Pension Protection Act, a surcharge nmeayniposed when employers make contributions undeoligctive bargainin
agreement that is not in compliance with a rehtlitin plan. As of February 1, 2014, the collecthagaining agreements under wi
the Company was making contributions were in coamglé with rehabilitation plans adopted by the ajajblie pension func

The following table describes (a) the exjpiratdate of the Company’collective bargaining agreements and (b) theratipn date of th
Company’s most significant collective bargainingesgnents for each of the material multi-employadfuin which the Company participates.

Expiration Date

Most Significant Collective

of Collective Bargaining Agreements (1)
Bargaining (not in millions)
Pension Fund Agreement Count Expiration
SO CA UFCW Unions & Food Employers Joint March 2014 (2) t March 2014 (2) to
Pension Trust Fund June 2014 2 June 2014
July 2013 (2) to October 2013 (2)
UFCW Consolidated Pension Plan (3) June 2017 8 June 2017
June 2014 to
Desert States Employers & UFCW Unions Pension Plan October 2014 1 October 2014
May 2016 to May 2016 to
Sound Retirement Trust (formerly Retail Clerks kem&lan) December 2016 2 August 2016
September 2015
Rocky Mountain UFCW Unions and Employers Pensi@nPI October 2015 1 September 2015
April 2013 (2) to August 2015 to
Oregon Retail Employees Pension Plan October 2016 3 June 2016
Bakery and Confectionary Union & Industry May 2011 (2) to May 2014 to
International Pension Fund September 201° 4 August 2016
January 2015 to
Washington Meat Industry Pension Trust July 2016 1 May 2016
April 2013 (2) to
Retail Food Employers & UFCW Local 711 Pension March 2015 2 March 2015
September 2015
Denver Area Meat Cutters and Employers Pension Plan October 2015 1 September 2015
United Food & Commercial Workers Intl Union — Intiys July 2013 (2) to April 2015 to
Pension Fund June 2017 2 March 2017
April 2014 to July 2014 to
Western Conference of Teamsters Pension Plan April 2018 5 September 2015
Central States, Southeast & Southwest Areas PeRsson September 201- 2 September 2014
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(1) This column represents the number of significaliective bargaining agreements and their expiratiate for each of the Company’
pension funds listed above. For purposes of thiketdhe “significant collective bargaining agreens are the largest based on cove
employees that, when aggregated, cover the majofitthe employees for which we make mutiployer contributions for tl
referenced pension fun

(2) Certain collective bargaining agreements for eddhese pension funds are operating under an agter

(3) As of January 1, 2012, four muktimployer pension funds were consolidated into tRE€W consolidated pension plan. See the a
information regarding this mu-employer pension fund consolidatic

Based on the most recent information availabld,tthe Company believes that the present valuefagial accrued liabilities in most
these multiemployer plans substantially exceeds the valudefassets held in trust to pay benefits. Moreafehe Company were to e:
certain markets or otherwise cease making contabsitto these funds, the Company could trigger lestsuntial withdrawal liability. An
adjustment for withdrawal liability will be recordevhen it is probable that a liability exists armhde reasonably estimated.

The Company also contributes to various other rauftployer benefit plans that provide health and aveltbenefits to active and reti
participants. Total contributions made by the Conypt these other mulémployer benefit plans were approximately $1,102003, $1,10
in 2012 and $1,000 in 2011.

17. RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting StandaBdard (“FASB”)amended its standards on comprehensive income duyrireg
disclosure of information about amounts reclasdifiat of accumulated other comprehensive incom®CR) by component. Specifically, t
amendment requires disclosure of the effect ofisa@mt reclassifications out of AOCI on the respee line items in net income in which 1
item was reclassified if the amount being reclésgifs required to be reclassified to net incomésrentirety in the same reporting perioc
requires cross reference to other disclosurespituatide additional detail for amounts that are memjuired to be reclassified in their entiret
the same reporting period. This new disclosure inec&ffective for the Company beginning February2813, and is being adop
prospectively in accordance with the standard. Bete 9 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial edtants for the Compars/nev
disclosures related to this amended standard.

In December 2011, the FASB amended its standatatedeto offsetting assets and liabilities. Thisemament requires entities to discl
both gross and net information about certain imsgnts and transactions eligible for offset in tteesnent of financial position and cer
instruments and transactions subject to an agreesimailar to a master netting agreement. This imf@tion is intended to enable users of
financial statements to understand the effect egharrangements on the Comparfyiiancial position. The new rules became effector the
Company on February 3, 2013. In January 2013, &eB-further amended this standard to limit its scépderivatives, repurchase and rev
repurchase agreements, securities borrowings awdlihig transactions. See Note 7 to the Compa@gnsolidated Financial Statements fol
Company'’s new disclosures related to this amentiewlard.

18. RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In July 2013, the FASB amended Accounting Stand@uafdification (*“ASC”) 740, “Income TaxesThe amendment provides guidance
the financial statement presentation of an unreizegntax benefit, as either a reduction of a defétiax asset or as a liability, when a
operating loss carryforward, similar tax loss, daa credit carryforward exists. The amendment bdleffective for interim and annual peri
beginning after December 15, 2013 and may be appliea retrospective basis. Early adoption is peechi The Company does not expect
adoption of this amendment to have a significafgatfon the Company’s consolidated financial positr results of operations.
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19. QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

The two tables that follow reflect the unaadiresults of operations for 2013 and 2012.

Quarter
First Second Third Fourth Total Year

2013 (16 Weeks, (12 Weeks, (12 Weeks, (12 Weeks, (52 Weeks,
Sales $29,99° $22,68¢ $22,47( $23,22: $98,37¢
Merchandise costs, including advertising, warehousg,

and transportation,

excluding items shown separately below 23,81" 18,05¢ 17,86¢ 18,397 78,13¢
Operating, general, and administrative 4,59 3,50¢ 3,531 3,55¢ 15,19¢
Rent 18¢ 13¢ 13¢ 147 61
Depreciation and amortization 51¢ 387 39t 40z 1,70z

Operating profit 87¢ 59t 534 71¢ 2,72¢
Interest expense 12¢ 9¢ 10¢ 107 445

Earnings before income tax expense 75C 49¢ 42¢ 611 2,28
Income tax expense 26¢€ 17¢€ 12¢ 184 751
Net earnings including noncontrolling interests 484 32( 301 427 1,531
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling

interests 3 3 2 5 12
Net earnings attributable to The Kroger Co. $ 481 $ 317 $ 29¢ $ 422 $ 1,51¢
Net earnings attributable to The Kroger Co. per bag

common share $ 0.92 $ 0.61 $ 0.5¢ $ 0.82 $ 2.9
Average number of shares used in basic calculation 514 51¢ 51t 511 514
Net earnings attributable to The Kroger Co. per

diluted common share $ 0.92 $ 0.6C $ 0.57 $ 0.81 $ 2.9C
Average number of shares used in diluted

calculation 52C 521 521 517 52C
Dividends declared per common share $ 0.15( $ 0.15( $ 0.16¢ $ 0.16¢ $ 0.63(

Annual amounts may not sum due to rounding.

Certain revenue transactions previously reportedailes and merchandise costs in the Consolidat@n$¢nts of Operations are r
reported net within sales. Also, certain expenaadactions previously reported in operating, génaral administrative in the Consolida
Statements of Operations are now reported withirchandise costs. Prior quarter amounts have begseceor reclassified to conform to
current year presentation. These amounts were atarial to the prior periods.
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Quarter
First Second Third Fourth Total Year
2012 (16 Weeks, (12 Weeks, (12 Weeks, (13 Weeks, (53 Weeks,
Sales $29,02¢ $21,69' $21,77¢ $24,12( $96,61¢
Merchandise costs, including advertising,
warehousing, and transportation,
excluding items shown separately below 23,05¢ 17,24¢ 17,35: 19,06¢ 76,72¢
Operating, general, and administrative 4,46¢ 3,391 3,30¢ 3,68¢ 14,84¢
Rent 191 13¢ 141 157 62¢
Depreciation and amortization 501 38¢ 382 38¢ 1,652
Operating profit 814 53¢ 59¢ 81¢ 2,76¢
Interest expense 141 10€ 102 112 462
Earnings before income tax expense 673 42¢ 49: 707 2,30z
Income tax expense 232 14¢ 17¢ 23¢ 794
Net earnings including noncontrolling intere 441 281 31¢ 46¢ 1,50¢
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling intés 2 2 1 6 11
Net earnings attributable to The Kroger ¢ $ 43¢ $ 27¢ $ 317 $ 46z $ 1,49
Net earnings attributable to The Kroger |
per basic common share $ 0.7¢ $ 052 $ 0.61 $ 0.8¢ $ 2.7¢
Average number of shares used in basic calculation 55€ 53¢ 51¢ 514 53¢
Net earnings attributable to The Kroger |
per diluted common share $ 0.7¢ $ 051 $ 0.6C $ 0.8¢ $ 2.7
Average number of shares used in diluted calcuiatio 55¢ 541 522 51¢ 537
Dividends declared per common share $ 0.11¢ $ 0.11¢ $ 0.15( $ 0.15( $ 0.53(

Annual amounts may not sum due to rounding.

Certain revenue transactions previously reportedailes and merchandise costs in the Consolidatgns¢nts of Operations are r
reported net within sales. Prior quarter amounigeHzeen revised or reclassified to conform to theent year presentation. These amc
were not material to the prior periods.
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Kroger has a variety of plans under which employeag acquire common shares of Kroger. Employed&@der and its subsidiaries o
shares through a profit sharing plan, as well d@gld®lans and a payroll deduction plan calledKhheger Stock Exchange. If employees
guestions concerning their shares in the KrogeckSExchange, or if they wish to sell shares theyehaurchased through this plan, they sh
contact:

Computershare Plan Manag
P.O. Box 4302:

Providence, Rl 0294

Phone 80-872-3307

Questions regarding Kroger’'s 401(k) plans shouldlibected to the employee’s Human Resources Depattor 1-8002KROGER. Questior
concerning any of the other plans should be dicettighe employee’s Human Resources Department.

SHAREOWNERS: Wells Fargo Shareowner Services, &idiv of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., is Registrar andhfisfer Agent for Krogeg’
Common Shares. For questions concerning paymeativioiends, changes of address, etc., individualesivaners should contact:

Wells Fargo Shareowner Servic
P. O. Box 6485:

Saint Paul, MN 551¢-0854

Toll Free -855-854-1369

Shareholder questions and requests for forms dlaitan the Internet should be directed to: www.ebamneronline.com.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION: Call (513) 762-1220 to reqseprinted financial information, including Krogemost recent report on Form 10
Q or 10K, or press release. Written inquiries should bdressed to Shareholder Relations, The Kroger ©44 Vine Street, Cincinnati, Ot
45202-1100. Information also is available on Krégeorporate website at ir.kroger.com.
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THE KROGER CO.
1014 VINE STREET
CINCINNATI, OH 45202

TO VOTE, MARK BLOCKS BELOW IN BLUE OR BLACK INK ASFOLLOWS:

VOTE BY INTERNET - www.proxyvote.com

Use the Internet to transmit your voting instrusgoand for electronic delivery
information up until 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time the deefore the meeting date. Have y
proxy card in hand when you access the web sitda@luv the instructions to obtain yc
records and to create an electronic voting inswadorm.

ELECTRONIC DELIVERY OF FUTURE PROXY MATERIALS

If you would like to reduce the costs incurred by companyin mailing proxy material
you can consent to receiving all future proxy stegsts, proxy cards and annual ref
electronically via enail or the Internet. To sign up for electronicidety, please follow tF
instructions above to vote using the Internet avtten prompted, indicate that you agre
receive or access proxy materials electronicalfpiore years.

VOTE BY PHONE - 1-800-690-6903

Use any touchiene telephone to transmit your voting instructians until 11:59 P.M
Eastern Time the day before the meeting date. Maue proxy card in hand when you «
and then follow the instructions.

VOTE BY MAIL
Mark, sign and date your proxy card and returmithe postageaid envelope we ha
provided or return it to Vote Processing, c/o Bridgk, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood,
11717. If you vote your proxy by Internet or byejghone, you do NOT need to mail b
your proxy card

M7346(-P5258. KEEP THIS PORTION FOR YOUR RECORI

DETACH AND RETURN THIS PORTION ONL'

THIS PROXY CARD IS VALID ONLY WHEN SIGNED AND DATED .

THE KROGER CO.

1. Election of Director:
Nominees:

la. Reuben V. Anderso
1b. Robert D. Beye

1c. David B. Dillon

1d. Susan J. Krop

le. David B. Lewis

1f. W. Rodney McMuller
1g. Jorge P. Montoy
1h. Clyde R. Moore

1i. Susan M. Phillips
1j. Steven R. Roge

1k. James A. Rund

1l.  Ronald L. Sarger

1m. Bobby S. Shackoul

For

OO0O0oo0oo0O0oo0ooO0ooaoaoo

Signature [PLEASE SIGN WITHIN BOX] Date

The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR thisllowing:

Against

O

OO0O0O0ooOoOooaoaoao

O

Abstain

O

OO0OO0O0oOoo0ooOoaoaoaoo

O

Please sign exactly as your name(s) appear(s) mevéloen signing as attorney, executor, administratoother fiduciary, please give full title aschu Joint owners should e¢
sign personally. All holders must sign. If a comtawn or partnership, please sign in full corpo@teartnership name by authorized officer.

—

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOlI  For Against Abstain

proposals 2, 3, and 4.

2. Approval of 2014 Longrerm Incentive and Ca [] O O
Bonus Plan

3. Advisory vote to approve executive compensation. [ | O

4. Approval of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, as atglit [T | O

The Board of Directors recommends that you vot For Against Abstain

AGAINST proposals 5 and 6.

5. A shareholder proposal, if properly presented [] O O
publish a report on human rights risks of operatianc
supply chain

6. A shareholder proposal, if properly presentedssnieé [ O O

report regarding responsibility for
package recycling of private label bran

postnsume

NOTE: Holders of common shares of record at the clo
business on April 29, 2014, will be entitled to e/ait th
meeting.

Signature (Joint Owner Date




Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting:
The Combined Notice, Proxy Statement, and AnnualoReare available at www.proxyvote.com.

M73461P52582

THE KROGER CO.
Annual Meeting of Shareholders
June 26, 2014 11:00 AM Eastern Time
This proxy is solicited by the Board of Directors

The undersigned hereby appoints each of ROBERTEY.ERR, W. RODNEY McMULLEN, and RONALD L. SARGENT df more than
one is present and acting then a majority thegwiies, with full power of substitution and reviéoa, to vote the common shares of The
Kroger Co. that the undersigned is entitled to \attehe annual meeting of shareholders, and atagigurnment thereof, with all thd
powers the undersigned would possess if persopedisent, including authority to vote on the mattrswn on the reverse in the manner
directed, and upon any other matter that properdy mome before the meeting. The undersigned hemlmkes any proxy previously
given to vote those shares at the meeting or aadjpurnment.

The proxies are directed to vote as specified on ehreverse hereof and in their discretion on all otbr matters coming before the
meeting. Except as specified to the contrary on theeverse, the shares represented by this proxy wille voted FOR each nominee
listed in Proposal 1, FOR Proposals 2, 3, and 4, diAGAINST Proposals 5 and 6.

If you wish to vote in accordance with the recomdwdions of the Board of Directors, all you needltois sign and return this card. THe
Proxy Committee cannot vote the shares unless gtaiyour proxy by Internet or telephone, or sigd eeturn this card.

Only shareholders and persons holding proxies Bbareholders may attend the meetifigou are attending the meeting, please bring
the notice of the meeting that was separately maieto you or the top portion of your proxy card, either of which will serve as your
admission ticket.

YOUR MANAGEMENT DESIRES TO HAVE A LARGE NUMBER OF S HAREHOLDERS REPRESENTED AT THE
MEETING, IN PERSON OR BY PROXY. PLEASE VOTE YOUR PROXY ELECTRONICALLY VIA THE INTERNET OR BY
TELEPHONE. IF YOU HAVE ELECTED TO RECEIVE PRINTED M ATERIALS, YOU MAY SIGN AND DATE THE PROXY
AND MAIL IT IN THE SELF-ADDRESSED ENVELOPE PROVIDED . NO POSTAGE IS REQUIRED IF MAILED WITHIN
THE UNITED STATES. If you are unable to attend theannual meeting, you may listen to a live webcast tfie meeting, which will
be accessible through our website, ir.kroger.comtdl a.m., eastern time.

Continued and to be signed on reverse side




